Doctoral Thesis

Molecular Genetic Analysis of Antimicrobial Resistance in Foodborne Bacteria

Christian Xedzro

Graduate School of Integrated Sciences for Life

Hiroshima University

March 2024

Doctoral Thesis

Molecular Genetic Analysis of Antimicrobial Resistance in Foodborne Bacteria

Christian Xedzro

Program of Food and AgriLife Science

Graduate School of Integrated Sciences for Life

Hiroshima University

March 2024

STATEMENT OF ORIGINALITY AND DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this dissertation is the product of my own research work, except for references to publications where due acknowledgement has been appended in the text. I confirm that neither part of this work nor material in substantial content has been previously submitted towards the award of doctoral degree or related diploma in an academic institution or institute of higher education.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to thank the almighty God for granting me with good health, strength, and knowledge to successfully complete this work.

I would like to express my utmost gratitude to my academic supervisor, Prof. Tadashi SHIMAMOTO, who introduced me to research in the field of antimicrobial resistance. His words of encouragement, constructive criticism, direction, tolerance, patience, reminders, and intellectual support have shaped me throughout my PhD journey here in Japan. It was a great experience working with you Prof. I earnestly appreciate the selfless effort, intellectual support, and suggestions of my panel, Prof. Yoshihiro SAMBONGI, Prof. Koichiro KAWAI, and Prof. Tetsuya NAKAYAMA. I say a very big thank you for your sincere kindness.

I am thankful to Dr. Toshi SHIMAMOTO for her invaluable assistances. She has been very helpful with scientific discussions, guidance with laboratory protocols, and quick response to my needs in the lab. I had a great experience working with you Dr.

I would like to thank the Japanese Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology (MEXT) for fully funding my graduate education here in Japan.

A special thanks goes to the Graduate school of Integrated Sciences for Life, student support office, especially Ms. Himiko KOI, popularly known as KOI-San, and Ms. NAKAO for their frequent reminders and support in procedures and requirements necessary for my graduation.

To my colleagues in the Laboratory of Food Microbiology and Hygiene, Dr. Caigoy, Kawata, Fukuda, Shibukawa, Yokoo, and Watanabe, it was a pleasure to work with you, especially with the fun talks and party moments that made my stay here memorable.

A special thanks goes to Ms. Pyae for visiting and waiting for me during my late experiment hours.

To my Ghanaian and African community here in Hiroshima, a special appreciation goes to you all, for your advice and words of encouragement that strengthened me throughout my PhD journey.

I would also like to thank Dr. Motoyuki SUGAI, Dr. Liansheng YU, Dr. Hui ZUO, and Dr.

Yo SUGAWARA for helping with whole genome sequencing and analyses.

I really appreciate the timely checkup, support, and unconditional love of my parents for supporting me throughout this journey. I say thank you to all lecturers and colleagues in the Graduate School of Integrated Sciences for Life for your comments.

Title page	i
Statement of originality and declaration	
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of contents	vi
List of tables	ix
List of figures	xi
Chapter 1	1
1. General introduction	1
1.2. Review of related literature	3
1.2.1 Origin of antibiotic resistance	3
1.2.2 Mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance	5
Alteration of drug target	6
Expression of efflux pumps	6
Reduced permeability	6
Inactivation of drugs by enzymes	7
1.2.3 Major groups of antibiotic resistance genes and their nomenclature	7
Bibliography	8
Chapter 2	11
Comparative molecular profiling of antimicrobial resistance and phylogenetic charac multidrug-resistant <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolated from meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Japa	eterization of nn11
Comparative molecular profiling of antimicrobial resistance and phylogenetic charac multidrug-resistant <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolated from meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Japa 1. Summary	eterization of an11
Comparative molecular profiling of antimicrobial resistance and phylogenetic charac multidrug-resistant <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolated from meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Japa 1. Summary 2. Introduction	eterization of an11 11
Comparative molecular profiling of antimicrobial resistance and phylogenetic charac multidrug-resistant <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolated from meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Japa 1. Summary	terization of nn11 11 12 12
 Comparative molecular profiling of antimicrobial resistance and phylogenetic charac multidrug-resistant <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolated from meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Japa 1. Summary 2. Introduction 3. Materials and methods 3.1 Description of study location and sampling procedure. 	terization of m11
 Comparative molecular profiling of antimicrobial resistance and phylogenetic charac multidrug-resistant <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolated from meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Japa 1. Summary 2. Introduction 3. Materials and methods 3.1 Description of study location and sampling procedure. 3.2 Microbiological techniques and analysis 	terization of n11 11 12 15 15 16
 Comparative molecular profiling of antimicrobial resistance and phylogenetic charac multidrug-resistant <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolated from meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Japa 1. Summary 2. Introduction 3. Materials and methods 3.1 Description of study location and sampling procedure. 3.2 Microbiological techniques and analysis 3.3 Bacterial genomic DNA preparation. 	terization of n11 11 12 15 15 16
Comparative molecular profiling of antimicrobial resistance and phylogenetic charac multidrug-resistant <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolated from meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Japa 1. Summary 2. Introduction 3. Materials and methods 3.1 Description of study location and sampling procedure. 3.2 Microbiological techniques and analysis 3.3 Bacterial genomic DNA preparation. 3.4 Molecular screening to detect ESBLs and other AMR genes.	terization of n11 11 12 15 15 16 18 19
Comparative molecular profiling of antimicrobial resistance and phylogenetic charac multidrug-resistant <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolated from meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Japa 1. Summary 2. Introduction 3. Materials and methods 3.1 Description of study location and sampling procedure. 3.2 Microbiological techniques and analysis 3.3 Bacterial genomic DNA preparation. 3.4 Molecular screening to detect ESBLs and other AMR genes 3.5 Amplification of variable regions of class 1 and 2 integrons.	terization of m11 11 12 15 15 16 18 19 19
Comparative molecular profiling of antimicrobial resistance and phylogenetic charac multidrug-resistant <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolated from meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Japa 1. Summary 2. Introduction 3. Materials and methods 3.1 Description of study location and sampling procedure. 3.2 Microbiological techniques and analysis 3.3 Bacterial genomic DNA preparation. 3.4 Molecular screening to detect ESBLs and other AMR genes 3.5 Amplification of variable regions of class 1 and 2 integrons. 3.6 Bacterial identification by 16S rRNA gene sequencing.	terization of m11 11 12 15 15 16 16 19 19 19
Comparative molecular profiling of antimicrobial resistance and phylogenetic charac multidrug-resistant <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolated from meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Japa 1. Summary 2. Introduction 3. Materials and methods 3.1 Description of study location and sampling procedure 3.2 Microbiological techniques and analysis 3.3 Bacterial genomic DNA preparation 3.4 Molecular screening to detect ESBLs and other AMR genes 3.5 Amplification of variable regions of class 1 and 2 integrons 3.6 Bacterial identification by 16S rRNA gene sequencing 3.7 Phenotypic antimicrobial susceptibility testing	terization of m11 11 11 12 15 15 16 16 18 19 19 19
Comparative molecular profiling of antimicrobial resistance and phylogenetic charac multidrug-resistant <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolated from meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Japa 1. Summary 2. Introduction 3. Materials and methods 3.1 Description of study location and sampling procedure. 3.2 Microbiological techniques and analysis 3.3 Bacterial genomic DNA preparation. 3.4 Molecular screening to detect ESBLs and other AMR genes 3.5 Amplification of variable regions of class 1 and 2 integrons. 3.6 Bacterial identification by 16S rRNA gene sequencing. 3.7 Phenotypic antimicrobial susceptibility testing 3.8 Phylogenetic groupings.	terization of in11 11 11 12 15 15 16 16 18 19 19 20 20 21
Comparative molecular profiling of antimicrobial resistance and phylogenetic charac multidrug-resistant Escherichia coli isolated from meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Japa 1. Summary 2. Introduction 3. Materials and methods 3.1 Description of study location and sampling procedure 3.2 Microbiological techniques and analysis 3.3 Bacterial genomic DNA preparation 3.4 Molecular screening to detect ESBLs and other AMR genes 3.5 Amplification of variable regions of class 1 and 2 integrons 3.6 Bacterial identification by 16S rRNA gene sequencing 3.7 Phenotypic antimicrobial susceptibility testing 3.8 Phylogenetic groupings 3.9 Statistical analysis and BLAST search	terization of m11 11 11 12 15 15 16 16 18 19 19 19 20 20 21
Comparative molecular profiling of antimicrobial resistance and phylogenetic charac multidrug-resistant <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolated from meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Japa 1. Summary 2. Introduction 3. Materials and methods 3.1 Description of study location and sampling procedure. 3.2 Microbiological techniques and analysis 3.3 Bacterial genomic DNA preparation. 3.4 Molecular screening to detect ESBLs and other AMR genes. 3.5 Amplification of variable regions of class 1 and 2 integrons. 3.6 Bacterial identification by 16S rRNA gene sequencing. 3.7 Phenotypic antimicrobial susceptibility testing 3.8 Phylogenetic groupings. 3.9 Statistical analysis and BLAST search .	terization of m11 11 11 12 15 15 16 16 18 19 19 19 20 20 21 21 21
Comparative molecular profiling of antimicrobial resistance and phylogenetic charac multidrug-resistant <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolated from meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Japa 1. Summary 2. Introduction 3. Materials and methods 3.1 Description of study location and sampling procedure. 3.2 Microbiological techniques and analysis 3.3 Bacterial genomic DNA preparation. 3.4 Molecular screening to detect ESBLs and other AMR genes 3.5 Amplification of variable regions of class 1 and 2 integrons. 3.6 Bacterial identification by 16S rRNA gene sequencing. 3.7 Phenotypic antimicrobial susceptibility testing 3.8 Phylogenetic groupings. 3.9 Statistical analysis and BLAST search 4. Results 4.1 Prevalence of <i>E. coli</i> isolated from retail meat samples .	terization of in11 11 11 12 15 15 16 16 16 19 19 20 20 20 21 21 21
Comparative molecular profiling of antimicrobial resistance and phylogenetic charac multidrug-resistant <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolated from meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Japa 1. Summary	terization of m11 11 11 12 15 15 16 16 16 19 19 20 20 21 21 21 22 from various 23

Table of Contents

4.4 Antibiogram profiles of <i>E. coli</i>	26
4.5 MDR patterns and phenotypic profiles of AmpC/ESBL-producing E. coli	27
4.6 Phylogroup classification of <i>E. coli</i> isolates	29
4.7 Distribution of AMR genes according to phylogenetic groups	
5. Discussions	34
6. Conclusions	40
Bibliography	40
Chapter 3	50
Molecular and phenotypic characterization of antimicrobial resistance among Enterobacterales and non-Enterobacterales isolated from retail meat in Japan	members of 50
1. Summary	50
2. Introduction	52
3. Materials and methods	55
3.1 Study design, sampling plan, and bacterial isolates	55
3.2 Molecular detection of AMR genes	55
3.3 Genetic determination of plasmid-mediated AmpC β -lactamases (octaplex PCR)	56
3.4 Molecular amplification of integron cassettes	56
3.5 DNA analysis and sequencing of PCR products	56
3.6 16S rRNA gene sequencing	57
3.7 Phenotypic antimicrobial susceptibility	57
3.8 Plasmid analysis and PCR-based replicon typing of ESBL-producing E. coli	
3.9 BLAST search and statistical analysis	59
4. Results	59
4.1 Sample distribution and positive number	59
4.2 Diversity of Gram-negative bacteria isolated from retail meat samples	59
4.3 Overall prevalence of AMR genes	62
4.4 Overall AMR profiles of selected Gram-negative bacteria recovered from retail meat	65
4.5 Plasmid incompatibility groups detected in ESBL-producing E. coli isolates	68
4.6 Genetic characterization of plasmid-mediated AmpC β-lactamases	68
4.7 Phenotypic confirmation of AmpC production against three classes of antimicrobials	72
5. Discussion	74
6. Conclusion	80
Bibliography	
Chapter 4	92
Predominance of multidrug-resistant Gram-negative bacteria isolated from supern seafood in Japan	narket retail 92
1. Summary	92
2. Introduction	93
3. Materials and Methods	95

3.1 Sample collection and pre-processing	95
3.2 Microbiological analyses and bacterial isolation	95
3.3 Molecular screening to detect AMR determinants	96
3.4 Phenotypic antimicrobial susceptibility testing	97
3.5 Detection of <i>E. coli</i> phylogenetic group	98
3.6 Conjugation assay	98
3.7 Plasmid isolation and PCR-based replicon typing (PBRT)	99
3.8 Blast search and statistical analyses	99
4. Results	
4.1 Isolation and identification of bacterial species	100
4.2 Prevalence of β -lactamase-encoding genes and other AMR determinants from seafood se	amples102
4.3 Antibiogram profiles of isolated Gram-negative bacteria	102
4.4 Multiple antibiotic resistance (MAR) indices among MDR isolates	
4.5 E. coli phylogroup, plasmid transferability, and PBRT	105
5. Discussions	
6. Conclusions	114
Bibliography	
Chapter 5	
Antimicrobial susceptibility and genetic profiles of foodborne bacteria carrying more resistance (<i>mcr</i>) genes	bile colistin 124
1. Summary	
2. Introduction	125
3. Materials and methods	127
3.1 Bacterial strains and culture conditions	127
3.2 Antimicrobial susceptibility testing	127
3.3 Plasmid isolation and PCR-based replicon typing (PBRT)	
3.4 Whole genome sequencing, bioinformatic analysis, and conjugation experiments	
4. Results	129
4.1 Origin of <i>mcr</i> -carrying strains	129
4.2 Antimicrobial susceptibility testing	130
4.3 Antimicrobial resistance profiles and PBRT	133
4.4 Genomic features of chromosomes and AMR/mcr- carrying plasmids	135
5. Discussion	141
6. Conclusions	144
Bibliography	144
Chapter 6	151
1. General summary, Conclusions, and Recommendations	151
Appendices	155

List of tables

Table 1. Number of <i>E. coli</i> (N=77) and AmpC/ESBL-producing isolates (n=23) recovered from
various meat samples
Table 2. Distribution of ESBLs and other AMR genes in <i>E. coli</i> isolated from various meat samples
(N=77)25
Table 3. Multidrug-resistance phenotypes and genetic variability of <i>E. coli</i> isolated from chicken meat,
pork, and beef samples
Table 4. Phenotypic antimicrobial susceptibility of AmpC/ESBL-producing E. coli (n=23) isolated
from retail meat samples
Table 5. Distribution of antimicrobial resistance genes including ESBLs detected in E. coli isolates
according to phylogenetic groups
Table 6. Sample numbers and distribution of positive samples according to meat category and
source
Table 7. Different gram-negative bacteria of various genera isolated from meat samples62
Table 8. Prevalence and distribution of AMR genes among meat samples
Table 9. Overall AMR profiles of selected Gram-negative bacteria isolated from retail
meat
Table 10. Antimicrobial resistance profiles of Enterobacterales and non-Enterobacterales
isolated from retail meat
Table 11. Plasmids detected in ESBL-producing <i>E. coli</i> isolated from meat sources69
Table 12. Phenotypic and genotypic profiles of AmpC β-lactamase producers70
Table 13. Phenotypic detection rates of AmpC β -lactamases and their resistance patterns
against three classes of antimicrobials
Table 14. Occurrence of different Gram-negative bacteria isolated from retail seafood in
Hiroshima101

Table 15. Distribution of AMR genes among retail seafood samples
Table 16. Percent resistance of the most abundant Gram-negative bacteria against various
antimicrobials107
Table 17. Multidrug resistance phenotypes and multiple antibiotic resistance (MAR) indices
of Gram-negative bacteria isolated from retail seafood108
Table 18. Results of conjugation and plasmid replicon typing of selected MDR bacteria
isolated from retail seafood109
Table 19. Origin and genetic features and mcr-carrying Gram-negative bacteria
Table 20. MIC of various antimicrobials for mcr-positive isolates obtained in 2009132
Table 21. MIC of various antimicrobials for <i>mcr</i> -positive isolates obtained in 2021 and
2023
Table 22. Antimicrobial resistance profiles and replicon types of mcr-carrying isolates from
different origin
Table 23. Features of chromosomes and plasmids harboring AMR determinants identified in
<i>mcr</i> -carrying isolates
Table S1. Oligonucleotides used in this study

List of figures

Figure 1. Antimicrobial resistance genes and resistant bacteria are continuously exchanged
between humans, animals, and the environment4
Figure 2. Overview of the molecular mechanisms of antibiotic resistance
Figure 3. Map of the sampling location in Higashihiroshima17
Figure 4. Comparison between the prevalence of resistance genotypes detected in retail meat
samples from 2009 and 2021
Figure 5. Antimicrobial resistance profiles of <i>E. coli</i> isolated in 2009 and 202127
Figure 6. Occurrence of multidrug resistance among E. coli isolates from retail meat
samples
Figure 7. Occurrence of variable commensal and pathogenic phylogenetic groups of E. coli
isolates from retail meat samples
Figure 8. Summary of phylogenetic groupings and the association between phylogroup and
multidrug resistance
Figure 9. Bar graph showing the percentage of seafood samples contaminated in each sample
category
Figure 10. Overall antimicrobial resistance profiles of Gram-negative bacteria isolated from
retail seafood105
Figure 11. Genetic context of chromosomally encoded <i>mcr-3</i> (two copies) identified in A.
hydrophila
Figure 12 Structure of an unknown mcr_4 -carrying plasmid (A) and the genetic context of
$max \ 4 \ (D) \ identified in \ 4 \ baumannii $
mcr-4 (b) Identified in A. baumannii
Figure 13. Structure of <i>mcr-5</i> -carrying IncFII plasmid backbone (A) and the corresponding
genetic features of mcr-5 (B) identified in E. coli

Chapter 1

1. General introduction

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) has emerged, and is recognized as one of the leading public health challenges of the 21st century. AMR is defined as the ability of microorganisms to survive and proliferate under the influence of an antimicrobial agent (Abushaheen et al., 2020). The UK government and the Welcome Trust have commissioned "The Review on Antimicrobial resistance," and estimated that by 2050, nearly 10 million people per year are at risk because of the increasing incidence of AMR, which could cost USD 100 trillion economic output (O'Neill 2014; O'Niell, 2016). Knowing the global trends of AMR and current magnitude of occurrence are crucial aspects to evaluate pathogen control around the world. Literature claims suggest that, if left unattended, AMR will continue to spread beyond imagination and could facilitate the evolution of new resistance mechanisms in bacterial pathogens which may be much more fatal in the future than the existing superbugs (Murray et al., 2022).

Antibiotics are generally used to treat bacterial infections in clinical settings around the world. In addition, the increasing demand for animal protein has driven farmers to apply antibiotics as prophylaxis and growth enhancers (Kasimanickam et al., 2021). As they are frequently used in therapeutics, bacteria have a higher chance of developing more intricate resistance mechanisms against those antimicrobials. Consequently, newly evolved strains appear to resist or jeopardize the efficacy of recommended treatment options against many infections, causing profound consequences such as morbidity and mortality as well as clinical complications (Abushaheen et al., 2020; Khameneh et al., 2016). Understanding bacterial resistance mechanisms and the behavior of mobile genetic elements, would help find effective antimicrobials to fight the escalating life-threatening drug resistant infections. The problem is not solved when researchers only rely on clinical data to monitor the spread and trends of AMR. Given that microbes freely move (Shankar, 2016), or can be transmitted to humans through the consumption of contaminated food products, areas where AMR surveillance seems to be minimally implemented should be targeted and monitored as such.

Although several efforts to implement AMR surveillance programs along the food supply chain have experienced overall increase over decades, AMR rates vary between geographical regions and among different species. Moreover, human activities and urbanization as well as acquisition of genetic elements by the so-called superbugs are key players in the increasing trends of AMR around the globe. In Japan, two national AMR surveillance programs implemented by the Ministry of Health, Labour, and Welfare for 20 years (from 1999 and 2000) showed that AMR bacteria are on the rise and have chronologically remained endemic (Suzuki, 2021). Therefore, monitoring the spread and distribution of AMR at the local, regional, and national level would be a crucial part of control strategy. In this context, this research primarily explored AMR originating from supermarket retail meat and seafood products in a One Health perspective. Specifically, this study aimed to:

- 1. Isolate different bacterial species from supermarket retail meat and seafood samples
- 2. Investigate the occurrence of antimicrobial resistance determinants in the isolates
- 3. Characterize antimicrobial resistance among the isolates
- Compare the rate of antimicrobial resistance among meat isolates recovered in 2009 and 2021
- 5. Characterize foodborne bacteria carrying mobile colistin resistance (mcr) genes

1.2. Review of related literature

1.2.1 Origin of antibiotic resistance

Although the origins of antibiotic resistance have long remained elusive, it was thought that antibiotic tolerance or the development of resistance was driven by the successful use of antibiotics in the clinical settings and in farming processes (Davies and Davies, 2010; Vanderbroucke-Grauls and Kluytmans, 2022). It is obvious that most antibiotic compounds are derived from nature, and resistance to these compounds is due to evolutionary events, leading to the emergence of resistance genes which circulate between different ecological niches such as humans, animals, and the environmental (Fig. 1) (Vanderbroucke-Grauls and Kluytmans, 2022). In addition, by definition, bacterial pathogens are susceptible to an antibiotic compound but develop resistance afterwards owing to the occurrence of mutations and genetic transfer mechanisms (Martinez, 2014; Martinez and Baquero, 2000). Antibiotic resistance due to mutation usually occurs in genes encoding the targets of the antibiotic, genes encoding their transporters, and genes encoding repressors of the antibiotic transporters (Martinez, 2014).

In horizontal gene transfer, genetic material from one bacterial cell is transferred to the other. It is suggested that this might have evolved from environmental bacteria, since it was not normally present in human pathogens before antibiotic administration (Arnold et al., 2022). Since many antibiotics are synthesized from nature or environmental microorganisms, it has also been suggested that the evolution of resistance genes originated from antibiotic producers, thus, they acquired genes to protect themselves from their own antibiotic production that would kill them (Benveniste and Davies, 1973).



Fig 1. Antimicrobial resistance genes and resistant bacteria are continuously exchanged between humans, animals, and the environment. Bacteria are omnipresent and encounter antimicrobial agents made by humans or present in nature (for example, made by fungi). Resistance, therefore, can develop everywhere, and resistant strains or resistance genes can be exchanged between humans, wild animals, livestock, and the environment. Increased use of antimicrobial agents, in combination with growing populations of humans, growing populations of livestock, and closer contact of humans with animals, all promote the global spread of antimicrobial resistance. To combat this global health challenge, a One Health approach is needed (Vanderbroucke-Grauls and Kluytmans, 2022). Reused with permission from Nature Medicine (ref 211752). Copyright 2022, Springer Nature America Inc.

1.2.2 Mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance

The mechanisms related to antibiotic resistance in bacteria can be grouped into two types: 1) intrinsic resistance and 2) acquired resistance. Intrinsic resistance occurs when a particular bacterium uses natural means or its biological properties against the compound while acquired resistance results from acquisition of resistance genes, or mutations in chromosomal DNA sequence (Khameneh et al., 2016). Bacteria can develop resistance using specific mechanisms such as antibiotic inactivation by enzyme breakdown, the expression of efflux pumps, alterations to the antibiotic's intended target, or reduced cell membrane permeability (Irfan et al., 2022; Darby et al., 2023). Detailed explanation of the mechanisms is indicted in Figure 2 and elaborated below:



Figure 2. Overview of the molecular mechanisms of antibiotic resistance (Darby et al., 2023). Reused with permission from Nature Reviews Microbiology, (ref 211753), Copyright 2022. Springer Nature Limited.

Alteration of drug target

The modification of a drug's target can be achieved by target replacement (e.g. acquisition of chimeric penicillin-binding proteins can lead to β -lactam resistance), enzymatic modification of the target (e.g. vancomycin resistance is due to restructuring of the cell wall), or target mutation (e.g. resistance to quinolone is due to mutations in bacterial topoisomerases) (Martinez, 2014).

Expression of efflux pumps

Efflux pumps are transport proteins that expel or pump drug from within cells into the surrounding environment (Webber and Piddock, 2003). Thus, the antibiotic concentration within the intracellular environment decreases below inhibitory level which becomes non-toxic to bacterial survival. Five major families of efflux transporters have been identified in prokaryotic kingdom: MATE (multidrug and toxic efflux), RND (resistance-nodulation-division), MF (major facilitator), SMR (small multi-drug resistance), and ABC (ATP binding cassette) (Lomovskaya et al., 2001).

Reduced permeability

For an antimicrobial agent to be effective against the target bacteria, it needs to penetrate the cell envelope to reach its target. The outer membrane, especially of gramnegative bacteria is an intricate organelle that can act as a barrier, while still allowing nutrient uptake (Darby et al., 2023). During bacterial growth, the permeability of the outer membrane changes, influencing the amount of drug that can be translocated across the membrane. The so-called OmpF and OmpC porins identified in *Enterobacteriaceae* allow small hydrophilic β -lactam antibiotics to enter bacterial cell (Whittle et al., 2021). Repression of porin genes prevents the entry of antibiotics into bacterial cells. Additionally, mutations occurring in the

porin proteins can change the channel's diameter which consequently blocks the translocation of drugs across bacterial membrane (Bajaj et al., 2016; Whittle et al., 2021).

Inactivation of drugs by enzymes

This mechanism is by far the most common, where bacteria produce enzymes to hydrolyze or modify the chemical structure of antibiotics—can be divided into two mechanisms: inactivation by degrading the antibiotic and modification by the transfer of a functional group. Both mechanisms are widespread among *Enterobacteriaceae* and grampositive bacteria due to indirect or horizontal gene transfer mechanisms (Darby et al., 2023). Some examples of drug inactivation include the action of β -lactamases on β -lactam antibiotics and the inactivation of tetracyclines by tetracycline hydroxylases (Tooke et al., 2019). β -lactamases are enzymes that hydrolyze the amide bond of β -lactam ring in β -lactam drugs.

1.2.3 Major groups of antibiotic resistance genes and their nomenclature

Many genes are involved in antibiotic resistance among bacteria. The production of β lactamases is most frequently detected in a Gram-negative bacterial isolate that demonstrates resistance to a β -lactam antibiotic. These β -lactamases are classified into 1) Ambler molecular classification, which is based on protein sequence and 2) functional classification, which groups β -lactamases according to the functional similarities of substrate hydrolysis (Ambler, 1980; Bush et al., 1995). The Ambler classification comprises of four molecular classes, A, B, C, and D. Classes A, C, and D use active site serine to hydrolyze their substrates, whereas class B β -lactamases are metalloenzymes that utilize active-site zinc ion to hydrolyze β lactams (Bush and Bradford, 2019). Nonetheless, a new classification scheme was proposed, where the enzymes are divided into three groups: group 1 (class C) cephalosporinases; group 2 (classes A and D) broad-spectrum, inhibitor-resistant, and extended-spectrum β -lactamases and serine carbapenemases; and group 3 metallo- β -lactamases (Bush and Jacoby, 2010).

Bibliography

- Abushaheen, M.A., Muzaheed, Fatani, A.J., Alosaimi, M., Mansy, W., George, M., Acharya,
 S., Rathod, S., Divakar, D.D., Jhugroo, C., Vellappally, S., Khan, A.A., Shaik, J.,
 Jhugroo, P., 2020. Antimicrobial resistance, mechanisms and its clinical significance.
 Disease-a-Month 66, 100971. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.disamonth.2020.100971
- Ambler, R.P., 1980. The structure of beta-lactamases. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 289, 321–331. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1980.0049
- Arnold, B.J., Huang, I.T., Hanage, W.P., 2022. Horizontal gene transfer and adaptive evolution in bacteria. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 20, 206–218. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-021-00650-4
- Bajaj, H., Scorciapino, M.A., Moynie, L., Page, M.G.P., Naismith, J.H., Ceccarelli, M.,
 Winterhalter, M., 2016. Molecular basis of filtering carbapenems by porins from β-lactam-resistant clinical strains of *Escherichia coli*. J. Biol. Chem. 291, 2837–2847.
 https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M115.690156
- Benveniste, R., Davies, J., 1973. Aminoglycoside antibiotic inactivating enzymes in actinomycetes similar to those present in clinical isolates of antibiotic resistant bacteria.
 Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 70, 2276–2280. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.70.8.2276
- Bush, K., Bradford, P.A., 2019. Interplay between β-lactamases and new β-lactamase inhibitors. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 17, 295–306. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-019-0159-8
- Bush, K., Jacoby, G.A., 2010. Updated functional classification of β-lactamases. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 54, 969–976. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.01009-09

- Bush, K., Jacoby, G.A., Medeiros, A.A., 1995. A functional classification scheme for βlactamases and its correlation with molecular structure. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 39, 1211–1233. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.39.6.1211
- Darby, E.M., Trampari, E., Siasat, P., Gaya, M.S., Alav, I., Webber, M.A., Blair, J.M.A., 2023. Molecular mechanisms of antibiotic resistance revisited. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 21, 280–295. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-022-00820-y
- Davies, J., Davies, D., 2010. Origins and evolution of antibiotic resistance. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 74, 417–433. https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.00016-10
- Irfan, M., Almotiri, A., AlZeyadi, Z.A., 2022. Antimicrobial resistance and its drivers—A Review. Antibiotics 11, 1362. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics11101362
- Kasimanickam, V., Kasimanickam, M., Kasimanickam, R., 2021. Antibiotics use in food animal production: Escalation of antimicrobial resistance: Where are we now in combating AMR? Med. Sci. (Basel, Switzerland) 9, 14
- Khameneh, B., Diab, R., Ghazvini, K., Fazly Bazzaz, B.S., 2016. Breakthroughs in bacterial resistance mechanisms and the potential ways to combat them. Microb. Pathog. 95, 32–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2016.02.009
- Lomovskaya, O., Warren, M.S., Lee, A., Galazzo, J., Fronko, R., Lee, M., Blais, J., Cho, D., Chamberland, S., Renau, T., Leger, R., Hecker, S., Watkins, W., Hoshino, K., Ishida, H., Lee, V.J., 2001. Identification and characterization of inhibitors of multidrug resistance efflux pumps in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: Novel agents for combination therapy. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 45, 105–116. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.45.1.105-116.2001
- Martinez, J.L., 2014. General principles of antibiotic resistance in bacteria. Drug Discov. Today Technol. 11, 33–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ddtec.2014.02.001

- Martinez, J.L., Baquero, F., 2000. Mutation frequencies and antibiotic resistance. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 44, 1771–1777. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.44.7.1771-1777.2000
- Murray, C.J., Ikuta, K.S., Sharara, F., Swetschinski, L., Robles Aguilar, G., Gray, A., Han, C., Bisignano, C., Rao, P., Wool, E., Johnson, S.C., et al., 2022. Global burden of bacterial antimicrobial resistance in 2019: a systematic analysis. Lancet 399, 629–655.
- O'Neill J. Antimicrobial resistance: tackling a crisis for the health and wealth of nations. London: Review on Antimicrobial Resistance, 2014.
- O'Neill J. Tackling drug-resistant infections globally: final report and recommendations. London: Review on Antimicrobial Resistance, 2016.
- Tooke, C.L., Hinchliffe, P., Bragginton, E.C., Colenso, C.K., Hirvonen, V.H.A., Takebayashi,
 Y., Spencer, J., 2019. β-Lactamases and β-Lactamase Inhibitors in the 21st Century. J.
 Mol. Biol. 431, 3472–3500. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2019.04.002
- Vanderbroucke-Grauls, C.M.J.E., Kluytmans J.A.J.W., 2022. Tracing the origins of antibiotic resistance. Nat. Med. 28, 633–634. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-022-01723-4
- Webber, M.A., Piddock, L.J.V., 2003. The importance of efflux pumps in bacterial antibiotic resistance. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 51, 9–11. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkg050
- Whittle, E.E., McNeil, H.E., Trampari, E., Webber, M., Overton, T.W., Blair, J.M.A., 2021. Efflux impacts intracellular accumulation only in actively growing bacterial cells. mBio 12, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.02608-21
- Suzuki, S., 2021. A view on 20 years of antimicrobial resistance in Japan by two national surveillance systems: The National Epidemiological Surveillance of Infectious Diseases and Japan Nosocomial Infections Surveillance. Antibiotics, 10, 1189. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics10101189

Chapter 2

Comparative molecular profiling of antimicrobial resistance and phylogenetic characterization of multidrug-resistant *Escherichia coli* isolated from meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Japan

1. Summary

The global spread of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is alarming. *Escherichia coli* is a gram-negative bacterium that causes healthcare-associated infections and is a major threat to public health. Currently, no comprehensive antimicrobial surveillance of multidrug-resistant *E. coli* of diverse phylogroups along the meat value chain has been implemented in Higashihiroshima, Japan. Therefore, by employing the One Health approach, 1,183 bacterial isolates, including 303 recovered from meat samples in 2009, were screened for the presence of antimicrobial resistance determinants using multiplex PCR and DNA sequencing techniques. Seventy-seven non-duplicate *E. coli* isolates that harbored AMR genes were subjected to antimicrobial susceptibility testing and the detection of integrons. Phylogenetic characterization, which has not been previously investigated, was used to assign *E. coli* to one of the eight phylogroups.

Twenty-six out of 33 (78.8%) and 34 out of 44 (77.3%) E. coli isolates from 2009 and 2021 exhibited multidrug resistance (MDR) phenotypes, respectively. The most common clinical resistance observed ampicillin, tetracycline, was against kanamycin, sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim, cefotaxime, and chloramphenicol. Overall, 22.1% (17/77) of the *E. coli* isolates carried an extended-spectrum β-lactamase (ESBL)-encoding gene and showed the ESBL-resistant phenotypes. For the two isolation years, AmpC/ESBL prevalence decreased from 42.4% in 2009 to 20.5% in 2021. The identified AMR genes included blacTX-M-1, *bla*_{CTX-M-2}, *bla*_{CTX-M-14}, *bla*_{CTX-M-15}, and *bla*_{SHV-12} (ESBL-types); *bla*_{SHV-1}, *bla*_{TEM-1}, 135, and *bla*_{TEM-176} (narrow-spectrum types); *bla*_{CMY-4}, *bla*_{ADC-32}, *bla*_{ADC-216}, *bla*_{ACT-48}, and

*bla*_{ACT-51} (AmpC types); and integrons. All *E. coli* isolates were negative for carbapenemaseencoding genes, whereas one isolate from 2009 carried *mcr-5.1* allele. Approximately 52% of *E. coli* isolates identified in 2009 were assigned to phylogroup A compared to the 20.5% in 2021. Notably, the highest proportions of *E. coli* phylogroups exhibiting MDR were groups A, B1, and F, suggesting that members of these groups are mostly associated with drug resistance. This study highlights the role of meat as a significant reservoir of MDR *E. coli* and potential source for transmission of AMR genes. Furthermore, the findings emphasize the importance of continuous monitoring to track the changes in the spread of antimicrobial resistance in the food chain.

Keywords: Multidrug resistance, *E. coli*, Extended-spectrum β-lactamase, Phylogroup, Meat, Japan.

2. Introduction

Escherichia coli, a member of the *Enterobacteriaceae* family, naturally belongs to the normal commensal flora of warm-blooded animals and humans (Bendary et al., 2022). Hence, *E. coli* is versatile, with some strains causing extra-intestinal and systemic infections in a broad range of hosts (Pereira et al., 2013). Owing to its ubiquity in nature, *E. coli* is commonly used as a fecal indicator of food hygiene, including water quality assessment, to certify the effectiveness of sanitation in the food industry (Sodagari et al., 2021). It has been classified as i) commensal, ii) intestinal pathogenic, or iii) extra-intestinal pathogenic. Based on phylogenetic classification, the species can be assigned to one of the following phylogroups: A, B1, B2, or D (Carlos et al., 2010). In a new classification, Clermont et al. (2013) proposed four additional phylogroups: C, E, F, and *Escherichia* cryptic clade I. Members of the phylogroup differ in genotypic and phenotypic characteristics. Extra-intestinal pathogenic strains mostly belong to phylogenetic groups B2 and D, whereas

commensal *E. coli* strains usually belong to groups A and B1 (Corzo-Ariyama et al., 2019; Pereira et al., 2013).

E. coli infections are mostly treatable. However, due to evolutionary transformation and variation, the bacterium has developed novel resistance mechanisms against important antimicrobials, including the last-line antibiotics used in clinical practice. For instance, the problematic mechanisms in *E. coli* correspond to the acquisition and silent dissemination of exogenous genes through horizontal gene transfer of mobile genetic elements (plasmids, transposons, insertion sequences, or integrons) and genomic islands (Ouchar Mahamat et al., 2021; Partridge et al., 2018; Xedzro et al., 2022). As a result, the development of resistance to multiple antimicrobials has emerged, which is challenging for the existing therapeutic options. Multidrug resistance (MDR) has become a concern and one of the most serious global health threats of this century. MDR has been associated with increased mortality and morbidity due to treatment failures and increased healthcare costs (Catalano et al., 2022).

Treatment of bacterial infections requires the use of antibiotics (Zhang et al., 2021). Currently, the recommended treatment option for severe infections caused by MDR bacterial pathogens, including *E. coli*, is extended-spectrum cephalosporins and quinolones (Laird et al., 2021) as resistance to older antimicrobials has continuously been increasing over the years. Since the introduction of expanded-spectrum cephalosporins in the early 1980s, microbial resistance through extended-spectrum β -lactamases (ESBLs) has become a growing concern (Livermore and Hawkey, 2005; Saravanan et al., 2018). ESBLs are enzymes that can hydrolyze penicillin, oxyimino-cephalosporins (third and fourth generation), and monobactams, such as aztreonam, but spare cephamycin or carbapenems (Poirel et al., 2018; Saravanan et al., 2018). However, they are inhibited by β -lactamase inhibitors, such as clavulanic acid. (Ouchar Mahamat et al., 2021). TEM and SHV are among the first reported ESBLs. CTX-M-type ESBLs have also emerged and have been identified in *E. coli* isolates of human and animal origin (Poirel et al., 2018). Animals colonized by ESBL-producing *E*. *coli* could be a significant source for the dissemination of ESBL genes through the food chain, further exacerbating the problem of antimicrobial resistance.

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) continues to be a global crisis, and is increasingly being reported in humans, animals, and the environment. It has been estimated that by 2050, AMR will cause millions of human deaths, financial burden, and a major reduction in livestock production if alternative measures to prevent the spread of AMR are not implemented (Islam et al., 2021; Orubu et al., 2020). Globally, the increased consumption of meat is of particular concern because meat represents a substantial proportion of the human diet and is expected to grow in the future (Casella et al., 2017). This issue has intensified the common use of antibiotics in animal husbandry, not only for the treatment of bacterial infections, but also as growth promoters and prophylaxis to increase animal stock production (Gawish et al., 2021) to feed the growing population of this century.

In Japan, antibiotics such as penicillin, tetracycline, and streptomycin have been approved for use as prophylaxis and growth promoters in animal husbandry for several years (Harada and Asai, 2010). Their intensive use has allowed antimicrobial-resistant bacteria to develop and spread from food animals to humans (Sadek et al., 2021; Verraes et al., 2013). Some reports have shown that food-producing animals are potential reservoirs of antimicrobial-resistant organisms, including *E. coli* (Kanokudom et al., 2021; Mateus-Vargas et al., 2017). Moreover, extensive investigations involving genetic characterization and antimicrobial surveillance have reported the existence of extended-spectrum β -lactamaseproducing *E. coli* (ESBL-E) in food animals, including poultry (Casella et al., 2017; Nakayama et al., 2022; Sornsenee et al., 2022; Zhang et al., 2021). To track the incidence of ESBL-E, a strategic One Health approach, which focuses on preventing the spread of antimicrobial resistance among different local ecosystems, was introduced. Despite its public health significance, the prevalence of MDR *E. coli* and/or ESBL-E in retail meat in Japan has been reported only in a few areas, including Aichi prefecture (Kawamura et al., 2014), Osaka prefecture (Nahar et al., 2018), and Nagano prefecture (Hayashi et al., 2018). Since the consumption of meat products is rapidly growing in Japan (Sasaki et al., 2022), it is of utmost importance to know the prevalence of antimicrobial-resistant *E. coli* for food safety reasons to assess their significance in human health and to track the changes in the spread of MDR bacteria to humans. Moreover, there exist data and year gap in studies on AMR in foodproducing animals in the current region of study, suggesting that the prevalence status of AMR is unknown, limiting accessibility to data for future monitoring of AMR trends. Such data are also needed to assess whether antimicrobial resistance policy implementations are effective. Accordingly, the present study comparatively investigated the prevalence and genetic characteristics leading to drug resistance, as well as the phylogenetic characterization of *E. coli* isolated from retail meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Higashihiroshima, Japan.

3. Materials and methods

3.1 Description of study location and sampling procedure

The study was conducted in Higashihiroshima, Hiroshima Prefecture, Japan (Fig 3). According to Japanese census data, the city had a total of 196,608 inhabitants as of October 2020, <u>Hiroshima (Japan): Prefecture, Cities, Towns, and Villages–Population Statistics,</u> <u>Charts and Map (citypopulation.de)</u>. Higashihiroshima has a land size of 635.32 km² and is characterized by cold winters and hot humid summers.

A simple random sampling method was used to select sampling locations. During the period from May to December 2021, 90 meat samples were purchased from 22 retail supermarkets. Each supermarket was randomly visited up to three times during the study period. During sampling, domestically produced and imported meat samples (raw chicken,

beef, pork, and wild meat) in different portions were obtained. Of those 90 meat samples, 58 were domestic products (37 chicken meat, 10 beef, 9 pork, and 2 wild meat samples) and 32 were imported ones (chicken meat: 11 from Brazil, 1 from USA, and 1 from Thailand; beef: 8 from USA, 1 from Canada, and 1 from Mexico; pork: 7 from USA, 1 from Canada, and 1 from New Zealand). Samples were gently packaged in transparent polyethylene bags and immediately transported under cooling conditions (on ice) to the laboratory. Microbiological analysis was carried out within 3 to 5 h of sample collection.

3.2 Microbiological techniques and analysis

Using sterile forceps and scissors, 25 g of each sample was aseptically dissected into different sections and placed in a sterile stomacher bag. Homogenization was immediately performed with 225 mL sterile buffered peptone water (Nissui Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) for 60 s. Thereafter, a 100 μ L homogenate from each sample was directly spread onto MacConkey agar (Eiken Chemical Co., Ltd., Tochigi, Japan) containing ampicillin (100 µg/mL), streptomycin (50 µg/mL), meropenem (2 µg/mL), or colistin (2 µg/mL). The plates were then incubated at 37 °C for 24 h. Overnight enrichment assays were also performed by transferring a 1 mL-aliquot of each suspension into 9 mL Luria-Bertani (LB) broth (Nacalai Tesque, Inc., Kyoto, Japan) with or without ampicillin and streptomycin. For capturing β -lactamase producers, ampicillin broth cultures were surface streaked on MacConkey supplemented with ampicillin (100 µg/mL), or meropenem (2 µg/mL), while streptomycin broth cultures were plated on MacConkey containing streptomycin (50 µg/mL). Homogenate samples that did not show bacterial growth after enrichment were also plated on respective antibiotic plates. In all cases, such cultures did not produce colonies on agar and were not selected for further screening. In order to avoid inducible resistance against colistin, enrichment with colistin was not performed. Instead, cultures without antibiotics were plated



Fig. 3. Map of the sampling location in Higashihiroshima, Japan. Sampling locations are marked by stars.

on MacConkey containing colistin (2 μ g/mL), followed by incubation under experimental conditions. Subsequently, 3 to 5 morphologically distinct colonies from each plate were preferentially selected. The colonies were re-cultured on individual MacConkey agar plates with the same antibiotic supplementation, as described above. In total, 880 antibiotic-resistant bacterial isolates were obtained and purified on LB agar without antibiotics.

In addition, 303 bacterial isolates obtained from 95 meat samples (24 retail supermarkets) collected in 2009 were included in subsequent analyses. The isolates were recovered by enriching 500 µL meat homogenate in 5 mL LB broth without antibiotics (37 °C for 15 h), followed by surface streaking on MacConkey without antibiotics. Of those 95 samples, 65 were domestic products (29 chicken meat, 18 beef, and 18 pork samples) and 30 were imported ones (chicken meat: 6 from Brazil and 2 from China; beef: 6 from Australia, 1 from Brazil, 1 from New Zealand, 1 from Mexico, and 1 China; pork: 3 from USA, 2 from Denmark, 2 from Canada, 1 from Mexico, 1 from China, 1 from Thailand, 1 from Australia, and 1 Canadian wild meat sample). The supermarkets visited are in the same region, though some vary from those visited in 2021.

3.3 Bacterial genomic DNA preparation

Total genomic DNA was extracted from the boiled lysate, as previously described (Ahmed et al., 2014) with minor modifications. Briefly, overnight LB broth culture was centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 2 min. The cells were harvested, resuspended in 1x TE buffer (1 M Tris-HCl, pH 8.0 and 0.5 M EDTA), and the turbidity (OD₆₀₀) was adjusted to approximately 0.1. The OD-adjusted suspension was lysed at 100 °C for 10 min. The resulting solution was centrifuged, and the supernatant was stored at -20 °C and used as the DNA template.

3.4 Molecular screening to detect ESBLs and other AMR genes

Molecular screening of 1,183 isolates including those recovered in 2009 was conducted to identify ESBLs (bla_{SHV} , bla_{TEM} , and bla_{CTX-M}), other β -lactamase-encoding genes (bla_{0XA-1} , bla_{0XA-2} , bla_{0XA-5} , bla_{0XA-9} , and AmpC-type β -lactamases), integrons (class 1, class 2, and class 3), and aminoglycoside acetyltransferase gene [aac(6')-Ib] using a newly established eicosaplex/octaplex PCR system as previously described (Soliman et al., 2023). Briefly, PCR was performed using the Tks GflexTM DNA polymerase (Takara Bio Inc., Shiga, Japan) in a 2 µM dNTPs and 10 µM primer concentration under the following cycling conditions: initial denaturation at 98 °C for 1 min, 35 cycles of denaturation at 98 °C for 10 s, annealing at 50 °C for 15 s, extension at 68 °C for 30 s, and a final extension at 68 °C for 15 s. PCR detection of mobile colistin resistance genes, mcr-1 to mcr-9 (for all isolates from 2009 and only 2021 isolates selected on colistin-containing MacConkey agar) and carbapenemases was also performed. PCR amplicons were analyzed on 3% agarose gel (FastGene NE-A02 agarose gel), stained with ethidium bromide, and visualized under ultraviolet light. Suspected isolates possessing antimicrobial resistance genes were selected and confirmed by single PCR using specific primers. PCR amplicons were purified using ExoSAP-IT (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Japan) and submitted for sequencing on an ABI automated 3730xl DNA sequencer (GATC Biotech, Konstanz, Germany) to identify antimicrobial resistance genes.

3.5 Amplification of variable regions of class 1 and 2 integrons

The variable regions of the integrons were amplified using primers complementary to the 5' and 3' conserved segments of class 1 integrons (5' CS and 3' CS) (Ahmed, et al., 2007) and class 2 integrons (hep74 and hep51) (Ahmed, et al., 2007). Class 3 integrons were not included in this section since none of the isolates possessed such integrase gene. The PCR amplification conditions were as follows: initial denaturation at 98 °C for 1 min, 30 cycles of denaturation at 98 °C for 10 s, annealing at 50 °C for 15 s, extension at 68 °C for 2 min, and a final extension at 68 °C for 15 s. All primers used are listed in Table S1 in appendices.

3.6 Bacterial identification by 16S rRNA gene sequencing

Amplification of 16S rRNA fragments was carried out on selected isolates that were positive for an antimicrobial resistance gene. The universal primers 27F and 1492R, which generate a 1,500-bp DNA fragment, were used. PCR products were cleaned with ExoSAP-IT and processed for sequencing to identify bacterial species. For *E. coli* selection, if more than one isolate from the same sample carried identical AMR genes, only one representative was selected. Subsequently, a total of 77 non-duplicate isolates were identified as *E. coli* and were used for further experiments.

3.7 Phenotypic antimicrobial susceptibility testing

All *E. coli* isolates were assayed for antimicrobial susceptibility using the Kirby-Bauer method, according to the interpretative criteria described by the Clinical Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI, 2018). The minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of colistin for *mcr*-positive isolate was performed by following EUCAST guidelines (EUCAST, 2023). Overnight cultures were obtained from LB agar plates and suspended in sterile saline (0.85% w/v NaCl). Turbidity was adjusted to 0.5 McFarland standards. Thereafter, the surface of the Mueller-Hinton agar plates was streaked with cotton swabs already dipped into the standardized inocula. Antibiotic disks (Eiken Chemical Co., Ltd., Tochigi, Japan) were aseptically placed on inoculated Mueller-Hinton agar plates using sterile forceps. The isolates were tested against 15 antimicrobial agents from 12 different classes, as follows: ampicillin (10 μ g), cefotaxime (30 μ g), ceftazidime (30 μ g), cefepime (30 μ g), tetracycline (30 µg), chloramphenicol (30 µg), ciprofloxacin (5 µg), sulfamethoxazole-trimethoprim (23.75/1.25 µg), colistin (10 µg), and fosfomycin (50 µg). The plates were incubated at 37 °C for 16–18 h and the results were recorded based on the interpretative chart supplied with the antimicrobial agent. *E. coli* ATCC 25922 was used as quality control. Multidrug resistance was defined as resistance to at least one antimicrobial agent in three or more classes (Magiorakos et al., 2012). Isolates that showed intermediate resistance (buffer zone) were classified as being resistant to prevent reporting as susceptible (Rodloff, 2008).

3.8 Phylogenetic groupings

Phylogenetic characterization was performed using quadruplex PCR, as previously described (Clermont et al., 2013). The amplification targets were *arpA*, *chuA*, *yjaA*, and DNA fragment TspE4.C2. The phylogroup was assigned based on the presence/absence of a gene target in the order *arpA*|*chuA*|*yjaA*|TspE4.C2. Where an isolate was not specifically assigned, additional testing was performed to correctly assign phylogroups. For instance, if an isolate yields A/C or D/E quadruplex genotypes, phylogroup screening using allele-specific C and E primers were used to differentiate between A and C or D and E, respectively. *E. coli* ATCC 25922 was used as a quality control strain for phylogenetic group B2. Nucleic acid-free water was used as the negative control.

3.9 Statistical analysis and BLAST search

The Pearson's chi-square test or Fisher's exact test was used to test for any significant differences in genotypic and phenotypic features in *E. coli* according to the two isolation years. *p*-values of <0.05 were considered statistically significant for comparisons. Statistical computations were performed using IBM SPSS version 29.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Phylogroup distribution was recorded in Microsoft Excel 365 and presented as percentages.

The map was generated using QGIS software version 3.28. All sequenced data were subjected to a similarity search using the Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) program available at the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) database.

4. Results

4.1 Prevalence of *E. coli* isolated from retail meat samples

In this study, 77 non-duplicate *E. coli* isolates carrying antimicrobial resistance (AMR) genes were detected. Of these, 33 (34.7%) isolates were recovered from 95 meat samples collected in 2009, whereas 44, representing 48.9% were isolates recovered from 90 meat samples collected in 2021. Of the 33 *E. coli* isolates obtained in 2009, the AmpC/ESBL-producers were detected in 14 (42.4%), whereas 9 (20.5%) of these producers were detected in isolates from 2021 (Table 1). The results showed that the occurrence of AmpC/ESBL-producing *E. coli* was significantly higher (*p*-value = 0.037) in 2009 than in 2021, despite a lower prevalence of *E. coli*. We found a 22% decrease in meat contamination by AmpC/ESBL-carriers over the two years of our study. In addition, the prevalence of *E. coli* was higher in chicken meat samples than in beef or pork, whereas none was detected in wild meat samples (deer, boar, and horse) in the two isolation years (Table 1).

Isolation year	Meat category	No. of samples	No. of isolates (%)	
			E. coli	*AmpC/ESBL- producers
2009	Chicken	37	26 (70.3)	12 (46.2)
	Beef	28	4 (14.3)	1 (25.0)
	Pork	29	3 (10.3)	1 (33.3)
	Wild meat	1	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
	Total	95	33 (34.7)	14 (42.4)
2021	Chicken	50	43 (86.0)	9 (20.9)
	Beef	19	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
	Pork	19	1 (5.3)	0 (0.0)
	Wild meat	2	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
	Total	90	44 (48.9)	9 (20.5)

Table 1. Number of *E. coli* (n=77) and AmpC/ESBL-producing isolates (n=23) recovered from various meat samples

*Statistical difference between AmpC/ESBL-producers recovered in 2009 and 2021 (p<0.05).

4.2 Prevalence of β -lactamase-encoding genes and other AMR genes in *E. coli* isolated from various meat samples

Among the 77 *E. coli* isolates identified to harbor AMR genes, 16 (20.8%) and 44 (57.1%) carried the bla_{CTX-M} and bla_{TEM} resistance genes, respectively. The bla_{CTX-M} gene was found only in chicken isolates, whereas bla_{TEM} was detected in isolates recovered from pork and chicken meat samples. Only one isolate (1.3%) each from chicken and pork tested positive for bla_{SHV} (Table 2). Additionally, the AmpC-type β -lactamases (bla_{CMY} , bla_{ACT} , and bla_{ADC}) representing 7.8% of the total *E. coli* isolates were found in six isolates recovered from chicken, beef, and pork. These β -lactamases were only detected in meat samples from 2009. Finally, the modular gene cassette arrays of class 1 and class 2 integrons that confer resistance to aminoglycosides, trimethoprim, chloramphenicol, and quaternary ammonium compounds were identified in 27 (35.1%) and 3 (3.9%) of the *E. coli* isolates, respectively (Table 2). None of the isolates possessed class 3 integrons.

4.3 Comparative analysis between the prevalence of resistance genotypes identified in meat samples from 2009 and 2021

Figure 4 illustrates the prevalence rates of resistance genes in 2009 and 2021. Of the 98 detected AMR genes, 17 (17.4%) were the ESBL-types. Comparatively, the prevalence rates of ESBLs among AMR genes detected in 2009 and 2021 were 19.0% and 16.1%, respectively (*p*-value >0.05). Furthermore, PCR and DNA sequencing of β -lactamase-encoding genes detected high prevalence of the *bla*_{TEM} gene (44.9%), of which the majority (60.7%) occurred in isolates from 2021 (Fig. 4). Regarding the other β -lactamase genes, the prevalence rates in 2009 and 2021 respectively, are as follows: *bla*_{CTX-M} (16.7% and 16.1%), *bla*_{SHV} (4.8% and 0.0%), and AmpC-type β -lactamases (14.3% and 0.0%). Integrase gene cassette arrays were found to be more prevalent in isolates obtained in 2009 than in those obtained in 2021.
		D-IaC	talliase-cilcouilig gelies			Integr	ron cassenes
feat category	ESBL-types (No.)		Narrow-spectrum-types (N	0.)	AmpC-types (No.)	Class 1 (No.)	Class 2 (No.)
	blactx.m	blasHV	bla _{SHV}	bla _{TEM}			
	blacTX:M-1 (1)	<i>bla</i> _{SHV-12} (1)		$bla_{\text{TEM-1}}$ (38)	<i>bla</i> _{CMY-4} (2)	aadAl (16)	<i>dfrAl-sat2</i> (2)
	<i>bla</i> _{CTX-M-2} (11)			<i>bla</i> _{TEM-135} (3)	$bla_{\rm ACT-51}$ (1)	aadA5-dfrA17(1)	dfrAI-sat2-aadA2 (1)
	<i>bla</i> cTX-M-14 (1)			$bla_{\mathrm{TEM-176}}\left(1 ight)$	$bla_{\rm ACT-48}$ (1)	aadA12 (3)	
Chicken	blacTX-M-15 (2)					<i>dfrA17</i> (1)	
	blacTX-M-like (1)					dfrA12- DCP (1)	
						aadB-orf1-cmlA (1)	
Beef	ı	ı			<i>bla</i> _{ADC-216} (1)	aadAI (3)	
Pork	ı	ı	$bla_{\rm SHV-1}(1)$	$bla_{\text{TEM-1}}$ (2)	$bla_{\rm ADC-32}\left(1 ight)$	aadA5-dfr17(1)	ı
Wild meat	ı	ı			I	I	ı
Total	16(20.8%)	1 (1.3%)	1(1.3%)	44 (57.1%)	6 (7.8%)	27 (35.1%)	3 (3.9%)

Table 2. Distribution of ESBLs and other AMR genes in *E. coli* isolated from various meat samples (n=77)

25

*Prevalence was expressed as a percentage of n



Fig. 4. Comparison between the prevalence of resistance genotypes detected in retail meat samples from 2009 and 2021. Statistical differences (*p*-value <0.05) in the prevalence of resistance genes are indicated by asterisks.

4.4 Antibiogram profiles of E. coli

The sensitivity of the 77 *E. coli* isolates to 15 antimicrobial agents commonly used in therapeutic practice was assessed. All the isolates were susceptible to amikacin and meropenem. Of note, it was observed that the resistance of the isolates to the antimicrobials was higher in 2009 than in 2021, except for ampicillin, kanamycin, ciprofloxacin, and sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim. Interestingly, decreased resistance to antimicrobials was observed between 2009 and 2021 as follows (significance indicated by *p*-value in brackets): cefotaxime, 48.5 % vs. 22.7% (*p*-value = 0.018); ceftazidime, 18.2 % vs.6.8%; cefepime, 12.1% vs. 4.6%; cefoxitin, 21.2% vs. 4.6% (*p*-value = 0.033); aztreonam, 33.3% vs. 9.1 % (*p*-value = 0.008); chloramphenicol, 36.4% vs. 22.7%; colistin, 3.0% vs. 0.0%; and fosfomycin, 12.1% vs. 9.1% (Fig. 5). Notably, one *E. coli* isolate that showed phenotypic resistance to colistin (disk method) carried mobile colistin resistance gene *mcr-5.1* allele (MIC, 8 μ g/mL) and exhibited MDR to critically important antimicrobials (CIAs) (Table 3).



Fig. 5. Antimicrobial resistance profiles of *E. coli* isolated in 2009 and 2021. Intermediateresistant isolates were reported as resistant. Statistical differences (*p*-value <0.05) in antibiotic resistance between the two isolation years are indicated by asterisks. AMP: ampicillin, CTX: cefotaxime, CAZ: ceftazidime, FEP: cefepime, FOX: cefoxitin, ATM: aztreonam, MEM: meropenem, AMK: amikacin, KAN: kanamycin, TET: tetracycline, CHL: chloramphenicol, CIP: ciprofloxacin, SXT: sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim, CST: colistin, FOF: fosfomycin.

4.5 MDR patterns and phenotypic profiles of AmpC/ESBL-producing E. coli

This study revealed high prevalence rates of MDR among *E. coli* isolates. Sixty out of 77 (77.9%) isolates exhibited MDR phenotypes (Table 3). MDR was defined as the resistance of isolates to at least one antimicrobial agent in three or more classes (Magiorakos et al., 2012). Regarding the comparison between 2009 and 2021, MDR occurred in 26 (78.8%) and 34 (77.3%) of the isolates, respectively (Fig. 6). The results showed insignificant change (*p*-value >0.05) in MDR patterns between the two isolation years. In addition, all AmpC/ESBL-producers showed MDR and were all found to confer resistance to ampicillin and cefotaxime (third-generation cephalosporin), except one, but were susceptible to amikacin and meropenem (Table 4).

Table 3. Multidrug-resistance phenotypes and genetic variability of E. coli isolated from chicken meat	,
pork, and beef samples	

No	Isolata anda	Sourco	Pagistanga nhanatunag	Dhulogroup	Resistance
INO.	Isolate code	1-A009 Chicken AMP, CTX, ATM, KAN, TET, SXT		Phylogroup	genotypes
1	D1 4000	Chiatan	AMD CTV ATM KAN TET OVT	C	
1	B1-A009	Chicken	AMP, CIX, AIM, KAN, IEI, SXI	0	bla _{TEM-1} , bla _{CTX-M-1}
2	BH1-5088	Chicken	AMP, CIA, CAZ, FEP, AIM, KAN, SAI, FOF	A	bla _{CTX-M-15} , bla _{TEM-1} , ddaA1
3	BH2-50/9	Chicken	AMP, KAN, SAI	A	bla _{TEM-1} , dddA12
4	H3-A056	Chicken	AMP, CIX, KAN, IEI, SXI	D	<i>bla</i> _{TEM-1} , <i>bla</i> _{CTX-M-14}
2	K3-A121	Chicken	AMP, CIX, CAZ, AIM, FOF	BI	<i>bla</i> _{CTX-M-15} , <i>bla</i> _{TEM-1}
6	F5-A096	Chicken	AMP, KAN, IEI	BI	bla _{TEM-1} , aadA12
7	HT1-S097	Chicken	AMP, CTX, KAN, TET, SXT	E	bla _{CTX-M-2}
8	H13-S094	Chicken	AMP, CIX, FEP, AIM, IEI, SXI	F	bla _{CTX-M-2} , aadA1
9	M11-A128	Chicken	AMP, CTX, TET	E	bla _{CTX-M-2}
10	B3-S017	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET, CHL, SXT	D	bla _{TEM-135} , dfrA1/
11	K3-S089	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET	A	bla _{TEM-1} , aadA12
12	E4-S74	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET, CHL, CIP, SXT	BI	bla _{TEM-135}
13	H3-S026	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET, CHL, SXT	E	bla _{TEM-1} , dfrA12-DCP
14	E3-A018	Chicken	AMP, CTX, KAN, TET, CIP	A	bla _{CTX-M-2}
15	HT1-A143	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET	B1	bla _{TEM-135}
16	H1-A035	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET	B1	bla _{TEM-176}
17	G4-A159	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET	F	$bla_{\text{TEM-1}}$
18	K3-S086	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TC	А	$bla_{\text{TEM-1}}$
19	H3-A039	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET, CHL, SXT	Е	$bla_{\text{TEM-1}}$
20	HT2-A138	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET	F	$bla_{\text{TEM-1}}$
21	J1-A076	Chicken	AMP, TET, CHL, SXT	B1	bla _{CTX-M-like}
22	I2-S048	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET, CIP, SXT	F	$bla_{\text{TEM-1}}$
23	B5-A101	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET, CHL	А	$bla_{\text{TEM-1}}$
24	A3-S003	Chicken	AMP, CTX, FOX, KAN, TET, CHL, SXT	F	bla _{TEM-1}
25	E3-A007	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET	D	bla _{TEM-1}
26	B3-A013	Chicken	AMP, TET, CHL, CIP	B1	bla _{TEM-1}
27	BH1-A109	Chicken	AMP, CTX, CAZ, FOX, KAN, TET, CIP, SXT	E	aadA1
28	HT1-A145	Chicken	AMP, KAN, SXT	B1	bla _{TEM-1}
29	J2-S056	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET, CIP, SXT	А	bla _{TEM-1}
30	B2-A022	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET	F	bla _{TEM-1}
31	B6-A105	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET, CHL	F	bla _{TEM-1}
32	B4-A102	Chicken	AMP, KAN, CIP	B1	bla _{TEM-1}
33	MT1-S108	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET	F	bla _{TEM-1}
34	PA017	Pork	AMP, KAN, TET, CHL, SXT	B2	bla _{TEM-1}
35	37A-18A-2	Pork	AMP, TET, CHL, SXT	А	bla _{TEM-1} , dfr17-aadA5
36	3B-2B-1	Pork	CTX, FOX, ATM, CHL, FOF	А	bla _{ADC-32}
37	3E-2E-1	Beef	AMP, CTX, CAZ, FOX, ATM, TET, CHL, FOF	А	bla _{ADC-216}
38	8D-2D1-1	Beef	AMP, FOX, KAN, TET, SXT	F	aadA1
39	9D-2D1-2	Beef	AMP, KAN, TET, SXT	F	aadA1
40	138-2H-3	Chicken	AMP, CTX, FEP	А	bla _{CTX-M-2}
41	139-2H-4	Chicken	AMP, CTX, FEP, ATM, TET	B1	bla _{CTX-M-2}
42	156 011 2	Chielton	AMD CTY CAZ EON KAN TET CHI	D2	<i>bla</i> _{CMY-4} , <i>bla</i> _{TEM-1} , <i>aadB-orf1-</i>
42	130-9H-2	Chicken	AMP, CTA, CAZ, FOA, KAN, TET, CHL	B2	cmlA
43	158-10H-2	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET, SXT	А	<i>bla</i> _{TEM-1} , <i>aadA1</i>
44	159-10H-3	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET	F	bla _{TEM-1}
45	160-11H-1	Chicken	AMP, CTX, CAZ, ATM, SXT, CST	А	<i>bla</i> _{SHV-12} , <i>mcr</i> -5.1
46	161-11H-2	Chicken	AMP, TET, CIP	А	bla _{TEM-1}
47	162-11H-3	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET	А	bla _{TEM-1}
48	165-12H-3	Chicken	AMP, CTX, CAZ, FOX, TET	B1	bla _{CMY-4}
49	166-13H-1	Chicken	AMP, TET, CHL, CIP, SXT	С	bla _{TEM-1}
50	171-14H-3	Chicken	TET, CHL, SXT	D	dfrA1-sat2
51	183-15H-1	Chicken	AMP, KAN, TET, SXT	B1	bla _{TEM-1}
52	198-22H-2	Chicken	AMP, CTX, ATM, TET	B1	bla _{TEM-1}
53	242-31J2-1	Chicken	KAN, TET, CIP, SXT	F	dfrA1-sat2-aadA2
<i></i>	0(1,0010,1	G1 : 1	AMP, CTX, CAZ, FOX, ATM, KAN, TET, CHL,		<i></i>
54	261-33J2-1	Chicken	FOF	А	Dla _{ACT-51}
55	263-33J2-3	Chicken	AMP, CTX, CAZ, FOX, ATM, KAN, CHL, FOF	А	$bla_{ACT-48}, bla_{ADC-216}$
56	267-34J1-2	Chicken	AMP, CTX, KAN, TET, CHL	А	bla _{CTX-M-2} , aadA1
57	269-34J2-2	Chicken	AMP, CTX, FEP, ATM, KAN, TET, CHL	А	bla _{CTX-M-2} , aadA1
58	286-36J2-1	Chicken	AMP, CTX, ATM, TET, CHL	Е	bla _{CTX-M-2} , aadA1
59	301-36J2-1X	Chicken	AMP, CTX, FEP, ATM, KAN, TET, CHL	D	bla _{CTX-M-2} , aadA1
60	305-UN	Chicken	AMP, CTX, ATM	А	bla _{TEM-1} , aadA1

AMP: ampicillin, CTX: cefotaxime, CAZ: ceftazidime, FEP: cefepime, FOX: cefoxitin, ATM: aztreonam, MEPM: meropenem, AMK: amikacin, KAN: kanamycin, TET: tetracycline, CHL: chloramphenicol, CIP: ciprofloxacin, SXT: sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim, CST: colistin, FOF: fosfomycin



Fig. 6. Occurrence of multidrug resistance among *E. coli* isolates from retail meat samples.

4.6 Phylogroup classification of E. coli isolates

Phylogenetic characterization of 77 *E. coli* isolates revealed variable phylogroups. Phylogroup analysis of isolates obtained in 2009 showed that 17 (51.5%) belonged to group A, 5 (15.2%) to groups B1 or F, 1 (3.0%) to groups B2 or C or D, and 3 (9.1%) to group E (Fig. 7A). Conversely, in 2021, 9 (20.5%) belonged to group A, 12 (27.3%) to group B1, 11 (25.0%) to group F, 1 (2.3%) to group B2, 2 (4.6%) to group C, 3 (6.8%) to group D, and 6 (13.6%) to group E (Fig. 7B). The determination of *E. coli* phylogenetic groups revealed that phylogroup A occurred more frequently in 2009, followed by groups B1 and F, while the majority of the 44 isolates from 2021 were predominantly assigned to phylogroups A, B1, and F. Although the pathogenic groups (B2/D) were detected at a low frequency in both isolation years, it represents a significant risk factor to humans. The association between the *E. coli* phylogeny and MDR was determined (Fig. 8). In 2009, MDR occurred in 14 (42.4%) and 2 (6.1%) of isolates assigned to phylogroups A and E, respectively. All the isolates assigned to the remaining phylogroups were MDR. On the other hand, in 2021, 7 (15.9%), 9 (20.5%), 1 (2.3%), 5 (11.4%), and 8 (18.2%) of phylogroups A, B1, C, E, and F showed MDR phenotypes, respectively. All the four isolates assigned to pathogenic B2/D (9.1%) group also exhibited MDR traits.

les
samp
neat s
tail n
m re
d fro
olate
() is
=23
<i>i</i> (n
. col
ы Б Е
ıcin
prod
Ľ.
ESB
pC/
Am
of,
lity
tibi
cep
sus
ial
croł
imi
ant
pic
loty
her
- H
e 4
bl

All CAZ FEP FOX AIM 1 B1-A009 blarnsu, blarnsu, addA1 (R) (R) (S) (S) (S) (R) (R) 2 BH1-S008 blarnsu, blarnsu, addA1 (R) (R) (R) (S) (S) (S) (R) (R) <th>Anumere</th> <th>OLIAIS</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th>	Anumere	OLIAIS						
1 B1-M00 blarmst, blacrstat (R) (R) (S) (S) (S) (R) (R) 2 BH1-5088 blacrstats, blarmst, aadd11 (R) (R) <th>MEM AMK</th> <th>KAN</th> <th>TET</th> <th>CHL</th> <th>CIP</th> <th>SXT</th> <th>CST</th> <th>FOF</th>	MEM AMK	KAN	TET	CHL	CIP	SXT	CST	FOF
2 BH1-508 <i>blacrossis, blaresi, add1</i> (R) ((S) (S)	(R)	(R)	(S)	(S)	(R)	(S)	(S)
3 H3-A056 bfareau, bfareau (R) (R) (R) (R) (R) (S)	(S) (S)	(R)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(R)	(S)	(R)
4 K3-A121 <i>hlactions, blatmed</i> (R) (R) (R) (S) (S) (R) (R) 5 HT1-S097 <i>blactions, blatmed</i> (R) (R) (S) (S) (S) (S) (R) 6 HT3-S094 <i>blactions, addA1</i> (R) (R) (S)	(S) (S)	(R)	(R)	(S)	(S)	(R)	(S)	((S))
5 HT1-S097 blacrxaa3 (R) (R) (R) (S)	(S) (S)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(R)
6 HT3-S094 blacrows, and M (R)	(S) (S)	(R)	(R)	(S)	(S)	(R)	(S)	(S)
7 MT1-A128 blacreads (R) (R) (R) (R) (S) <	(S) (S)	(S)	(R)	(S)	(S)	(R)	(S)	(S)
8 E3-A018 blacrysats (R) (R) (S) <	(S) (S)	(S)	(R)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)
9 11-A076 blacressed (R) (S) (R) <	(S) (S)	(R)	(R)	(S)	(R)	(S)	(S)	(S)
10 3B-2B-1 blaxecat (s) (R) (S) (R) (R) </td <td>(S) (S)</td> <td>(S)</td> <td>(R)</td> <td>(R)</td> <td>(S)</td> <td>(R)</td> <td>(S)</td> <td>(S)</td>	(S) (S)	(S)	(R)	(R)	(S)	(R)	(S)	(S)
11 $3E-2E-1$ $blaccesie$ (R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)12 $138-2H-3$ $blaccesie2$ (R)(R)(R)(R)(S)(R)(S)(R)13 $139-2H4$ $blaccesie2$ (R)(R)(R)(S)(R)(S)(R)14 $156-9H-2$ $blaconv4, blarevi, aadB-orfl-ontif(R)(R)(R)(R)(S)(R)(R)15160-11H-1blaconv4, blarevi, aadB-orfl-ontif(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)16165-12H-3blaconv4, blacov4(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)16165-12H-3blaconv4, blacov4(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)17174-2H-1Xblaconv4(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)18261-3312-1blacors4(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)19263-3312-3blacors4, aadA1(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)20267-3411-2blacors4, aadA1(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)21269-3412-2blacors4, aadA1(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)22269-3412-2blacors4, aadA1(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)(R)23301-3612-1Xblacor$	(S) (S)	(S)	(S)	(R)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(R)
12 138-2H-3 blacrx _{M-2} (R) (R) (S) (R) (S) (R) (S) (R) 13 139-2H-4 blacrx _{M-2} (R) (R) (S) (R) (S) (R) 14 156-9H-2 blacwt-4 blark _{M-1} , aadB-off- onlA (R) (R) (R) (S) (R) (S) (R) 15 160-11H-1 blacwt-4, blark _{M-1} , aadB-off- onlA (R) (R) (R) (R) (R) (S) <	(S) (S)	(S)	(R)	(R)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(R)
13 139-2H-4 blaction (R) (R) (S) (R) (S) (R) 14 $156-9H-2$ blaction-4, blatine-1, aadB-orf1- oull (R) (R) (R) (S) (S) <td>(S) (S)</td> <td>(S)</td> <td>(S)</td> <td>(S)</td> <td>(S)</td> <td>(S)</td> <td>(S)</td> <td>(S)</td>	(S) (S)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)
14 156-9H-2 blacservet, blarmal, andA (R) (R) (S) ((S) (S)	(S)	(R)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)
15 160-11H-1 blasw-12, mcr-5.1 (R) (R) (R) (S) (S) (R) (R) 16 165-12H-3 blacw-4 (R) (R) (R) (R) (S)	(S) (S)	(R)	(R)	(R)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)
I6 $165-12H-3$ $blac_{MA-4}$ (R) (R	(S) (S)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(R)	(R)	(S)
17 $174-2H-1X$ $blacrx_{M-2}$ (R) (R) (S) (R) ((S) (S)	(S)	(R)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)
18 261-33J2-1 blacrest (R)	(S) (S)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)
19 263-3312-3 blachDc.26, blacres (R) (R) <t< td=""><td>(S) (S)</td><td>(R)</td><td>(R)</td><td>(R)</td><td>(S)</td><td>(S)</td><td>(S)</td><td>(R)</td></t<>	(S) (S)	(R)	(R)	(R)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(R)
20 267-34J1-2 blacrx.M.2, aadAl (R) (R) (S) (R) (S) (R)	(S) (S)	(R)	(S)	(R)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(R)
21 269-34J2-2 blacresses, aadAl (R) (R) (S) (R) (S) (R)	(S) (S)	(R)	(R)	(R)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)
22 $286-3612-1$ $bla_{CTX-M-2}$, $aadA1$ (R) (R) (S) (S) (S) (R) (R) (R) (R) (R) (R) (R) (R) (R) (R	(S) (S)	(R)	(R)	(R)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	(S) (S)	(S)	(R)	(R)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)
AMD: amnicillin CTV: cafotavima CA7: cafozidima FFD: cafanima FOV: cafovitin	(S) (S)	(R)	(R)	(R)	(S)	(S)	(S)	(S)
AUMI CAMPIONIN, CLAS. CONTAINS, CAZ. CONTAINED, LET CONDING, LON. CONTAIN,	, ATM: aztreo	nam, MEN	1: merope	enem, A	MK: ar	nikacin,	KAN: I	ƙanamyc
TET: tetracycline, CHL: chloramphenicol, CIP: ciprofloxacin, SXT: sulfamethoxazole/i	/trimethoprim,	CST: coli	stin, FOI	F: fosfo	mycin.	R: resist:	ant, S:	susceptil



Fig. 7. Occurrence of variable commensal and pathogenic phylogenetic groups of *E. coli* isolates from retail meat samples.



Fig. 8. Summary of phylogenetic groupings and the association between phylogroup and multidrug resistance.

4.7 Distribution of AMR genes according to phylogenetic groups

The detected AMR genes included bla_{CTX-M} (16.3%), bla_{SHV} (2.0%), bla_{TEM} (44.9%), AmpC-type β -lactamases (6.1%), and integrons (30.6%). Interestingly, these genes were closely associated with a particular *E. coli* phylogeny. The bla_{CTX-M} genes were mostly associated with A (6.1%) and E (4.1%) phylogroups. The bla_{TEM} genes were frequently identified in A (13.3%) and B (13.3%), and to some extent F (8.2%) phylogroup. In addition, integrons were also found to be more associated with A (11.2%) and F (8.2%), while none of B2, C, D, E, or F was positive for $bla_{SHV}/AmpC$. This study revealed high prevalence of AMR genes (37.8%) in isolates assigned to phylogroup A (Table 5).

Genotype/	otype/ Antimicrobial resistance genes (n=98)						
Phylogroup	bla _{CTX-M}	$bla_{\rm SHV}$	bla _{TEM}	AmpC	Integrons	10141	
A (%)	6 (6.1)	2 (2.0)	13 (13.3)	5 (5.1)	11 (11.2)	37 (37.8)	
B1 (%)	3 (3.1)	0 (0.0)	13 (13.3)	1 (1.0)	2 (2.0)	19 (19.4)	
B2 (%)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (2.0)	0 (0.00)	1 (1.0)	3 (3.1)	
C (%)	1 (1.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (2.0)	0 (0.00)	1 (1.0)	4 (4.1)	
D (%)	1 (1.0)	0 (0.0)	3 (3.1)	0 (0.00)	2 (2.0)	6 (6.1)	
E (%)	4 (4.1)	0 (0.0)	3 (3.1)	0 (0.00)	5 (5.1)	12 (12.2)	
F (%)	1 (1.0)	0 (0.0)	8 (8.2)	0 (0.00)	8 (8.2)	17 (17.3)	
Total (%)	16 (16.3)	2 (2.0)	44 (44.9)	6 (6.1)	30 (30.6)	98 (100)	

 Table 5. Distribution of antimicrobial resistance genes including ESBLs detected in *E. coli* isolates according to phylogenetic groups

5. Discussions

One of the most alarming issues of this century is the continuous spread of infections caused by resistant microorganisms, particularly multidrug-resistant bacterial pathogens (Ammar et al., 2021; Bendary et al., 2022). Unfortunately, there are insufficient reports on comprehensive antimicrobial surveillance in certain parts of Japan. Moreover, to the best of the authors' knowledge, no report has phylogenetically assigned *E. coli* isolated from meat in Higashihiroshima, Japan, using Clermont's phylogroup classification, including the newly proposed groups. Therefore, the prevalence of *E. coli* and its phylogenetic classification were assessed, as well as the variability of MDR bacteria among animal hosts.

In this study, 77 E. coli isolates were obtained from 185 meat samples including chicken, beef, pork, and wild meat. The prevalence rates of E. coli in samples from 2009 and 2021 were 34.7% and 48.9%, respectively (Table 1). Such an increase in the prevalence rate in 2021 highlights the possibility of increased cross-contamination or reduced implementation of strict manufacturing protocols in abattoir settings due to the large production scale to meet the increasing demand for meat consumption in recent years. However, the observed prevalence rates of E. coli in the two isolation years were lower compared to those previously reported in France (91.7%) (Casella et al., 2017), Thailand (78%) (Sornsenee et al., 2022), and Cameroon (73.33%) (Fanjip et al., 2022). Disparities in sampling methods, sampling sizes, isolation protocols, geographical location, or seasonal factors could account for the varied prevalence of E. coli among different countries. Meanwhile, AmpC/ESBL production among the *E. coli* isolates in the present study revealed that ESBL-producers were more prevalent in samples obtained in 2009 (42.4%, 14/33) compared to those obtained in 2021 (20.5%, 9/44) (Table 1). Moreover, multiple studies have genotyped ESBL-producing E. coli recovered from Japanese retail meat samples. Hiroi et al. (2012) reported 48 ESBL-producing E. coli isolates from broilers, cattle, and pigs in the Shizuoka Prefecture, Japan. In a study conducted in Osaka, Japan, Nahar et al. (2018) reported a total of 91% and 100% ESBL-producing *E. coli* from domestic and imported retail meat samples, respectively. Very recently, Nakayama et al. (2022) also reported 52% ESBL-producing *E. coli* in chickens. Our study revealed lower rates of such producers compared with other studies. In 2015, the World Health Assembly adopted a global action plan on AMR and called on each country to develop a National Action Plan (NAP) to prevent the global spread of AMR (World Health Organization, 2022). Japan has implemented NAP on antimicrobial resistance since April 2016, by outlining specific targets for antimicrobial use including those applied in livestock production (The government of Japan, 2020). It is possible that such action plan is impacting in certain prefectures of Japan as well as other countries, which might be associated with the reduced prevalence of ESBL-producing *E. coli* in 2021. Furthermore, the different regions of study and isolation years might have contributed to the varied patterns in the prevalence rates.

PCR and DNA sequencing revealed that *bla*_{CTX-M} genes (*bla*_{CTX-M-1}, *bla*_{CTX-M-2}, *bla*_{CTX-M-14}, *bla*_{CTX-M-15}, and *bla*_{CTX-M-like}) were common ESBL-types and were mostly associated with chicken isolates (Table 2). This observation was expected, and our results are in line with Hayashi et al. (2018) and Kawamura et al. (2014), who frequently detected *bla*_{CTX-M} in chicken meat samples in Japan. Similarly, a recent report in Singapore showed a high prevalence of chicken-derived CTX-M-producing *E. coli* (Guo et al., 2021). Cormier et al. (2019) frequently detected *bla*_{CTX-M-1} variants in chicken meat in Canada. Furthermore, all 29 *E. coli* isolates recovered from retail chicken meat in South Korea carried the *bla*_{CTX-M} gene and were found to hydrolyze cefotaxime (Kim et al., 2018). Such common detection of CTX-M producers mainly resulted from the worldwide off-label use of ceftiofur, an extended-spectrum cephalosporin of veterinary importance administered *in vivo* to treat bacterial infections in chickens (Casella et al., 2017). It is also possible that the frequency of

horizontal gene transfer of mobile genetic elements plays a significant role in the rapid dissemination of ESBLs (Verraes et al., 2013) including bla_{CTX-M} variants among chickens. It is worth mentioning that since wild meat is not commonly retailed in the current region of study, we were unable to obtain representative number, which reduced the probability of detecting AMR genes. As such, we identified this as a limitation to our study.

Interestingly, our study could not detect ESBL-producing E. coli in pork or beef (Tables 1 and 2). Hence, cephalosporin resistance was not observed in these isolates. The Nippon AMR One Health Report (NAOR) 2020 reported the resistance rate of cefotaxime among E. coli isolates from healthy cattle and pigs to be 0%. The results of the present study are in line with those of the NAOR. Of note, all the *bla*_{CTX-M} genes detected in 2009 were *bla*_{CTX-M-2} and represented 16.7% of the total AMR genes analyzed in that year. Comparative genotypic analysis between 2009 and 2021 showed a 3% decrease (19.0% vs. 16.1%) (pvalue >0.05) in ESBL prevalence among the total AMR genes analyzed (Fig. 4). Therefore, our data to some extent confirmed that the acquisition and transmission of ESBL-resistance traits of E. coli to food animals did not significantly occur between the two years of study in Higashihiroshima, Japan. However, there was a significant difference (p-value = 0.00) in the prevalence of the *bla*_{TEM} gene (60.7%) recorded in 2021 compared to the 23.8% detected in 2009, suggesting that the continuous use of penicillin is triggering the selective pressure on E. coli populations, resulting in the rapid evolution and dissemination TEM enzymes along the meat value chain. Integrons are site-specific recombination systems that carry modular gene cassette structures and are capable of integrating into core bacterial genomes (Zhu et al., 2014). They confer antimicrobial resistance, particularly to aminoglycosides, trimethoprim, chloramphenicol, and quaternary ammonium ions. The common types of integron gene cassettes were mostly from class 1 and occurred in 27 (35.1%) of E. coli isolates (Table 2). Such high detection of class 1 integrons is not surprising, since they are described as the most

prevalent and are linked to antimicrobial resistance in gram-negative bacteria (Otero-Olarra et al., 2020). Among the 98 AMR genes, approximately 31% were integron positive, with higher prevalence occurring in 2009 (40.5%) in comparison to that in 2021 (23.2%) (Fig. 4) but without significant difference (p>0.05).

The rapid and global spread of resistance mechanisms in gram-negative bacteria is the main cause of increased antimicrobial resistance. In this context, we investigated the susceptibility of these isolates to antimicrobials commonly used in therapeutic practices. All isolates demonstrated resistance to at least one antimicrobial. Maximum resistance to ampicillin, tetracycline, kanamycin, and sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim was observed, and was found to be higher in 2021 than in 2009. These antimicrobials, as well as other aminoglycosides and, to a lesser extent, fluoroquinolones and chloramphenicol, have been used for animal production in Japan for many years (Harada and Asai, 2010). The continuous use of such antimicrobials may be one cause of the elevated resistance in 2021. In another study, high resistance to ampicillin, tetracycline, chloramphenicol, and cefoxitin was recorded (Bendary et al., 2022). Furthermore, a study conducted by Nahar et al. (2018) in Osaka, Japan also reported high rates of resistance, especially against ampicillin, tetracycline, and chloramphenicol. Nonetheless, there was a higher prevalence of resistance to third and fourth generation cephalosporins, as well as cefoxitin and aztreonam, in 2009 than in 2021 (Fig. 5). There was a significant difference (p < 0.05) in resistance against cefotaxime, cefoxitin, aztreonam, and kanamycin between the two years. According to NAOR 2020, third generation cefotaxime resistance rates among E. coli from healthy chickens increased from 1.5% in 2012 to 4.8% in 2013 but have steadily decreased to 4.1% and 2.2% in 2014 and 2015, respectively. In the following year, there was a temporal increase in the rate of resistance to cefotaxime (5.7%), which decreased again to 4.7% in 2017 and 3.2% in 2018. The decreasing trend in cephalosporin resistance observed in the current comparative study is

in line with that of NAOR. It is also possible that the implementation of voluntary restrictions on the use of third generation cephalosporins in vaccine manufacturing in the poultry industry since 2012 has resulted in a decreased incidence of cephalosporin resistance among E. coli isolates from chickens (Hayashi et al., 2018; Hiki et al., 2015). Meanwhile, in the same NAOR 2020 statistics, resistance to ampicillin, tetracycline, and kanamycin among E. coli isolated from healthy animals (cattle, pig, and chickens), ranged from 11.6% to 36.1%, 26.5% to 55.4%, and 0.0% to 43.9%, respectively, in contrast to those recorded in this study. Even though the resultant level of resistance may vary depending on the location, experimental technique, or animal species under investigation, this report could be of significance when implementing measures to curb the spread of antimicrobial resistance. Alarmingly, MDR occurred in 60 of 77 (77.9%) E. coli isolates (Table 3). Comparative phenotypic analysis showed that there was insignificant difference (p-value >0.05) in the occurrence of MDR among E. coli isolates between 2009 (78.8%) and 2021 (77.3%), suggesting that there is a high propensity for increased MDR E. coli transmission in the future if the existing preventive measures are compromised. Molecular characterization of E. coli in 2009 in Hiroshima prefecture reported that 28 out of 69 (40.6%) isolates showed MDR (Ahmed et al., 2009), which was lower compared to those isolated in the same year in Higashihiroshima. In this study, we selected only E. coli isolates possessing AMR genes, which could be a cause of the high MDR patterns. Additionally, the high prevalence can be ascribed to multiple resistance mechanisms such as the overexpression of multidrug efflux pumps and enzymatic hydrolysis of drugs, leading to the displacement of a functional chemical group (Catalano et al., 2022).

Phylogenetic analysis, performed according to the Clermont scheme, revealed considerable variability among the *E. coli* isolates tested (Fig. 7). The most prevalent phylogroups were A, B1, and F, whereas phylogroup B2 was the least commonly identified in

the two isolation years. Notably, there was a higher proportion of human commensal A phylogroups in 2009 compared to that in 2021. This signifies that contamination by human transmission has continuously declined, possibly due to the extra hygienic practices implemented in abattoir settings. Moreover, our findings also revealed that the avirulent B1 and F groups, which are mostly associated with animal hosts, predominated in 2021, indicating that animal-animal transmission of such E. coli phylogroups may continue to increase if stringent control measures are not implemented in the animal industry. A similar study reported a major proportion of A and B1 phylogroups among eight proposed groups in the Clermont scheme (Sarowska et al., 2022). These phylogroups are mostly commensal and frequently identified in human and animal hosts. The majority of extra-intestinal E. coli strains belong to phylogroups B2 or D, and they appear to possess more virulent factors than A and B1; nevertheless, some members in the latter groups have been found to be associated with systemic infections (Corzo-Ariyama et al., 2019). Although the detection of pathogenic extra-intestinal E. coli in this study was low, its existence in food represents a significant risk factor and highlights the potential source of cross-contamination in the human food value chain. Furthermore, MDR frequently occurred in all the phylogroups. The isolates assigned to the avirulent A and B1 phylogroups were characterized by high MDR patterns, followed by F in the two isolation years (Fig. 8). These findings are in accordance with a previous study that reported that avirulent A and B1 groups have a greater propensity to develop MDR (Mataseje et al., 2009). Notably, all E. coli isolates assigned to groups B2 or D exhibited MDR (Table 3 and Fig 8) and were found to carry either the β -lactamase gene or integron cassette arrays (Table 5). It is worth mentioning that pathogenic B2 has a lower trend towards antimicrobial resistance (Pereira et al., 2013) and the low detection in this study leaves its pattern of resistance unclear, even though all isolates of the group showed MDR phenotypes.

6. Conclusions

In summary, our findings revealed a high prevalence of MDR *E. coli* with the detection of a higher occurrence of AmpC/ESBLs in 2009 compared to the 2021 isolation year. Comparative characterization of *E. coli* phylogenetic groups and their association with antimicrobial resistance was confirmed for the first time in Higashihiroshima, Japan. Our findings suggest a potential transmission route for AmpC/ESBLs genes and MDR bacteria of diverse phylogroups from retail meat to humans. Furthermore, this study highlights the role of meat as a reservoir of *E. coli* and emphasizes the importance of continuous monitoring to track the changes in the spread of antimicrobial resistance in the food chain. It could also be of practical importance for food processors to undertake corrective and preventive measures regarding the implementation of safety management systems and good manufacturing practices in Higashihiroshima and Japan as a whole. Future research avenues should consider large sample sizes from more sampling locations to draw a definitive conclusion.

Bibliography

- Ahmed, A.M., Motoi, Y., Sato, M., Maruyama, A., Watanabe, H., Fukumoto, Y., Shimamoto, T., 2007. Zoo animals as reservoirs of gram-negative bacteria harboring integrons and antimicrobial resistance genes. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 73, 6686–6690. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01054-07
- Ahmed, A.M., Shimabukuro, H., Shimamoto, T., 2009. Isolation and molecular characterization of multidrug-resistant strains of *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella* from retail chicken meat in Japan. J. Food Sci. 74, M405–M410. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2009.01291.x
- Ahmed, A.M., Shimamoto, T., Shimamoto, T., 2014. Characterization of integrons and resistance genes in multidrug-resistant *Salmonella enterica* isolated from meat and

dairy products in Egypt. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 189, 39–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2014.07.031

- Ammar, A.M., Abd El-Hamid, M.I., El-Malt, R.M.S., Azab, D.S., Albogami, S., Al-Sanea, M.M., Soliman, W.E., Ghoneim, M.M., Bendary, M.M., 2021. Molecular detection of fluoroquinolone resistance among multidrug-, extensively drug-, and pan-drug-resistant *Campylobacter* species in Egypt. Antibiotics 10, 1342. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics10111342
- Bendary, M.M., Abdel-Hamid, M.I., Alshareef, W.A., Alshareef, H.M., Mosbah, R.A., Omar, N.N., Al-Sanea, M.M., Alhomrani, M., Alamri, A.S., Moustafa, W.H., 2022.
 Comparative analysis of human and animal *E. coli*: serotyping, antimicrobial resistance, and virulence gene profiling. Antibiotics 11, 552. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics11050552
- Borowiak, M., Baumann, B., Fischer, J., Thomas, K., Deneke, C., Hammerl, J.A., Szabo, I.,
 Malorny, B., 2020. Development of a novel *mcr-6* to *mcr-9* multiplex PCR and assessment of *mcr-1* to *mcr-9* occurrence in colistin-resistant *Salmonella enterica* isolates from environment, feed, animals and food (2011–2018) in Germany. Front. Microbiol. 11, 80. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.00080
- Carlos, C., Pires, M.M., Stoppe, N.C., Hachich, E.M., Sato, M.I., Gomes, T.A., Amaral, L.A.,
 Ottoboni, L.M., 2010. *Escherichia coli* phylogenetic group determination and its application in the identification of the major animal source of fecal contamination.
 BMC Microbiol. 10. 161. http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2180/10/161
- Casella, T., Nogueira, M.C.L., Saras, E., Haenni, M., Madec, J.-Y., 2017. High prevalence of ESBLs in retail chicken meat despite reduced use of antimicrobials in chicken production, France. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 257, 271–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2017.07.005

- Catalano, A., Iacopetta, D., Ceramella, J., Scumaci, D., Giuzio, F., Saturnino, C., Aquaro, S., Rosano, C., Sinicropi, M.S., 2022. Multidrug Resistance (MDR): A widespread phenomenon in pharmacological therapies. Molecules 27, 616. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27030616
- Clermont, O., Christenson, J.K., Gordon, D.M., 2013. The Clermont *Escherichia coli* phylotyping method revisited: improvement of specificity and detection of new phylogroups. Environ. Microbiol. Reports 5, 58-65. https://doi.org/10.1111/1758-2229.12019
- CLSI, 2018. Performance standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing, 28th edition informational supplement. Clinical laboratory standard institute M100
- Cormier, A., Zhang, P.L.C., Chalmers, G., Weese, J.S., Deckert, A., Mulvey, M., McAllister,
 T., Boerlin, P., 2019. Diversity of CTX-M-positive *Escherichia coli* recovered from animals in Canada. Vet. Microbiol 231, 71–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2019.02.031
- Corzo-Ariyama, H.A., García-Heredia, A., Heredia, N., García, S., León, J., Jaykus, L., Solís-Soto, L., 2019. Phylogroups, pathotypes, biofilm formation and antimicrobial resistance of *Escherichia coli* isolates in farms and packing facilities of tomato, jalapeño pepper and cantaloupe from Northern Mexico. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 290, 96–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2018.10.006
- European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing. Breakpoint tables for interpretation of MICs and zone diameters. Version 13.0, 2023. http://www.eucast.org.
- Fanjip, J.L.T., Chedjou, J.P.K., Netongo, P.M., Eyébé, S., Cyrille, M.M., Ekollo, A., Ngum,
 N.L., Nsa'amang, C.E., Alkaïssou, A.H., Mbacham, W.F., 2022. Characterization by
 PCR of *Escherichia coli* from beef and chicken used in restaurants in Yaounde
 Cameroon. J. Biol. Med. 10, 54–63. https://doi.org/10.4236/jbm.2022.105005

- Gawish, M.F., Ahmed, A.M., Torky, H.A., Shimamoto, T., 2021. Prevalence of extendedspectrum β-lactamase (ESBL)-producing *Salmonella enterica* from retail fishes in Egypt: A major threat to public health. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 351, 109268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2021.109268
- Guo, S., Aung, K.T., Leekitcharoenphon, P., Tay, M.Y.F., Seow, K.L.G., Zhong, Y., Ng, L.C., Aarestrup, F.M., Schlundt, J., 2021. Prevalence and genomic analysis of ESBLproducing *Escherichia coli* in retail raw meats in Singapore. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 76, 601–605. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkaa461
- Harada, K., Asai, T., 2010. Role of antimicrobial selective pressure and secondary factors on antimicrobial resistance prevalence in *Escherichia coli* from food-producing animals in Japan. J. Biomed. Biotech. 2010, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/180682
- Hayashi, W., Ohsaki, Y., Taniguchi, Y., Koide, S., Kawamura, K., Suzuki, M., Kimura, K., Wachino, J., Nagano, Y., Arakawa, Y., Nagano, N., 2018. High prevalence of *bla*_{CTX-M-14} among genetically diverse *Escherichia coli* recovered from retail raw chicken meat portions in Japan. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 284, 98–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2018.08.003
- Hiki, M., Kawanishi, M., Abo, H., Kojima, A., Koike, R., Hamamoto, S., Asai, T., 2015. Decreased resistance to broad-spectrum cephalosporin in *Escherichia coli* from healthy broilers at farms in Japan after voluntary withdrawal of ceftiofur. Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 12, 639–643. https://doi.org/10.1089/fpd.2015.1960
- Hiroi, M., Yamazaki, F., Harada, T., Takahashi, N., Iida, N., Noda, Y., Yagi, M., Nishio, T., Kanda, T., Kawamori, F., Sugiyama, K., Masuda, T., Hara-Kudo, Y., Ohashi, N., N., 2012. Prevalence of extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* in food-producing animals. J. Vet. Med. Sci. 74, 189–195. 10.1292/jvms.11-0372

- Islam, Md.S., Nayeem, Md.M.H., Sobur, Md.A., Ievy, S., Islam, Md.A., Rahman, S., Kafi, Md.A., Ashour, H.M., Rahman, Md.T., 2021. Virulence determinants and multidrug resistance of *Escherichia coli* isolated from migratory birds. Antibiotics 10, 190. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics10020190
- Jousset, A.B., Bernabeu, S., Bonnin, R.A., Creton, E., Cotellon, G., Sauvadet, A., Naas, T., Dortet, L., 2019. Development and validation of a multiplex polymerase chain reaction assay for detection of the five families of plasmid-encoded colistin resistance.
 Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 53, 302–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2018.10.022
- Kanokudom, S., Assawakongkarat, T., Akeda, Y., Ratthawongjirakul, P., Chuanchuen, R., Chaichanawongsaroj, N., 2021. Rapid detection of extended spectrum β-lactamase producing *Escherichia coli* isolated from fresh pork meat and pig cecum samples using multiplex recombinase polymerase amplification and lateral flow strip analysis. PLoS One 16, e0248536. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0248536
- Kawamura, K., Goto, K., Nakane, K., Arakawa, Y., 2014. Molecular epidemiology of extended-spectrum β-Lactamases and *Escherichia coli* isolated from retail foods including chicken meat in Japan. Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 11, 104–110. https://doi.org/10.1089/fpd.2013.1608
- Kim, Y.-J., Moon, J.-S., Oh, D.-H., Chon, J.-W., Song, B.-R., Lim, J.-S., Heo, E.-J., Park, H.-J., Wee, S.-H., Sung, K., 2018. Genotypic characterization of ESBL-producing *E. coli* from imported meat in South Korea. Food Res. Inter. 107, 158–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2017.12.023
- Laird, T.J., Abraham, S., Jordan, D., Pluske, J.R., Hampson, D.J., Trott, D.J., O'Dea, M.,
 2021. Porcine enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*: Antimicrobial resistance and
 development of microbial-based alternative control strategies. Vet. Microbiol. 258,

109117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2021.109117

- Livermore, D.M., Hawkey, P.M., 2005. CTX-M: changing the face of ESBLs in the UK. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 56, 451–454. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dki239
- Magiorakos, A.-P., Srinivasan, A., Carey, R.B., Carmeli, Y., Falagas, M.E., Giske, C.G., Harbarth, S., Hindler, J.F., Kahlmeter, G., Olsson-Liljequist, B., Paterson, D.L., Rice, L.B., Stelling, J., Struelens, M.J., Vatopoulos, A., Weber, J.T., Monnet, D.L., 2012.
 Multidrug-resistant, extensively drug-resistant and pandrug-resistant bacteria: an international expert proposal for interim standard definitions for acquired resistance. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 18, 268–281. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2011.03570.x
- Mataseje, L.F., Neumann, N., Crago, B., Baudry, P., Zhanel, G.G., Louie, M., Mulvey, M.R., 2009. Characterization of cefoxitin-resistant *Escherichia coli* isolates from recreational beaches and private drinking water in Canada between 2004 and 2006. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 53, 3126–3130. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.01353-08
- Mateus-Vargas, R.H., Atanassova, V., Reich, F., Klein, G., 2017. Antimicrobial susceptibility and genetic characterization of *Escherichia coli* recovered from frozen game meat. Food Microbiol. 63, 164–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2016.11.013
- Nahar, A., Awasthi, S.P., Hatanaka, N., Okuno, K., Hoang, P.H., Hassan, J., Hinenoya, A., Yamasaki, S., 2018. Prevalence and characteristics of extended-spectrum β-lactamaseproducing *Escherichia coli* in domestic and imported chicken meats in Japan. J. Vet. Med. Sci. 80, 510–517. https://doi.org/10.1292/jvms.17-0708
- Nakayama, T., Le Thi, H., Thanh, P.N., Minh, D.T.N., Hoang, O.N., Hoai, P.H., Yamaguchi,
 T., Jinnai, M., Do, P.N., Van, C.D., Kumeda, Y., Hase, A., 2022. Abundance of
 colistin-resistant *Escherichia coli* harbouring *mcr-1* and extended-spectrum β-

lactamase-producing *E. coli* co-harbouring *bla*_{CTX-M-55} or ₋₆₅ with *bla*_{TEM} isolates from chicken meat in Vietnam. Arch. Microbiol. 204, 137. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-021-02746-0

- Orubu, E.S.F., Zaman, M.H., Rahman, M.T., Wirtz, V.J., 2020. Veterinary antimicrobial resistance containment in Bangladesh: Evaluating the national action plan and scoping the evidence on implementation. J. Global Antimicrob. Resist. 21, 105–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jgar.2019.09.020
- Otero-Olarra, J.E., Curiel-Quesada, E., Baltazar-Cruz, J., Aguilera-Arreola, Ma.G., Pérez-Valdespino, A., 2020. Low cassette variability in class 2 and class 1 integrons of *Aeromonas* spp. isolated from environmental samples. Microb. Drug Resist. 26, 794– 801. https://doi.org/10.1089/mdr.2019.0250
- Ouchar Mahamat, O., Kempf, M., Lounnas, M., Tidjani, A., Hide, M., Benavides, J.A., Carrière, C., Bañuls, A.-L., Jean-Pierre, H., Ouedraogo, A.-S., Dumont, Y., Godreuil, S., 2021. Epidemiology and prevalence of extended-spectrum β-lactamase- and carbapenemase-producing *Enterobacteriaceae* in humans, animals and the environment in West and Central Africa. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 57, 106203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2020.106203
- Partridge, S.R., Kwong, S.M., Firth, N., Jensen, S.O., 2018. Mobile genetic elements associated with antimicrobial resistance. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 31, e00088-17. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00088-17
- Pereira, A., Santos, A., Tacão, M., Alves, A., Henriques, I., Correia, A., 2013. Genetic diversity and antimicrobial resistance of *Escherichia coli* from Tagus estuary (Portugal). Sci. Total Environ. 461–462, 65–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.04.067

Poirel, L., Walsh, T.R., Cuvillier, V., Nordmann, P., 2011. Multiplex PCR for detection of

acquired carbapenemase genes. Diagnostic Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 70, 119–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2010.12.002

- Poirel, L., Madec, J.-Y., Lupo, A., Schink, A.-K., Kieffer, N., Nordmann, P., Schwarz, S., 2018. Antimicrobial resistance in *Escherichia coli*. Microbiol. Spectr. 6, ARBA-0026-2017 6.4.14. https://doi.org/10.1128/microbiolspec.ARBA-0026-2017
- Rodloff, A., Bauer, T., Ewig, S., Kujath P., Müller E., 2008. Susceptible, Intermediate, and Resistant–The intensity of antibiotic action. Deutsches Arzteblatt Int. 105, 657–62. 10.3238/arztebl.2008.0657
- Sadek, M., Soliman, A.M., Nariya, H., Shimamoto, T., Shimamoto, T., 2021. Genetic characterization of carbapenemase-producing *Enterobacter cloacae* complex and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* of food of animal origin from Egypt. Microb. Drug Resist. 27, 196–203. https://doi.org/10.1089/mdr.2019.0405
- Saravanan, M., Ramachandran, B., Barabadi, H., 2018. The prevalence and drug resistance pattern of extended spectrum β–lactamases (ESBLs) producing *Enterobacteriaceae* in Africa. Microb. Pathog. 114, 180–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2017.11.061
- Sarowska, J., Olszak, T., Jama-Kmiecik, A., Frej-Madrzak, M., Futoma-Koloch, B., Gawel,
 A., Drulis-Kawa, Z., Choroszy-Krol, I., 2022. Comparative characteristics and pathogenic potential of *Escherichia coli* isolates originating from poultry farms, retail meat, and human urinary tract infection. Life 12, 845. https://doi.org/10.3390/life12060845
- Sodagari, H.R., Wang, P., Robertson, I., Abraham, S., Sahibzada, S., Habib, I., 2021. Antimicrobial resistance and genomic characterisation of *Escherichia coli* isolated from caged and non-caged retail table eggs in Western Australia. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 340, 109054. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2021.109054

Soliman, A.M., Nariya, H., Tanaka, D., Shimamoto, T., Shimamoto, T., 2023. A novel single-

tube eicosaplex/octaplex PCR system for the detection of extended-Spectrum β -lactamases, plasmid-mediated AmpC β -lactamases, and integrons in Gram-negative bacteria. Antibiotics 12, 90. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics12010090

- Sornsenee, P., Chimplee, S., Arbubaker, A., Kongchai, S., Madimong, H., Romyasamit, C., 2022. Occurrence, antimicrobial resistance profile, and characterization of extendedspectrum β-lactamase–producing *Escherichia coli* isolates from minced meat at local markets in Thailand. Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 19, 232–240. https://doi.org/10.1089/fpd.2021.0059
- The government of Japan National Action Plan (NAP) on antimicrobial resistance, 2016-2020. https://www.mhlw.go.jp/file/06-Seisakujouhou-10900000-Kenkoukyoku/0000138942.pdf (accessed on 30th January 2023)
- Verraes, C., Van Boxstael, S., Van Meervenne, E., Van Coillie, E., Butaye, P., Catry, B., de Schaetzen, M.-A., Van Huffel, X., Imberechts, H., Dierick, K., Daube, G., Saegerman, C., De Block, J., Dewulf, J., Herman, L., 2013. Antimicrobial resistance in the food chain: A review. IJERPH 10, 2643–2669. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10072643
- Xedzro, C., Tano-Debrah, K., Nakano, H., 2022. Antibacterial efficacies and time-kill kinetics of indigenous Ghanaian spice extracts against *Listeria monocytogenes* and some other food-borne pathogenic bacteria. Microbiol. Res. 258, 126980. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2022.126980
- World Health Organization. Global action on antimicrobial resistance. 2022. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240041981 (accessed on 30th January 20239)
- Zhang, Y.L., Huang, F.-Y., Gan, L.-L., Yu, X., Cai, D.-J., Fang, J., Zhong, Z., Guo, H., Xie, Y.,
 Yi, J., Wang, Z., Zuo, Z.-C., 2021. High prevalence of *bla*_{CTX-M} and *bla*_{SHV} among
 ESBL producing *E. coli* isolates from beef cattle in China's Sichuan-Chongqing

Circle. Sci. Rep. 11, 13725. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-93201-z

Zhu, Y., Yi, Y., Liu, F., Lv, N., Yang, X., Li, J., Hu, Y., Zhu, B., 2014. Distribution and molecular profiling of class 1 integrons in MDR *Acinetobacter baumannii* isolates and whole genome-based analysis of antibiotic resistance mechanisms in a representative strain. Microbiol. Res. 169, 811–816. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2014.04.002

Chapter 3

Molecular and phenotypic characterization of antimicrobial resistance among members of Enterobacterales and non-Enterobacterales isolated from retail meat in Japan

1. Summary

β-lactamase mediated antimicrobial resistance (AMR) in Gram-negative bacteria has been recognized as a significant public health threat that requires immediate attention. Herein, we aimed to characterize the genetic determinants of AMR, including β-lactamases in Gramnegative bacterial isolates recovered from retail meat in Higashihiroshima, Japan. Eicosaplex/octaplex PCR was performed to detect the AMR determinants present in meat isolates collected in 2009 and 2021. Mobile colistin resistance genes (*mcr*) and acquired carbapenemases were also investigated, and the susceptibility of the isolates to antimicrobials was assessed. Plasmid replicon typing, which has not been previously investigated, was performed to characterize any plasmids that might be associated with horizontal gene transfer of extended-spectrum β-lactamases (ESBLs) in ESBL-producing *Escherichia coli*.

The predominant bacterial isolates included *E. coli*, *Rhanella* spp., *Klebsiella* spp., *Salmonella* spp., *Enterobacter* spp., *Hafnia* spp., *Serratia* spp., *Citrobacter* spp., *Morganella* spp., *Acinetobacter* spp., *Pseudomonas* spp., and *Aeromonas* spp. Within 120 isolates of 2009, 72% (n=86) genetic determinants of β -lactam resistance were identified, while 74% (93/125) were found in the 2021 isolates. Extended-spectrum β -lactam resistance determinants (*bla*_{CTX-M} or *bla*_{SHV}) were found in 10 (12/120) and 29.6% (37/125) of 2009 and 2021 isolates, respectively, with *bla*_{RHAN-1/2} (9.6%) of the CTX-M group being the most prevalent ESBL resistance gene in 2021. AmpC β -lactamases were detected in 41.7 (50/120) and 15.2% (19/125) of 2009 and 2021 isolates, respectively. We found 6 colistin-resistant isolates carrying the *mcr* gene, whereas a single strain of *Shewanella xiamenesis* isolated in 2021

harbored $bla_{OXA-48-like}$ carbapenemase-encoding gene. Overall, the most common clinical resistance was observed against ampicillin, cefotaxime, cefoxitin, aztreonam, kanamycin, tetracycline, sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim, chloramphenicol, and fosfomycin. PCR-based replicon typing revealed that the most common plasmid incompatibility groups in ESBL-producing *E. coli* were IncI1, IncFIB, and IncFrepB. To the best of our knowledge, this study reports the first molecular characterization of AmpC β -lactamases within members of Enterobacterales and non-Enterobacterales isolated from retail meat in Higashihiroshima, Japan.

Our study suggests the potential transfer of AMR determinants from food to humans, which warrants particular attention in meat and food industries. To overcome this threat, it is important to develop strategies for the periodic surveillance of AMR along the meat chain and to understand the genetic basis of transmission.

Keywords: Enterobacterales, Non-Enterobacterales, Extended-spectrum β -lactamase, Meat, Japan

2. Introduction

The global resurgence of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) has been widely recognized. Over the decades, antimicrobials have been widely used in veterinary medicine for therapeutic and prophylactic purposes to improve animal yield (Gawish et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2022). However, the inappropriate use of antimicrobials has resulted in an elevated incidence of multidrug-resistant microorganisms (Cooper et al., 2020), owing to selective pressure favoring the evolution and dissemination of antimicrobial-resistant bacteria in animal and human populations (Abd El-Aziz et al., 2021; Watanabe et al., 2023). AMR is a public health issue owing to the continuous occurrence of multidrug resistance (MDR) traits, particularly among gram-negative bacteria in healthcare settings (Galarde-López et al., 2022). MDR Gram-negative bacteria have been reported as one of the most life-threatening situations worldwide because they can cause a variety of difficult-to-treat infections (Khalifa et al., 2019; Worku et al., 2022). Without effective antimicrobial applications in humans, mortality and spread of infectious diseases will continue to increase beyond imagination. Hence, AMR surveillance programs have been useful in providing updated information on the emergence and changes in AMR in the food and animal production continuum.

Extended-spectrum β -lactamases (ESBLs), plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance genes, and AmpC β -lactamases have been frequently detected in Enterobacterales, rendering clinical resistance to broad-spectrum cephalosporins and fluoroquinolones (Janatova et al., 2014). There is growing evidence of the occurrence of bacteria expressing resistance to β lactams and fluoroquinolones in animal populations (Hayashi et al., 2018; Khalifa et al., 2019; Worku et al., 2022). Notably, the rapid dissemination of ESBLs is considered as a global concern because it poses a greater threat to the human food supply chain, hospitals, and community settings (Burgess et al., 2021; Hayashi et al., 2018). ESBLs include a group of β -lactamase-encoding genes that hydrolyze penicillin, oxyimino-cephalosporins (third and fourth generation cephalosporins), and monobactams, but spare carbapenems. They are inhibited by β -lactamase inhibitor, such as clavulanic acid. The major ESBL groups include TEM, SHV, and CTX-M and are associated with the occurrence of MDR phenotypes among gram-negative bacteria (Hayashi et al., 2018; Kłos et al., 2022). Currently, the recommended treatment options for complicated infections caused by MDR bacterial pathogens include extended-spectrum cephalosporins and quinolones (Adel et al., 2021), as the resistance to older antimicrobials continues to increase. However, the continuous spread of ESBLs has challenged the effectiveness of critically important antimicrobials (CIA), resulting in severe treatment failure. Thus, the potential risks to public health posed by MDR Gram-negative bacteria necessitate the need for an integrative One Health concept for antimicrobial surveillance along the meat value chain.

AmpC β-lactamases have received limited attention, but are now identified as a problem in Gram-negatives due to their high hydrolytic activities on third generation cephalosporins (Rensing et al., 2019; Sukmawinata et al., 2020). Bacteria overexpressing AmpC β-lactamases often render clinical resistance to all β-lactams, or β-lactam/β-lactamaseinhibitor combinations, with the exception of cefepime or cefpirome and is considered as a critical clinical concern, because such bacteria usually exhibit MDR phenotypes (Koga et al., 2019; Robatjazi et al., 2021). These were initially thought to be chromosome-mediated and occurred mostly in *Enterobacter* spp., *Serratia* spp., *Providencia* spp., *Morganella morganii, Citrobacter freundii*, and *Hafnia alvei*. However, plasmid-borne AmpC β-lactamases have also been reported in several species of Gram-negative bacteria such as *Escherichia coli, Salmonella* spp., and *Klebsiella* spp. (Burgess et al., 2021; El-aziz et al., 2022; Koga et al., 2019; Robatjazi et al., 2021; Tran et al., 2021).

In Japan, penicillin, tetracycline, sulfonamides, and aminoglycosides are used as veterinary drugs and feed additives in animal husbandry (Watanabe et al., 2023). Nonetheless,

there are concerns regarding the selective pressure from antibiotics that accelerates the evolution of resistant pathogens. Notably, such resistant pathogens with the production of ESBLs/AmpC β-lactamases have been reported in food, food-producing animals, and companion animals in Japan (Nakayama et al., 2022; Norizuki et al., 2018; Xedzro et al., 2023; Yasugi et al., 2021). These studies mainly focused on E. coli excluding other groups of gram-negative bacteria. Moreover, robust AMR data in the field is still limited; thus, periodic antimicrobial surveillance along the food chain remains underexplored in certain parts of Japan. This warrants major consideration, as other Gram-negative bacteria that are becoming more deadly are excluded without particular interest. Systematic AMR monitoring at the local and national levels is an integral part of the control strategy to curb the national and international spread of emerging resistance traits in humans and animals. Although AMR surveillance programs have shown an increase in overall Enterobacteriaceae resistance over time (Cooper et al., 2020; Huang et al., 2022), resistance rates vary between geographical regions and also among different species. Such a correlation among AMR, geographical region, and bacterial species of interest is extremely important for assessing the prevalence trends and impact of AMR on human health. It is important to mention that annual data on AMR for future monitoring of AMR trends in the current region of study are unknown, which makes it impossible to determine whether existing policies to curb AMR are effective (Xedzro et al., 2023).

Therefore, under the One Health approach, it is crucial to undertake surveillance studies to identify the genetic elements associated with drug resistance among Gram-negative bacteria to control the transmission of such bacteria to humans. Accordingly, this study characterized the prevalence of AMR determinants in a collection of Gram-negative bacterial isolates from retail meat. Comparative profiling was also conducted to assess the changes in AMR occurring among Gram-negative bacteria from two separate years of study in Higashihiroshima, Japan.

3. Materials and methods

3.1 Study design, sampling plan, and bacterial isolates

A detailed description of the study location, sampling procedures, and bacterial isolation technique has been described previously (Xedzro et al., 2023). A total of 880 bacterial isolates were obtained over an 8-month period (May to December 2021) on MacConkey agar (Eiken Chemical Co., Ltd., Tochigi, Japan) containing ampicillin (100 μ g/mL), streptomycin (50 μ g/mL), meropenem (2 μ g/mL), or colistin (2 μ g/mL). This study also included 303 gram-negative bacterial isolates recovered from meat samples collected in 2009 from the same region.

3.2 Molecular detection of AMR genes

Extended-spectrum β -lactamase-encoding genes (*bla*_{SHV}, and *bla*_{CTX-M}), other β -lactamases (*bla*_{TEM}, *bla*_{OXA-1}, *bla*_{OXA-2}, *bla*_{OXA-9}, and AmpC β -lactamases), integrons (class 1, 2, class 3), and aminoglycoside acetyltransferase gene, *aac*(*6*)-*lb* were previously amplified (Xedzro et al., 2023) using eicosaplex PCR (Soliman et al., 2020). Mobile colistin resistance genes (*mcr*-*1* to -*9*) (for all 2009 and 2021 isolates selected on MacConkey agar containing colistin) and acquired carbapenemases were also amplified. We then selected all AmpC β -lactamase producers for further characterization. Additionally, all bacterial isolates other than *E. coli* that were sequenced, but not reported in our previous study, were selected and included in subsequent analyses.

3.3 Genetic determination of plasmid-mediated AmpC β -lactamases (octaplex PCR)

Bacterial isolates that showed ~374 bp fragments as a result of eicosaplex PCR were selected and further characterized using octaplex PCR (Soliman et al., 2023) for the molecular detection of plasmid-mediated AmpC β -lactamases (pAmpC). The PCR system detected six different pAmpC families (DHA, CMY/LAT, ACT/MIR, MOX, FOX, and ACC), and intrinsic ADC and PDC in *Acinetobacter* and *Pseudomonas*, respectively. Positive isolates were selected and confirmed using single PCR. The thermal cycling conditions were the same (Xedzro et al., 2023), except for the annealing temperature, which was modified to 57.5 °C (Soliman et al., 2023).

3.4 Molecular amplification of integron cassettes

The variable regions of class 1 and 2 integrons within Enterobacterales (except *E. coli*) and non-Enterobacterales were amplified using primers complementary to the 5' and 3' conserved segments of class 1 integrons (5' CS and 3' CS) (Table S1) and class 2 integrons (hep74 and hep51) (Table S1). PCR amplification conditions were as follows: initial denaturation at 98 °C for 1 min, 30 cycles of denaturation at 98 °C for 10 s, annealing at 50 °C for 15 s, extension at 68 °C for 2 min, and final extension at 68 °C for 15 s.

3.5 DNA analysis and sequencing of PCR products

All PCR products were run at 100 V for 50 min on a 3% agarose gel (Fast Gene NE-A02 agarose gel) and stained with ethidium bromide. The bands embedded in the agarose gel were visualized under ultraviolet light to determine the quality of the amplified DNA. The PCR products were purified using ExoSAP-IT (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Japan) and sequenced by Eurofins, Japan.

3.6 16S rRNA gene sequencing

For this, 1500 bp fragments of selected AmpC β -lactamase-producers (those that showed resistance to at least one β -lactam antibiotic) were amplified using the full-length 27F and 14192R primer sets. The PCR products were purified using ExoSAP-IT and processed for sequencing to identify the bacteria at the species level. A total of 168 isolates, including those that were previously sequenced (except *E. coli*) and harbored at least one AMR gene, were obtained.

3.7 Phenotypic antimicrobial susceptibility

Eighty-nine isolates were selected and subjected to phenotypic antimicrobial susceptibility testing using the Kirby-Bauer method, according to the interpretative criteria described by the Clinical Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI, 2020). The minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of colistin for mcr-positive strains was also assessed following the EUCAST recommendations (EUCAST, 2023). A single isolated colony of each bacterium was suspended in sterile normal saline (0.85% w/v NaCl), and the turbidity was adjusted to 0.5 McFarland standards. The surfaces of the Mueller-Hinton agar plates were then uniformly inoculated with the suspension using a sterile cotton swab. All isolates except AmpC-producers were tested against fifteen antimicrobial agents from twelve classes as follows: ampicillin (10 µg), cefotaxime (30 µg), ceftazidime (30 µg), cefepime (30 µg), cefoxitin (30 µg), aztreonam (30 µg), meropenem (10 µg), amikacin (10 µg), kanamycin (30 μg), tetracycline (30 μg), chloramphenicol (30 μg), ciprofloxacin (5 μg), sulfamethoxazoletrimethoprim (23.75/1.25 µg), colistin (30 µg), and fosfomycin (50 µg). Specific integron cassettes within 10 isolates could not be determined, hence they were eliminated from susceptibility testing. AmpC β -lactamase-producers (198 isolates from both 2009 and 2021) were screened for resistance only against ampicillin, cefotaxime, ceftazidime, and aztreonam,

and 69 resistant strains were selected for analysis. Antibiotic disks (Eiken Chemical Co., Ltd., Tochigi, Japan) were aseptically applied to the surfaces of inoculated Mueller-Hinton agar plates. After incubation at 37°C for 16–18 h, the diameter of inhibition zones was measured and interpreted as sensitive, intermediate, or resistant based on the interpretative chart supplied with the antimicrobial agent. *E. coli* ATCC 25922 was used as the quality control strain. Multidrug resistance was defined as resistance to at least one antimicrobial agent belonging to three or more classes (Magiorakos et al., 2012). Isolates displaying intermediate resistance were considered as resistant to antimicrobial agents.

3.8 Plasmid analysis and PCR-based replicon typing of ESBL-producing E. coli

Seventeen well-characterized ESBL-producing *E. coli* strains from our previous study were assayed for plasmid replicon type. Plasmids were extracted using the alkaline lysis method, as previously described (Green and Sambrook, 2016). Briefly, 1.5 mL of overnight LB broth culture was centrifuged and resuspended in alkaline lysis buffers I, II, and III. The solution was vortexed and allowed to stand for 3–5 min after the addition of each buffer. The bacterial lysate was centrifuged, and the supernatant was mixed with an equal volume of isopropanol. The precipitated nucleic acids were collected and dissolved in 1 mL of 70% ethanol. The DNA was recovered as pellets by centrifugation and finally dissolved in 50 μ L of TE (pH 8.0) containing 20 μ g/mL DNase-free RNase A. Plasmid incompatibility (Inc) groups were determined using PCR-based replicon-typing, as previously described (Carattoli et al., 2005; Villa et al., 2010) by using the plasmid DNA as template for amplification. Eighteen primer pairs were used to amplify the target regions of the major incompatibility groups among *Enterobacterales* including HI1, HI2, I1, X, L/M, N, FIA, FIB, W, Y, P, FIC, A/C, T, FIIs, FrepB, K/B, and B/O in five multiplex and three simplex PCR assays.

3.9 BLAST search and statistical analysis

All sequenced data were subjected to a similarity search using the Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) program available in the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) database. Pearson's chi-square test or Fisher's exact test was used to test for significant differences when comparisons were made. A 95% confidence interval was inferred, and *p*-values<0.05 were considered as statistically significant. Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS version 29.0 (SPSS Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Finally, the results were expressed as percentages and are presented in tables.

4. Results

4.1 Sample distribution and positive number

A total of 185 meat samples (raw chicken, n=87; beef, n=47; pork, n=48; and wild meat, n=3) were analyzed in this study (Table 6). Of the samples, 95 were collected in 2009 and 90 were obtained in 2021. The results of the PCR analysis indicated the presence of diverse Gram-negative bacterial species carrying AMR determinants in 62.1 (59/95) and 61.1% (55/90) of the 2009 and 2021 meat samples, respectively. Statistical analysis revealed an insignificant difference (*p*-value >0.05) in the total number of positive samples among the two years of our study. Similarly, we observed no significant difference in positive numbers of domestic and imported samples between 2009 and 2021.

4.2 Diversity of Gram-negative bacteria isolated from retail meat samples

The bacterial genera and their prevalence in the two isolation years are shown in Table 7. I identified 245 Gram-negative bacterial isolates from diverse genera carrying at least one AMR gene. Among the Enterobacterales, *E. coli* was predominant, accounting for 31.4% (77/245) of the total positive isolates. These *E. coli* isolates were genetically variable and were characterized in our previous study (Xedzro et al., 2023). Additionally, we found that other strains were highly diverse; for instance, *Rhanella* spp. (n=19) was prevalent in 2021, whereas none of these species were isolated in 2009. *Klebsiella* spp. (n=18), *Salmonella* spp. (n=13), and *Enterobacter* spp. (n=14) were predominant in 2009, and a few species of *Kluyvera* (n=2), *Proteus* (n=2), *Providencia* (n=1), and *Pantoea* (n=1) were also identified. Apart from *E. coli* and *Rhanella* spp. that were detected as the prevalent species in 2021, we additionally found that *Hafnia* spp. (n=9), *Serratia* spp. (n=9), and *Morganella morganii* (n=7) were high in number. A high proportion of the isolates belonged to the order Enterobacterales. *Acinetobacter* spp. (n=15), *Pseudomonas* spp. (n=12), and *Aeromonas* spp. (n=16) were among the most prevalent non-Enterobacterales identified in this study (Table 7).
		Number of	samples				
Isolation year	Meat category	Domestic	Positive samples (%) *	Imported	Positive samples (%) *	Total	Total positive samples (%) *
2009	Chicken	29	20 (69.0)	8	6 (75.0)	37	26 (70.3)
	Beef	18	13 (72.2)	10	7 (70.0)	28	20 (71.4)
	Pork	18	8 (44.4)	11	4 (36.4)	29	12 (41.4)
	Wild meat	0	0 (0.0)	1	1 (100)	1	1 (100)
	Total	65	41 (63.1)	30	18 (60.0)	95	59 (62.1)
2021	Chicken	37	24 (64.9)	13	10 (76.9)	50	34 (68)
	Beef	10	6 (60.0)	9	7 (77.8)	19	13 (68.4)
	Pork	9	3 (33.3)	10	5 (50.0)	19	8 (42.1)
	Wild meat	2	0 (0.0)	0	0 (0.0)	2	0 (0.0)
	Total	58	33 (56.9)	32	22 (68.8)	90	55 (61.1)

Table 6. Sample numbers and distribution of positive samples according to meat category and source

* Indicates no significant difference (p>0.05) in total positive number between 2009 and

2021

Group	Bacterial species	Isolation year (No. of isolates)	
1	1	2009 (n=120)	2021 (n=125)	<i>p</i> -value
Enterobacterales	Escherichia coli	33 (27.5%)	44 (35.2%)	0.194
	Rhanella spp.	0 (0.0%)	19 (15.2%)	0.000
	Klebsiella spp.	18 (15.0%)	1 (0.8%)	0.000
	Salmonella spp.	13 (10.8%)	0 (0.0%)	0.000
	Enterobacter spp.	13 (10.8%)	1 (0.8%)	0.001
	Hafnia spp.	6 (5.0%)	8 (6.4%)	0.423
	Serratia spp.	2 (1.7%)	10 (8.0%)	0.020
	Citrobacter spp.	7 (5.8%)	1 (0.8%)	0.027
	Morganella morganii	4 (3.3%)	7 (5.6%)	0.392
	Buttiauxella spp.	0 (0.0%)	5 (4.0%)	0.027
	Kluyvera spp.	2 (1.7%)	0 (0.0%)	0.147
	Proteus mirabilis	2 (1.7%)	1 (0.8%)	0.537
	Pantoea spp.	1 (0.8%)	2 (1.6%)	0.585
	Providencia spp.	1 (0.8%)	0 (0.0%)	0.306
Non-Enterobacterales	Acinetobacter spp.	15 (12.5%)	0 (0.0%)	0.000
	Pseudomonas spp.	0 (0.0%)	12 (9.6%)	0.001
	Aeromonas spp.	3 (2.5%)	13 (10.4%)	0.012
	Shewanella spp.	0 (0.0%)	1 (0.8%)	0.326

Table 7. Different Gram-negative bacteria of various genera isolated from meat samples

4.3 Overall prevalence of AMR genes

Among the 120 isolates identified in 2009 to harbor AMR genes, 9.2, 13.3, and 7.5% carried the β -lactamase *bla*_{CTX-M}, *bla*_{SHV}, and *bla*_{TEM} resistance genotypes, respectively, including ESBL types. Additionally, we observed a high frequency (50/120, 41.7%) of AmpC

 β -lactamases and class 1 integrons (29/120, 24.2%) within 2009 isolates, with only a few carrying class 2 integrases (n=8) (Table 8).

Concurrently, the most common resistance genotypes among the 2021 isolates were bla_{CTX-M} (29.6%), bla_{TEM} (22.8%), and AmpC (15.2%), and none of the isolates were positive for bla_{SHV} and class 2 integrons. Carbapenemase-encoding genes were not detected in 2009; however, a single strain identified as *Shewanella xiamenesis* isolated in 2021 carried bla_{OXA} . 199, a carbapenemase-encoding gene. Regardless of the source, the most frequent resistance genes in beef and pork isolates were minor ESBLs (22/125, 17.6%), including bla_{RHAN} -type genotypes from the CTX-M group. Notably, all bla_{RHAN} genes were detected in 2021, and included bla_{RHAN-1} (n=13) and bla_{RHAN-2} (n=7). We also found that a majority of AMR genes originated from chicken isolates derived from the two isolation years. Finally, the *mcr* gene which confers clinical resistance to colistin, a frontline therapeutic treatment of choice was detected in 4 and 2 isolates in 2009 and 2021, respectively (Table 8). Specific *mcr* variants included *mcr-3* in *Aeromonas hydrophila*, *mcr-4* in *Acinetobacter baumannii*, *mcr-5* in *E. coli*, *mcr-9* in *Enterobacter kobei*, and two *Serratia liquefaciens*. Table 8. Prevalence and distribution of AMR genes among meat samples

Isolation year	Meat category (No. of positive isolates)	β-lactamases (%)				Integrons (%)		Carbapene-	Colistin resistance
		blactx-M	blasHv	blaTEM	AmpC	Class 1	Class 2		genes (%)
2009	Chicken (66) ^a	11 (16.7)	10 (15.2)	8 (12.1)	20 (30.3)	13 (19.7)	7 (10.6)	0 (0.0)	2 (3.0)
	Beef (37) ^{<i>a</i>}	0 (0.0)	4 (10.8)	0(0.0)	18 (48.6)	15 (40.5)	1 (2.7)	0(0.0)	1 (2.7)
	Pork (15)	0 (0.0)	2 (13.3)	1 (6.7)	10 (66.7)	1 (6.7)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	1 (6.7)
	Wild meat (2)	0 (0.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	2 (100)	0 (0.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)
	Total (120)	11 (9.2) °	16 (13.3) °	9 (7.5) ^g	50 (41.7) ⁱ	29 (24.2)	8 (6.7) ^k	$0\ (0.0)$	4 (3.3)
2021	Chicken (88) ^a	15 (17.0)	0 (0.0)	35 (39.8)	14 (15.9)	36 (40.9)	0 (0.0)	1 (1.1)	2 (2.3)
	$\operatorname{Beef}(19)^{b}$	12 (63.2)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	1 (5.3)	0 (0.0)	0(0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
	Pork (18)	10 (55.6)	0 (0.0)	1 (5.6)	4 (22.2)	3 (16.7)	0(0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
	Wild meat (0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0(0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
	Total (125)	37 (29.6) ^d	0~(0.0) f	36 (22.8) ^h	19 (15.2) ^j	39 (31.2)	$0 (0.0)^{\perp}$	1 (0.8)	2 (1.6)
Prevalen	ce of AMR genes w	as expressed as	percentage of	total positive	isolates.				

Different superscripts in the same column represent significant difference (p<0.05).

^a Some isolates have more than one AMR genes.

^b Specific genes were not detected in some isolates.

4.4 Overall AMR profiles of selected Gram-negative bacteria recovered from retail meat

Antimicrobial susceptibility was profiled to provide an overall picture of resistance among Gram-negative bacteria in the isolation region. A total of 166 isolates including 77 *E. coli* isolates, were profiled against 15 antimicrobials. All the isolates from 2009 and 2021 showed clinical susceptibility to meropenem and amikacin, respectively. For the two years of our study, we found a decreased rate of resistance to antimicrobials between 2009 and 2021 as follows (significance indicated by *p*-value in bracket): ceftazidime, 11.8 vs 5.6%; cefepime, 9.2 vs 3.3%; cefoxitin, 17.1 vs 7.8%; aztreonam, 17.1 vs 5.6% (0.017); amikacin, 1.3 vs 0.0%; chloramphenicol, 23.7 vs 18.9%; colistin, 7.9 vs 2.2%; and fosfomycin, 29.0 vs 17.8%% (Table 9). Notably, all the *mcr*-carrying isolates showed the colistin resistance phenotype with MIC ranging from 8 µg/mL to >64 µg/mL.

The antimicrobial resistance profiles of the two groups of Gram-negative bacteria are presented in Table 10. The Enterobacterales (excluding E. coli) isolated in 2009 showed predominant resistance to ampicillin (63.4%, n=27), cefoxitin (14.3%, n=6), tetracycline chloramphenicol/sulfamethoxazole-trimethoprim (11.9%, n=5), (21.4%, n=9), and fosfomycin (40.5%, n=17). Except for ampicillin (85.3%, n=29) and cefotaxime (35.3%, n = 12) resistance, which were high, there were generally lower levels of antimicrobial resistance among Enterobacterales (excluding E. coli) isolates in 2021 than in 2009 (Table 10). All Rhanella spp. carrying the bla_{RHAN} genotypes showed 100% resistance to ampicillin. Furthermore, the majority of these isolates showed intermediate resistance, with few conferring clinical resistances against extended-spectrum cephalosporins, particularly cefotaxime. MDR occurred in 11 and 15 of the 2009 and 2021 isolates, respectively, excluding E. coli strains and AmpC producers. Despite being the major carriers of class 1 integrons (aadA1/aadA2), only 2 of 13 Salmonella enterica strains were resistant to at least one antibiotic.

Antimicrobials	Disk content	Resistance prof	ile	
	Disk content	2009 (n=76)	2021 (n=90)	<i>p</i> -value
Ampicillin	10 µg	65.8%	87.8%	0.001
Cefotaxime	30 µg	26.3%	27.7%	0.833
Ceftazidime	30 µg	11.8%	5.6%	0.146
Cefepime	30 µg	9.2%	3.3%	0.113
Cefoxitin	30 µg	17.1%	7.8%	0.066
Aztreonam	30 µg	17.1%	5.6%	0.017
Meropenem	10 µg	0.0%	1.1%	0.357
Amikacin	30 µg	1.3%	0.0%	0.275
Kanamycin	30 µg	19.7%	38.9%	0.007
Tetracycline	30 µg	44.7%	51.1%	0.413
Chloramphenicol	30 µg	23.7%	18.9%	0.450
Ciprofloxacin	5 µg	6.6%	10.0%	0.429
Sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim	23.75/1.25 µg	18.4%	30.0%	0.030
Colistin	10 µg	7.9%	2.2%	0.089
Fosfomycin	50 µg	28.9%	17.8%	0.088

Table 9 Overall AMR	profiles of selected	Gram-negative	hacteria	isolated	from	retail	meat
Table 9. Overall Alvin	profiles of selected	Oralli-fiegative	Daciena	Isolateu	nom	letan	meat

E. coli was included in computing overall resistance patterns.

Table 10. Antimicrobial resistan	nce profiles of Ente	robacterale	s and non-	Enterobact	erales isolate	d from retail	meat		
Antimicrobials	Disk content	Enterobac	terales			Non-Ente	erobacterales		
		2009 (n ⁼²	(2)	2021	(n=34)	2009 (n=	1)	2021 (I	1=12)
		R %	S %	R %	S %	R %	S %	R %	S %
Ampicillin	10 µg	64.3	35.7	85.3	14.7	0.0	100	91.7	8.3
Cefotaxime	30 µg	7.1	92.9	35.3	64.7	100	0.0	33.3	66.7
Ceftazidime	30 µg	4.8	95.2	2.9	97.1	100	0.0	8.3	91.7
Cefepime	30 µg	4.8	95.2	2.9	97.1	100	0.0	0.0	100
Cefoxitin	30 µg	14.3	85.7	2.9	97.1	0.0	100	33.3	66.7
Aztreonam	30 µg	2.4	97.6	2.9	97.1	100	0.0	0.0	100
Meropenem	10 µg	0.0	100	2.9	97.1	0.0	100	0.0	100
Amikacin	30 µg	2.4	97.6	0.0	100	0.0	100	0.0	100
Kanamycin	30 µg	7.1	92.9	8.8	91.2	0.0	100	16.7	83.3
Tetracycline	30 µg	21.4	78.6	11.8	88.2	0.0	100	58.3	41.7
Chloramphenicol	30 µg	11.9	88.1	2.9	97.1	100	0.0	50.0	50.0
Ciprofloxacin	5 µg	4.8	95.2	2.9	97.1	0.0	100	8.3	91.7
Sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim	23.75/1.25 µg	11.9	88.1	2.9	97.1	0.0	100	58.3	41.7
Colistin	10 µg	9.5	90.5	8.8	91.2	100	0.0	0.0	100
Fosfomycin	50 µg	40.5	59.5	20.6	79.4	100	0.0	25.0	66.7
AmpC-producers were exclude All E. coli strains were also exc	ed from the table sir cluded from the tab	ice they we le.	re not test	against all t	he antimicro	bials.			

4.5 Plasmid incompatibility groups detected in ESBL-producing E. coli isolates

We then characterized the presence of plasmids in ESBL-producing *E. coli* which may be associated with the horizontal gene transfer of ESBL genes. PCR-based replicon typing revealed that the ESBL-producing *E. coli* isolates carried plasmids belonging to more than one incompatibility group (Inc): IncI1, IncN, IncFIB, IncFrepB, IncK/B, IncB/O, IncHI1, and IncHI2 (Table 11). The commonly detected plasmid replicon types were the IncFIB, IncI1, and IncFrepB, suggesting that these plasmids may be the potential carriers of AMR genes, including CTX-M enzymes.

4.6 Genetic characterization of plasmid-mediated AmpC β -lactamases

The detection rates of plasmid-mediated AmpC β -lactamases in meat samples are shown in Table 12. Fifty out of 120 isolates from 2009 were AmpC β -lactamase-producers. The detected genes included bla_{DHA} (n=4), bla_{FOX} (n=2), bla_{MOX} (n=2), bla_{ACC} (n=6), bla_{CMY} (n=5) bla_{ADC} (n=18), and bla_{ACT} (n=13), which were present in different alleles (Table 12). Susceptibility testing indicated that these β -lactamases conferred clinical resistance to β lactam antibiotics. For instance, *Acinetobacter* spp. with the bla_{ADC} gene commonly showed resistance to ampicillin, cefotaxime, and aztreonam, whereas *Enterobacter* spp. and *E. coli* showed resistance to all four antibiotics, including ceftazidime. In contrast, only 19 of the 125 isolates collected in 2021 carried the following AmpC genes: bla_{DHA} (n=6), bla_{FOX} (n=6), and bla_{ACC} (n=7). Ampicillin resistance is common among all 2021 AmpC-producers. Additionally, *Aeromonas* spp. and *Hafnia* spp. carrying bla_{FOX} and bla_{ACC} , respectively, showed resistance to cefotaxime and ceftazidime (Table 12).

Isolate	Origin/Year	Genotype	Incompatibility groups
B1-A009	Japan/2021	bla _{TEM-1} , bla _{CTX-M-1}	IncI1, IncN, IncFIB, IncFrepB
BH1-S088	Brazil/2021	bla _{CTX-M-15} , bla _{TEM-1} , aadA1	IncI1, IncN, IncFrepB
H3-A056	Japan/2021	bla _{TEM-1} , bla _{CTX-M-14}	IncFIB, IncFrepB, IncK/B, IncB/O
K3-A121	Brazil/2021	bla _{CTX-M-15} , bla _{TEM-1}	IncI1, IncN, IncFrepB
HT1-S097	Japan/2021	bla _{CTX-M-2}	IncFrepB
HT3-S094	Brazil/2021	bla _{CTX-M-2} , aadA1	Untypable
MT1-A128	Japan/2021	bla _{CTX-M-2}	IncFIB, IncFrepB, IncB/O
E3-A018	Japan/2021	bla _{CTX-M-2}	IncHI1, IncHI2, IncB/O
J1-A076	Japan/2021	bla _{CTX-M-like}	IncFIB, IncFrepB
138-2H-3	Japan/2009	bla _{CTX-M-2}	IncI1, IncFrepB
139-2H-4	Japan/2009	bla _{CTX-M-2}	IncFIB, IncFrepB
174-2H-1X	Japan/2009	bla _{CTX-M-2}	IncI1, IncFrepB
267-34J1-2	Brazil/2009	bla _{CTX-M-2} , aadA1	IncFrepB, IncK/B
269-34J2-2	Brazil/2009	bla _{CTX-M-2} , aadA1	IncFIB, IncFrepB
286-36J2-1	Brazil/2009	bla _{CTX-M-2} , aadA1	IncFIB, IncFrepB
301-36J2-1X	Brazil/2009	bla _{CTX-M-2} , aadA1	IncFIB, IncFrepB
160-11H-1	Japan/2009	bla _{SHV-12} , mcr-5.1	IncI1, IncFIB, IncFrepB

Table 11. Plasmids detected in ESBL-producing E. coli isolated from meat sources

Year	Identification	Genotype	Common	Number of isol	ates from each meat o	category (%)		Total
(No. of isolates)		(number c isolates)	of resistance	Chicken	Pork	Beef	Wild meat	
	Morganella	<i>bla</i> DHA-1 (2) <i>bla</i> DHA-13 (1) <i>bla</i> DHA-13 (1)	AMP	2 (4.0)	1 (2.0)	1 (2.0)	0 (0.0)	4 (8.0)
	Aeromonas	<i>bla</i> FoX-5 (1) <i>bla</i> FoX-13 (1) <i>bla</i> MoX-5 (1)	AMP	0 (0.0)	2 (4.0)	1 (2.0)	0 (0.0)	3 (6.0)
	Hafnia	bla _A cc-1 (2) bla _A cc-4 (3) bla _A cc-6 (1)	AMP	1 (2.0)	4 (8.0)	1 (2.0)	0 (0.0)	6 (12.0)
:009 (n=50)	Citrobacter	<i>bla</i> CMY-137 (1) <i>bla</i> CMY-74 (1) <i>bla</i> CMY-79 (1)	AMP	1 (2.0)	1 (2.0)	1 (2.0)	0 (0.0)	3 (6.0)
	Acinetobacter	<i>bla</i> _{ADC-32} (2) <i>bla</i> _{ADC-33} (1) <i>bla</i> _{ADC-133} (3) <i>bla</i> _{ADC-216} (1) <i>bla</i> _{ADC-235} (1) <i>bla</i> _{ADC-235} (1) <i>bla</i> _{ADC-236} (2) <i>bla</i> _{ADC-120} (1)	AMP CTX ATM	10 (20.0)	0 (0.0)	3 (6.0)	2 (4.0)	15 (30.0)
	K. pneumoniae	$bla_{ m ACT-4}(1)$	AMP	0(0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (2.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (2.0

Table 12. Phenotypic and genotypic profiles of AmpC B-lactamase producers

70

Tale 12. coi	ntinued								
	Enterobacter	$bla_{\rm ACT-4}$ (4)	AMP	1 (2.0)	1 (2.0)	9 (18.0)	0 (0.0)	11 (22.0)	
		<i>bla</i> ACT-12 (2)	CTX						
		<i>bla</i> ACT-54 (2)	CAZ						
		<i>bla</i> ACT-103 (1)	ATM						
		<i>bla</i> ACT-73 (1)							
		<i>bla</i> MOX-15 (1)							
	Escherichia coli	<i>bla</i> CMY-4 (2)	AMP	5(10.0)	1 (2.0)	1 (2.0)	0 (0.0)	7 (14.0)	
		<i>bla</i> ACT-48 (1)	CTX						
		<i>bla</i> ACT-51 (1)	CAZ						
		$bla_{ m ADC-26}(1)$	ATM						
		$bla_{ m ADC-32}$ (2)							
	Morganella morganii	$bla_{\rm DHA-1}$ (1)	AMP	7 (36.8)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	0 (0.0)	7 (36.8)	
		<i>bla</i> _{DHA-2} (1)							
		$bla_{ m DHA-4}\left(1 ight)$							
		$bla_{ m DHA-5}\left(1 ight)$							
		$bla_{ m DHA-10}\left(1 ight)$							
		$bla_{ m DHA-22}\left(1 ight)$							
(01-2) 1000		$bla_{ m FOX-8}\left(1 ight)$							
(61-II) 1707	Aeromonas	<i>bla</i> FoX-8 (2)	AMP	5 (26.3)	0(0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	5 (26.3)	
		$bla_{\rm FOX-16}(1)$	CTX						
		<i>bla</i> FoX-18 (1)							
		$bla_{ m FOX-19}\left(1 ight)$							
	Hafnia	<i>bla</i> Acc-1 (7)	AMP	2 (10.5)	4 (21.1)	1 (5.3)	0 (0.0)	7 (36.8)	
			CTX						
			CAZ						

4.7 Phenotypic confirmation of AmpC production against three classes of antimicrobials

As shown in Table 13, a major proportion of AmpC β -lactamase-producers obtained from 2009 were resistant to three classes of antibiotics. Penicillin resistance among the isolates was high (90.0%), with two or more isolates harboring one of the seven detected resistance genotypes. Cephalosporin resistance was observed in 25 isolates and was commonly associated with *bla*_{ADC} and *bla*_{ACT} genotypes. Monobactam resistance was observed in 12 (24.0%) isolates. All the isolates obtained in 2021 were resistant to ampicillin, but none conferred clinical resistance to monobactam. However, a single strain carrying *bla*_{FOX} and *bla*_{ACC} from 2021 was found to hydrolyze a cephalosporin antibiotic (cefotaxime). The results suggest that plasmid-mediated AmpC β -lactamase may be a clinical challenge due to the increased patterns of resistance they confer against recommend treatment options.

solation	Resistance group	AmpC-type β	-lactamases						Total resistance
/ear		blaDHA	blaFoX	blaAcc	blacMY	blaad	blaact	blamox	I
:009 (n=50)	Penicillin resistance	4 (8.0%)	2 (4.0%)	6 (12.0%)	5(10.0%)	13 (26.0%)	13 (26.0%)	2 (4.0%)	45 (90.0%)
	Cephalosporin resistance	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (4.0%)	17 (34.0%)	6 (12.0%)	0 (0.0%)	25 (50%)
	Monobactam resistance	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	8 (16.0%)	4 (8.0%)	0 (0.0%)	12 (24.0%)
.021 (n=19)	Penicillin resistance	7 (36.8%)	5 (26.3%)	7 (36.8%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	19 (100%)
	Cephalosporin resistance	0 (0.0%)	1 (5.3%)	1 (5.3%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (10.5%)
	Monobactam resistance	(%0.0)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)

•	5
-	2
	0
	5
•	Ξ.
	g
	Ξ.
	Ð.
	Ę.
	3
ς	
	0
	3
	~
	S.
	3
7	_
	0
	0
	O
	H
5	
	2
	ĉ
٠	Ξ.
	ā.
	\vec{o}
	3
	\mathbf{v}
	Ē
	<u> </u>
	Q.
	Ħ
	3
	þ
	പ
	8
	Ы
	1
	53
	5
•	5
	Ũ.
	÷
٠	5
	B
7	1
	_
	$\overline{\mathbf{O}}$
	Đ,
	an
	s an
	es an
	ses an
	ases an
	mases an
	amases an
	tamases an
	ctamases an
	actamases an
	-lactamases an
	b-lactamases an
	b-lactamases an
	C b-lactamases an
	pC b-lactamases an
	npC b-lactamases an
	mpC b-lactamases an
	AmpC b-lactamases an
	t AmpC β-lactamases an
	of AmpC b-lactamases an
(of AmpC b-lactamases an
	s of AmpC b-lactamases an
	tes of AmpC b-lactamases an
(ates of AmpC b-lactamases an
	rates of AmpC b-lactamases an
	η rates of AmpC β -lactamases an
(on rates of AmpC β -lactamases an
	ion rates of AmpC β -lactamases an
	tion rates of AmpC β -lactamases and
	sction rates of AmpC b-lactamases an
	tection rates of AmpC b-lactamases an
	etection rates of AmpC b-lactamases an
	detection rates of AmpC b-lactamases an
	the detection rates of AmpC β -lactamases and
	ic detection rates of AmpC b-lactamases an
	pic detection rates of AmpC β -lactamases an
	ypic detection rates of AmpC β -lactamases an
	typic detection rates of AmpC b-lactamases an
	otypic detection rates of AmpC β -lactamases an
	notypic detection rates of AmpC β -lactamases an
	enotypic detection rates of AmpC β -lactamases an
	henotypic detection rates of AmpC b-lactamases an
	Phenotypic detection rates of AmpC b-lactamases an
	. Phenotypic detection rates of AmpC β -lactamases an
	3. Phenotypic detection rates of AmpC β -lactamases an
	13. Phenotypic detection rates of AmpC β -lactamases an
	β 13. Phenotypic detection rates of AmpC b-lactamases an
	le 13. Phenotypic detection rates of AmpC β -lactamases an

5. Discussion

Meat consumption continues to increase in many countries, including Japan, as meat is important for human nutrition. Nevertheless, retail meat products have been established as potential hazards to the human population, owing to the increasing incidence of drug-resistant bacteria isolated from them (Cooper et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2022). Little is known about AMR surveillance in certain parts of Japan, including Higashihiroshima. I previously reported the first comparative data on MDR *E. coli* in the same region (Xedzro et al., 2023), and further confirmed the lack of surveillance data for future monitoring of AMR trends. Therefore, I investigated the prevalence of drug-resistant Enterobacterales and non-Enterobacterales, and the plasmids harboring ESBLs, among a collection of ESBL-producers.

This study shows that retail meat products are potential reservoirs of drug-resistant bacteria with AMR determinants. More than 60% of the samples investigated in the two isolation years were contaminated with these bacteria. Various factors such as the location and method of animal rearing, contaminated processing water, equipment, and climate change contribute to the contamination of meat samples. I found that there was no significant difference (*p*-value=0.889) in the contamination rates of samples (62.1 vs. 61.1%) between the two isolation years; however, such a high prevalence should be considered as a potential health risk to consumers. In view of the small sample size and lack of data on antimicrobial use, no conclusions can be drawn as to why these insignificant differences existed.

Furthermore, a variety of Enterobacterial and non-Enterobacterial species were detected in retail meat samples. Overall, Enterobacterales were highly prevalent, with *E. coli* being the dominant species in both 2009 (27.5%) and 2021 (35.2%) (Table 7). Several other bacterial species were identified; however, their prevalence depended on the year of isolation. For instance, *Klebsiella* spp., *Salmonella* spp., *Enterobacter* spp., and *Acinetobacter* spp. were predominantly isolated in 2009, whereas *Rhanella* spp., *Serratia* spp., *Pseudomonas*

spp., and Aeromonas spp. were mostly detected in 2021 samples. The sources of such Gramnegative bacteria in our study may have been food handlers, improper storage, poor meat hygiene, and/or unstrict stainless cleaning conditions, which may have caused serious crosscontamination in retail meat products. Furthermore, compromised process conditions, such as irregular temperature records in advanced cooling systems, may contribute to the rapid multiplication of bacterial species and their subsequent transfer via improper handling. Meat vendors and handlers may contribute to microbiological quality, especially if they are not fully knowledgeable about the significance of good manufacturing practices (Dib et al., 2018). Previous studies detected a wide variety of Enterobacterales in Japanese retail meat. Odoi et al. (2021) detected Serratia spp., Hafnia spp., Proteus spp., Cedecea spp., Providencia spp., and Morganella spp. in 81.3% of retail meat samples, which was relatively higher than the 61–62% positive samples in our study. Although there was a varying degree of prevalence, our study is consistent with previous studies that have isolated Enterobacterial and non-Enterobacterial species from retail meat in other countries. Studies from the United States have reported the presence of Acinetobacter, Aeromonas, Buttiauxella, Citrobacter, Enterobacter, Hafnia, Klebsiella, Proteus, among others, in retail meat samples (Kilonzo-Nthenge et al., 2013). Lee et al. (2023) documented 47.5% E. coli strains from retail meat in the United States. Furthermore, a recent study in Nigeria found a variety of bacterial species from seven genera, including E. coli, Enterobacter, Klebsiella, Salmonella, Serratia, Citrobacter, and Proteus in retail meat samples (Uzeh et al., 2021), suggesting that retail meat products are reservoirs of different groups of Gram-negative bacteria. The variations in the results may have been due to the different regions of study, isolation protocols, sample sizes, and seasonal changes (Xedzro et al., 2023).

I profiled the prevalence of AMR determinants in the two years of our study, according to the positive isolates investigated. DNA sequencing revealed that AmpCs were

the common β -lactamase enzymes found in 2009 and were mostly detected in chicken meat (Table 8). Other prevalent β -lactamase genes were *bla*_{SHV}, *bla*_{CTX-M} and *bla*_{TEM}. Similarly, I found that $bla_{\text{CTX-M}}$, bla_{TEM} , and AmpC β -lactamases also dominated in the 2021 isolates, and were frequently detected in chicken meat isolates. These results suggest that chicken meat products are mostly carriers of these resistance determinants. These results are consistent with those of previous studies reporting the common detection of bla_{CTX-M} and bla_{SHV} in retail chicken meat in Japan (Hayashi et al., 2018; Kawamura et al., 2014; Norizuki et al., 2018). Various studies in Egypt (Badr et al., 2022), Canada (Cormier et al., 2019), China (Jiang et al., 2023; Liao et al., 2023), and Singapore (Guo et al., 2021) have also frequently detected *bla*_{CTX-M}-types in chicken meat, but uncommon detection of *bla*_{SHV} or *bla*_{TEM}. CTX-M genes are common in chickens, possibly because of the off-label use of ceftiofur to treat infections in the chicken industry (Casella et al., 2017). None of the beef or pork isolates in 2009 carried bla_{CTX-M} ; however, the $bla_{RHAN-1/2}$ -type β -lactamases of the CTX-M group were predominantly found in beef and pork in 2021. An inverse observation occurred for blashv genes, where none of these genotypes were detected in 2021, but were found in 2009. Furthermore, a comparative analysis between 2009 and 2021 indicated that there was a 15% increase (p-value=0.000) in the prevalence of bla_{TEM} (bla_{TEM-1}) among the total positive isolates presented (Table 8). This indicates that the acquisition or transmission of TEM genes is progressively increasing and warrants the continuous implementation of AMR policies in the current study region. Collectively, these results confirmed that the season of isolation and/or region may influence the isolation of specific bacteria carrying a particular resistance gene of interest. Although TEM-1 is less efficient in degrading later generations of cephalosporins (such as ceftazidime and cefotaxime) and monobactams, different variants including TEM-20 (Muhammad et al., 2014) with the ability to hydrolyze majority of β lactams have evolved owing to extensive β -lactam use in clinical settings. Single nucleotide

polymorphisms (SNPs) in the TEM-1 gene result in amino acid substitutions in the enzyme, which eventually intensify the hydrolytic performance of the enzyme, and subsequently, the selection for extended-spectrum β -lactamases (Muhammad et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2022). Integrons are site-specific recombination genetic systems that can capture and insert gene cassettes into bacterial genomes (Qi et al., 2023). They confer antimicrobial resistance, particularly against aminoglycosides, trimethoprim, quaternary ammonium ions, and chloramphenicol. The prevalent integron type detected in this study was class 1. These occurred in 24.2 (29/120) and 31.2% (39/125) of the 2009 and 2021 isolates, respectively (Table 8). The most common integron cassettes detected in this study were *aadA1*, *aadA2*, aadA5, aadA12, and dfrA17. Previous studies have described integrons and reported the frequent detection of such a group of integrase genes in retail meat (Krüger et al., 2023; Liu et al., 2022). They have also been confirmed to be the most prevalent integrase genes and are linked to antimicrobial resistance, especially among Enterobacterales (Otero-Olarra et al., 2020). The worldwide use of trimethoprim and aminoglycosides may be a direct cause for the persistence of these genes in food-producing animals (Krüger et al., 2023). The detection rate of mobile colistin resistance in this study was generally low, although a high prevalence of colistin resistance has been reported in Japanese retail meat (Odoi et al., 2021).

Enterobacterial and non-Enterobacterial species displayed diverse rates of resistance to different classes of antibiotics. Meropenem and amikacin demonstrated excellent activity, with 0% or approximately 1% resistance in both isolation years. However, maximal ampicillin and tetracycline resistance was observed between 2009 and 2021 (*p*-value=0.001 vs 0.413, respectively). Kanamycin and sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim resistance was also high, especially in the 2021 isolates. The National Action Plan (NAP) implemented in Japan in 2016 outlined the targets for antimicrobial usage, including those applied in animal husbandry (The government of Japan, 2020). Therefore, I expected to observe decreased

changes in AMR, which was true for some resistance patterns, such as ceftazidime, cefepime, cefoxitin, aztreonam, meropenem, amikacin, and chloramphenicol (Table 9). Members of Enterobacterales have been reported to be the main cause of human infections (Abd El-Aziz et al., 2021; Uzeh et al., 2021). The data show that Enterobacterales resistance to antibiotics was more predominant in 2009 than in 2021 isolates, except for ampicillin and thirdgeneration cefotaxime (Table 10). Therefore, my data confirm that NAPs may play a key role in the future reduction of AMR in Higashihiroshima, Japan, and worldwide. However, it is worth mentioning that we were unable to trace antibiotic usage on farms or consider the small sample size used in the current study, which may have biased the conclusions drawn in this study. The high third-generation cefotaxime resistance observed in 2021 was mainly attributed to the frequent detection of bla_{RHAN} -type β -lactamases in *Rhanella* spp. in beef and pork. A decreasing trend in cephalosporin resistance among E. coli strains was previously reported by NAOR (2020) and Xedzro et al. (2023) in Japan. This was attributed to voluntary restrictions on the use of third-generation cephalosporins in the poultry industry in 2012 (Hayashi et al., 2018; Hiki et al., 2015). However, the data suggest that cephalosporin resistance among other Enterobacterales may continue to increase if NAPs are not fully activated. Furthermore, our findings contradict those of the NAOR, which reported a 0%prevalence of cefotaxime resistance in cattle and pigs. Although the observed increase in resistance patterns was low and may vary depending on the year of bacterial isolation, annual surveillance data are needed to provide a clear picture as to whether AMR in the current study region is affected by NAPs.

Various plasmid incompatibility groups have been reported to play key roles in the spread of AMR among Enterobacterales including *E. coli* (Gawish et al., 2021; Norizuki et al., 2018). ESBL-producing *E. coli* strains in this study carried multiple plasmid replicon types (Table 6). IncFIB, IncI1, and IncFrepB were the most common plasmids detected in the

ESBL-producers (bla_{CTX-M} or bla_{SHV}). This is consistent with Hayashi et al. (2018), who frequently identified FIB and I1 plasmids in bla_{CTX-M} -carrying *E. coli* strains in Japan. Despite their varied occurrence, N-and B/O-type plasmids, which are rarely reported in Japan, were found in the three *E. coli* isolates. Although we could not further investigate the plasmid carrying the ESBL gene, PCR amplification using plasmid DNA as a template was used to confirm the presence of bla_{CTX-M} or bla_{SHV} , suggesting that one such plasmid might be responsible for carrying the ESBL genes. A previous report has indicated that CTX-M-type enzymes are typically encoded by plasmids (Nakano et al., 2023). Notably, horizontal gene transfer of mobile genetic elements is highly feasible if these plasmids are mobile.

The present study also demonstrates the public health significance associated with AmpC β -lactamase production among Enterobacterales. AmpC is a cephalosporinaseencoding gene that promotes the resistance to broad-spectrum cephalosporins (Sakai and Maesaki, 2022). However, the prevalence of AmpC in Japanese food sources remains underexplored. Several groups of AmpC β -lactamases including bla_{DHA}, bla_{FOX}, bla_{MOX}, bla_{ACC}, bla_{CMY}, bla_{ADC}, and bla_{ACT} were detected and distributed across the various meat categories, but predominantly in chicken meat samples (Table 12 and 13). The most common type of AmpC gene frequently found in Japan is CMY, and to a lesser extent, DHA, but has mainly been reported in clinical isolates of E. coli and K. pneumoniae (Matsumura et al., 2012; Yamasaki et al., 2010). Other studies have detected CMY-2 and DHA-1 in horses and/or companion animals in Japan (Harada et al., 2016; Sukmawinata et al., 2020). The overall prevalence of AmpC production in this study (28.2%) (Tables 8 and 12) was higher than that previously reported in Japan (0.3 or 2.8%) (Sukmawinata et al., 2020; Yamasaki et al., 2010), Egypt (15.2%); (Nossair et al., 2022), Iran (16.7% or 21.7%) (Rizi et al., 2020; Robatjazi et al., 2021), and the United States (2.3%) (Moon et al., 2022). For the first time in Hiroshima Prefecture, this study reports a collection of AmpC genes in different variants of meat origin, which must be considered as a public health risk because they can be transmitted to humans. To the best of my knowledge, this report is the first detection of DHA-13, DHA-18, FOX-5, FOX-13, ACC-4, and ACC-6 variants in Japan, suggesting further large-scale research, since these genes display clinical resistance against cephalosporins, which are the current recommended treatment options. Moreover, it is tempting to speculate that the majority of the detected AmpC variants (Table 12) in this study have not yet been identified in Japan, because these variants have not been reported. Although the AmpC-producing isolates were not tested against many antibiotics, I showed that they were capable of hydrolyzing later generations of cephalosporins, which represent a public health concern. A high incidence of cephalosporin resistance was observed in 2009 (50%), which has decreased to 10.5% in 2021 (Table 12). Interestingly, monobactam resistance was not detected in AmpC-producers in 2021, but was found in 24.0% of the 2009 isolates. The observed resistance phenomenon in the isolates may have emerged through plasmid-mediated gene transfer mechanisms between bacterial isolates. It is important to note that plasmid-mediated AmpC mobilization can facilitate the induction of multiple acquired resistances to antimicrobial agents (Sakai and Maesaki, 2022). To ensure efficient treatment of infections that might arise due to AmpC-producers, a large-scale survey is urgently required to assess their occurrence and choose antimicrobial agents that are appropriate or effective against them.

6. Conclusion

This study investigated the genetic determinants of AMR in Enterobacterales and non-Enterobacterales isolates recovered from retail meat samples. I also characterized the phenotypic AMR profiles and presented evidence of resistance to the tested antibiotics. The identification of different plasmid replicon types in ESBL-producing *E. coli* strains represents a public health concern, as they can act as transmission vectors for AMR genes. Furthermore, molecular profiling of plasmid-mediated AmpC β -lactamases was confirmed for the first time in the Hiroshima Prefecture. A large-scale and yearly investigation of resistance genes in the study region or in Japan as a whole would help understand the impact of drug-resistant microbial contamination in food-producing animals and track the transmission of emerging or newly evolved resistance genes circulating in the food production continuum.

Bibliography

- Abd El-Aziz, N.K., Tartor, Y.H., Gharieb, R.M.A., Erfan, A.M., Khalifa, E., Said, M.A., Ammar, A.M., Samir, M., 2021. Extensive drug-resistant *Salmonella enterica* isolated from poultry and humans: Prevalence and molecular determinants behind the coresistance to ciprofloxacin and tigecycline. Front. Microbiol. 12, 738784 https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.738784
- Adel, W.A., Ahmed, A.M., Hegazy, Y., Torky, H.A., Shimamoto, T., 2021. High prevalence of ESBL and plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance genes in *Salmonella enterica* isolated from retail meats and slaughterhouses in Egypt. Antibiotics 10, 881 https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics10070881
- Badr, H., Reda, R.M., Hagag, N.M., Kamel, E., Elnomrosy, S.M., Mansour, A.I., Shahein,
 M.A., Ali, S.F., Ali, H.R., 2022. Multidrug-resistant and genetic characterization of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing *E. coli* recovered from chickens and humans in Egypt. Animals 12, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12030346
- Burgess, S.A., Aplin, J., Biggs, P.J., Breckell, G., Benschop, J., Fayaz, A., Toombs-Ruane, L.J., Midwinter, A.C., 2021. Characterisation of AmpC and extended-spectrum betalactamase producing *E. coli* from New Zealand dairy farms. Int. Dairy J. 117, 104998.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.idairyj.2021.104998

- Carattoli, A., Bertini, A., Villa, L., Falbo, V., Hopkins, K.L., Threlfall, E.J., 2005. Identification of plasmids by PCR-based replicon typing. J. Microbiol. Methods 63, 219–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2005.03.018
- Casella, T., Nogueira, M.C.L., Saras, E., Haenni, M., Madec, J.Y., 2017. High prevalence of ESBLs in retail chicken meat despite reduced use of antimicrobials in chicken production, France. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 257, 271–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2017.07.005
- CLSI, 2020. Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing. 30th informational supplement for global application. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute; M100.
- Cooper, A.L., Low, A.J., Koziol, A.G., Thomas, M.C., Leclair, D., Tamber, S., Wong, A., Blais, B.W., Carrillo, C.D., 2020. Systematic evaluation of whole genome sequencebased predictions of *Salmonella* serotype and antimicrobial resistance. Front. Microbiol. 11, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.00549
- Cormier, A., Zhang, P.L.C., Chalmers, G., Weese, J.S., Deckert, A., Mulvey, M., McAllister, T., Boerlin, P., 2019. Diversity of CTX-M-positive *Escherichia coli* recovered from animals in Canada. Vet. Microbiol. 231, 71–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2019.02.031
- Dib, A.L., Agabou, A., Chahed, A., Kurekci, C., Moreno, E., Espigares, M., Espigares, E., 2018. Isolation, molecular characterization and antimicrobial resistance of *Enterobacteriaceae* isolated from fish and seafood. Food Control 88, 54–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2018.01.005

Galarde-López, M., Velazquez-Meza, M.E., Bobadilla-del-Valle, M., Cornejo-Juárez, P.,

Carrillo-Quiroz, B.A., Ponce-de-León, A., Sassoé-González, A., Saturno-Hernández, P., Alpuche-Aranda, C.M., 2022. Antimicrobial resistance patterns and clonal distribution of *E. coli, Enterobacter* spp. and *Acinetobacter* spp. strains isolated from two hospital wastewater plants. Antibiotics 11, 601. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics11050601

- Gawish, M.F., Ahmed, A.M., Torky, H.A., Shimamoto, T., 2021. Prevalence of extendedspectrum β-lactamase (ESBL)-producing *Salmonella enterica* from retail fishes in Egypt: A major threat to public health. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 351, 109268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2021.109268
- Green, M.R., Sambrook, J., 2016. Preparation of plasmid DNA by alkaline lysis with sodium dodecyl sulfate: Minipreps. Cold Spring Harb. Protoc. 2016, 911–916. https://doi.org/10.1101/pdb.prot093344
- Guo, S., Aung, K.T., Leekitcharoenphon, P., Tay, M.Y.F., Seow, K.L.G., Zhong, Y., Ng, L.C., Aarestrup, F.M., Schlundt, J., 2021. Prevalence and genomic analysis of ESBLproducing *Escherichia coli* in retail raw meats in Singapore. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 76, 601–605. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkaa461
- Harada, K., Shimizu, T., Mukai, Y., Kuwajima, K., Sato, T., Usui, M., Tamura, Y., Kimura, Y.,
 Miyamoto, T., Tsuyuki, Y., Ohki, A., Kataoka, Y., 2016. Phenotypic and molecular characterization of antimicrobial resistance in *Klebsiella* spp. isolates from companion animals in Japan: Clonal dissemination of multidrug-resistant extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing *Klebsiella* pneumoniae. Front. Microbiol. 7, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01021
- Hayashi, W., Ohsaki, Y., Taniguchi, Y., Koide, S., Kawamura, K., Suzuki, M., Kimura, K.,
 Wachino, J., Nagano, Y., Arakawa, Y., Nagano, N., 2018. High prevalence of *bla*_{CTX-M-14}
 among genetically diverse *Escherichia coli* recovered from retail raw chicken meat
 portions in Japan. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 284, 98–104.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2018.08.003

- Hiki, M., Kawanishi, M., Abo, H., Kojima, A., Koike, R., Hamamoto, S., Asai, T., 2015.
 Decreased resistance to broad-spectrum cephalosporin in *Escherichia coli* from healthy broilers at farms in Japan after voluntary withdrawal of ceftiofur. Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 12, 639–643. https://doi.org/10.1089/fpd.2015.1960
- Huang, Z., Li, Y., Cai, C., Dong, N., 2022. Isolation, molecular characterization, and antimicrobial resistance of selected culturable bacteria from crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*). Front. Microbiol. 13, 911777. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.911777
- Janatova, M., Albrechtova, K., Petrzelkova, K.J., Dolejska, M., Papousek, I., Masarikova, M., Cizek, A., Todd, A., Shutt, K., Kalousova, B., Profousova-Psenkova, I., Modry, D., Literak, I., 2014. Antimicrobial-resistant *Enterobacteriaceae* from humans and wildlife in Dzanga-Sangha protected area, Central African Republic. Vet. Microbiol. 171, 422– 431. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2014.02.014
- Jiang, Y., Wang, Z.-Y., Li, Q.-C., Lu, M.-J., Wu, H., Mei, C.-Y., Shen, P.-C., Jiao, X., Wang, J., 2023. Characterization of extensively drug-resistant *Salmonella enterica* serovar Kentucky sequence type 198 isolates from chicken meat products in Xuancheng, China. Microbiol. Spectr. https://doi.org/10.1128/spectrum.03219-22
- Kawamura, K., Goto, K., Nakane, K., Arakawa, Y., 2014. Molecular epidemiology of extended-spectrum β-lactamases and *Escherichia coli* isolated from retail foods including chicken meat in Japan. Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 11, 104–110. https://doi.org/10.1089/fpd.2013.1608
- Khalifa, H.O., Soliman, A.M., Ahmed, A.M., Shimamoto, T., Nariya, H., Matsumoto, T., Shimamoto, T., 2019. High prevalence of antimicrobial resistance in Gram-negative bacteria isolated from clinical settings in Egypt: Recalling for judicious use of

conventional antimicrobials in developing nations. Microb. Drug Resist. 25, 371–385. https://doi.org/10.1089/mdr.2018.0380

- Kilonzo-Nthenge, A., Rotich, E., Nahashon, S.N., 2013. Evaluation of drug-resistant *Enterobacteriaceae* in retail poultry and beef. Poult. Sci. 92, 1098–1107. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2012-02581
- Kłos, M., Jachowicz, E., Pomorska-wesołowska, M., Romaniszyn, D., Kandzierski, G., Jadwiga, W., 2022. Antimicrobial resistance of *Enterobacteriaceae* in bloodstream infections in hospitalized patients in Southern Poland. J. Clin. Med. 11, 3927. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm11143927
- Koga, V.L., Maluta, R.P., Da Silveira, W.D., Ribeiro, R.A., Hungria, M., Vespero, E.C., Nakazato, G., Kobayashi, R.K.T., 2019. Characterization of CMY-2-type betalactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* isolated from chicken carcasses and human infection in a city of South Brazil. BMC Microbiol. 19, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-019-1550-3
- Krüger, G.I., Pardo-Esté, C., Zepeda, P., Olivares-Pacheco, J., Galleguillos, N., Suarez, M., Castro-Severyn, J., Alvarez-Thon, L., Tello, M., Valdes, J.H., Saavedra, C.P., 2023.
 Mobile genetic elements drive the multidrug resistance and spread of *Salmonella* serotypes along a poultry meat production line. Front. Microbiol. 14, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2023.1072793
- Lee, K.Y., Lavelle, K., Huang, A., Atwill, E.R., Pitesky, M., 2023. Assessment of prevalence and diversity of antimicrobial resistant *Escherichia coli* from retail meats in Southern California. Antibiotics 12, 782. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics12040782
- Liao, M., Wu, J., Li, Y., Lu, X., Tan, H., Chen, S., Huang, W., Lian, X., Sun, J., Liao, X., Liu, Y., Feng, S., Zhang, R., 2023. Prevalence and persistence of ceftiofur-resistant

Escherichia coli in a chicken yayer breeding program. Animals 13, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani13010090

- Liu, C., Yao, K., Ren, D., Xiao, Y., 2022. Prevalence and characterization of *Salmonella* from meat in slaughterhouses in Hangzhou, China. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 371, 109649. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2022.109649
- Magiorakos, A.P., Srinivasan, A., Carey, R.B., Carmeli, Y., Falagas, M.E., Giske, C.G., Harbarth, S., Hindler, J.F., Kahlmeter, G., Olsson-Liljequist, B., Paterson, D.L., Rice, L.B., Stelling, J., Struelens, M.J., Vatopoulos, A., Weber, J.T., Monnet, D.L., 2012.
 Multidrug-resistant, extensively drug-resistant and pandrug-resistant bacteria: An international expert proposal for interim standard definitions for acquired resistance. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 18, 268–281. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2011.03570.x
- Matsumura, Y., Yamamoto, M., Higuchi, T., Komori, T., Tsuboi, F., Hayashi, A., Sugimoto, Y., Hotta, G., Matsushima, A., Nagao, M., Takakura, S., Ichiyama, S., 2012. Prevalence of plasmid-mediated AmpC β-lactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* and spread of the ST131 clone among extended-spectrum β-lactamase- producing *E. coli* in Japan. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 40, 158–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2012.04.013
- Moon, S.H., Udaondo, Z., Abram, K.Z., Li, X., Yang, X., DiCaprio, E.L., Jun, S.R., Huang,
 E., 2022. Isolation of AmpC- and extended spectrum β-lactamase-producing
 Enterobacterales from fresh vegetables in the United States. Food Control 132, 108559.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2021.108559
- Muhammad, I., Golparian, D., Dillon, J.A.R., Johansson, Å., Ohnishi, M., Sethi, S., Chen, S. chun, Nakayama, S. ichi, Sundqvist, M., Bala, M., Unemo, M., 2014. Characterisation of *bla*_{TEM} genes and types of β-lactamase plasmids in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* the prevalent and conserved *bla*_{TEM-135} has not recently evolved and existed in the Toronto plasmid from the origin. BMC Infect. Dis. 14, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-

- Nakano, R., Nakano, A., Nishisouzu, R., Hikosaka, K., Suzuki, Y., Kamoshida, G., Tansho-Nagakawa, S., Endo, S., Kasahara, K., Ono, Y., Yano, H., 2023. Genetic relatedness of third-generation cephalosporin-resistant *Escherichia coli* among livestock, farmers, and patients in Japan. One Health. 16, 100524. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.onehlt.2023.100524
- Nakayama, T., Le Thi, H., Thanh, P.N., Minh, D.T.N., Hoang, O.N., Hoai, P.H., Yamaguchi, T., Jinnai, M., Do, P.N., Van, C.D., Kumeda, Y., Hase, A., 2022. Abundance of colistin-resistant *Escherichia coli* harbouring *mcr-1* and extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing *E. coli* co-harbouring *bla*_{CTX-M-55} or ₋₆₅ with *bla*_{TEM} isolates from chicken meat in Vietnam. Arch. Microbiol. 204, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-021-02746-0
- Norizuki, C., Kawamura, K., Wachino, J.I., Suzuki, M., Nagano, N., Kondo, T., Arakawa, Y.,
 2018. Detection of *Escherichia coli* producing CTX-M-1-group extended-spectrum β-lactamases from pigs in Aichi Prefecture, Japan, between 2015 and 2016. Jpn. J. Infect. Dis. 71, 33–38. https://doi.org/10.7883/yoken.JJID.2017.206
- Nossair, M.A., Abd El Baqy, F.A., Rizk, M.S.Y., Elaadli, H., Mansour, A.M., Abd El-Aziz,
 A.H., Alkhedaide, A., Soliman, M.M., Ramadan, H., Shukry, M., and Shaaban, S.I.,
 2022. Prevalence and molecular characterization of extended-spectrum β-lactamases and
 AmpC β-lactamase-producing *Enterobacteriaceae* among human, cattle , and poultry.
 Pathogens 11, 852. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens11080852
- Odoi, J.O., Takayanagi, S., Sugiyama, M., Usui, M., Tamura, Y., Asai, T., 2021. Prevalence of colistin-resistant bacteria among retail meats in Japan. Food Saf. 9, 48–56. https://doi.org/10.14252/foodsafetyfscj.d-21-00002
- Otero-Olarra, J.E., Curiel-Quesada, E., Baltazar-Cruz, J., Aguilera-Arreola, M.G., Pérez-Valdespino, A., 2020. Low cassette variability in class 2 and class 1 integrons of *Aeromonas* spp. isolated from environmental samples. Microb. Drug Resist. 26, 794–

801. https://doi.org/10.1089/mdr.2019.0250

- Qi, Q., Rajabal, V., Ghaly, T.M., Tetu, S.G., Gillings, M.R., 2023. Identification of integrons and gene cassette-associated recombination sites in bacteriophage genomes. Front. Microbiol. 14. 1091391. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2023.1091391
- Rensing, K.L., Abdallah, H.M., Koek, A., Elmowalid, G.A., Vandenbroucke-Grauls, C.M.J.E.,
 Al Naiemi, N., Van Dijk, K., 2019. Prevalence of plasmid-mediated AmpC in *Enterobacteriaceae* isolated from humans and from retail meat in Zagazig, Egypt.
 Antimicrob. Resist. Infect. Control 8, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13756-019-0494-6
- Rizi, K.S., Mosavat, A., Youssefi, M., Jamehdar, S.A., Ghazvini, K., Safdari, H., Amini, Y.,
 Farsiani, H., 2020. High prevalence of *bla*_{CMY} AmpC beta-lactamase in ESBL coproducing *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella* spp. clinical isolates in the northeast of Iran. J.
 Glob. Antimicrob. Resist. 22, 477–482. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jgar.2020.03.011
- Robatjazi, S., Nikkhahi, F., Niazadeh, M., Amin Marashi, S.M., Peymani, A., Javadi, A., Kashani, A.H., 2021. Phenotypic identification and genotypic characterization of plasmid-mediated AmpC β-lactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* isolates in Iran. Curr. Microbiol. 78, 2317–2323. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-021-02479-9
- Sakai, J., Maesaki, S., 2022. Prevalence, molecular characterization, and drug susceptibility of extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, *K. quasipneumoniae*, and *K. variicola* in Japan. Microb. Pathog. 169. 105663. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2022.105663
- Soliman, A.M., Maruyama, F., Zarad, H.O., Ota, A., Nariya, H., Shimamoto, T., Shimamoto,
 T., 2020. Emergence of a multidrug-resistant *Enterobacter hormaechei* clinical isolate
 from Egypt co-harboring *mcr-9* and *blavim-4*. Microorganisms 8, 1–9.

https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8040595

- Soliman, A.M., Nariya, H., Tanaka, D., Shimamoto, T., Shimamoto, T., 2023. A novel singletube eicosaplex/octaplex PCR system for the detection of extended-spectrum βlactamases, plasmid-mediated AmpC β-lactamases, and integrons in Gram-negative bacteria. Antibiotics 12, 90. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics12010090
- Sukmawinata, E., Uemura, R., Sato, W., Htun, M.T., Sueyoshi, M., 2020. Multidrug-resistant ESBL/AmpC-producing *Klebsiella pneumoniae* isolated from healthy thoroughbred racehorses in Japan. Animals 10, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10030369
- The government of Japan National Action Plan (NAP) on antimicrobial resistance, 2016– 2020. https://www.mhlw.go.jp/file/06-Seisakujouhou-10900000-Kenkoukyoku/0000138942.pdf.
- Tran, T., Checkley, S., Caffrey, N., Mainali, C., Gow, S., Agunos, A., Liljebjelke, K., 2021.
 Genetic characterization of AmpC and extended-spectrum beta-lactamase phenotypes in *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella* from Alberta broiler chickens. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 11, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2021.622195
- Uzeh, R.E., Adewumi, F., Odumosu, B.T., 2021. Antibiotic resistance and plasmid analysis of *Enterobacteriaceae* isolated from retail meat in Lagos Nigeria. One Heal. Outlook 3, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42522-021-00042-x
- Villa, L., García-Fernández, A., Fortini, D., Carattoli, A., 2010. Replicon sequence typing of IncF plasmids carrying virulence and resistance determinants. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 65, 2518–2529. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkq347
- Wang, X., Zhang, Y., Li, C., Li, G., Wu, D., Li, T., Qu, Y., Deng, W., He, Y., Penttinen, P., Zhang, H., Huang, Y., Zhao, K., Zou, L., 2022. Antimicrobial resistance of *Escherichia coli*, *Enterobacter* spp., *Klebsiella pneumoniae* and *Enterococcus* spp. isolated from the feces of giant panda. BMC Microbiol. 22, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-022-

02514-0

- Wang, Z., Zhang, J., Liu, S., Zhang, Y., Chen, C., Xu, M., Zhu, Y., Chen, B., Zhou, W., Cui, S., Yang, B., Chen, J., 2022. Prevalence, antimicrobial resistance, and genotype diversity of *Salmonella* isolates recovered from retail meat in Hebei Province, China. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 364, 109515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2021.109515
- Watanabe, M., Guruge, K.S., Uegaki, R., Kure, K., Yamane, I., Kobayashi, S., Akiba, M., 2023. Occurrence and the potential ecological risk of veterinary antimicrobials in swine farm wastewaters in Japan: Seasonal changes, relation to purchased quantity and after termination of oxytetracycline usage. Environ. Int. 173, 107812. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2023.107812
- Worku, W., Desta, M., Menjetta, T., 2022. High prevalence and antimicrobial susceptibility pattern of salmonella species and extended-spectrum β-lactamase producing *Escherichia coli* from raw cattle meat at butcher houses in Hawassa city, Sidama regional state, Ethiopia. PLoS One 17, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0262308
- Xedzro, C., Kimura, T., Shimamoto, T., Ahmed, A.M., Shimamoto, T., 2023. Comparative molecular profiling of antimicrobial resistance and phylogenetic characterization of multidrug-resistant *Escherichia coli* isolated from meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Japan. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 391–393, 110146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2023.110146
- Yamasaki, K., Komatsu, M., Abe, N., Fukuda, S., Miyamoto, Y., Higuchi, T., Ono, T., Nishio, H., Sueyoshi, N., Kida, K., Satoh, K., Toyokawa, M., Nishi, I., Sakamoto, M., Akagi, M., Nakai, I., Kofuku, T., Orita, T., Wada, Y., Jikimoto, T., Kinoshita, S., Miyamoto, K., Hirai, I., Yamamoto, Y., 2010. Laboratory surveillance for prospective plasmid-mediated AmpC β-lactamases in the Kinki region of Japan. J. Clin. Microbiol. 48, 3267–3273. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.02111-09

- Yasugi, M., Hatoya, S., Motooka, D., Matsumoto, Y., Shimamura, S., Tani, H., Furuya, M., Mie, K., Miyake, M., Nakamura, S., Shimada, T., 2021. Whole-genome analyses of extended-spectrum or AmpC β-lactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* isolates from companion dogs in Japan, PLoS One https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0246482
- Zhao, L., Liu, A., Li, R., Zhang, Z., Jia, Y., Zhao, S., 2022. High prevalence of *bla*_{TEM-135} and genetic epidemiology of *bla*_{TEM-135}-carrying *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* isolates in Shandong, China, 2017-19. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 77, 2406–2413. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkac192

Chapter 4

Predominance of multidrug-resistant Gram-negative bacteria isolated from supermarket retail seafood in Japan

1. Summary

Reports have documented antimicrobial usage in aquaculture, and the aquatic ecosystem can be considered a genetic storage site for antibiotic-resistant bacteria. This study assessed the prevalence of antimicrobial resistance among Gram-negative bacteria recovered from retail seafood in Hiroshima, Japan. A total of 412 bacteria were isolated and screened for the presence of β-lactamases, acquired carbapenemases, and mobile colistin-resistance (mcr) genes. Forty-five isolates were dominated by Morganella (28%), Proteus (22%), Aeromonas (14%), Citrobacter (8%), and Escherichia (8%) and carried antimicrobial resistance (AMR) genes. The identified AMR genes included integrons (19), *aac(6')-lb* (11), bla_{TEM-1} (7), bla_{CTX-M-like} (12), bla_{CTX-M-65} (2), bla_{SHV-12} (1), bla_{SHV-27} (1), bla_{OXA-10} (1), bla_{OXA-2} (1), and mcr (2). The most common clinical resistances were against ampicillin, colistin, sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim, tetracycline, and ciprofloxacin. Multidrug resistance (MDR) occurred in 27 (60%) isolates, and multiple antibiotic resistance indices ranged from 0.2–0.8. A conjugation experiment showed that 10 of the 11 selected MDR strains harbored conjugable plasmids, although PCR-based replicon typing described seven strains as untypable. IncF replicon was identified in MDR extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing Escherichia coli of pathogenic B2 phylogroup. The findings suggest that retail seafood harbors MDR bacteria of human interest that require strict resistance surveillance in the seafood production continuum.

Key words: antimicrobial resistance, retail seafood, plasmid, surveillance, Japan

2. Introduction

Seafood has great nutritional benefits and economic importance and serves as a rich source of animal proteins, vitamins, minerals, and essential fatty acids, which make seafood essential to fight malnutrition, especially in low- and middle-income countries (Issifu et al., 2022; Thilsted et al., 2016). Consequently, seafood consumption has increased over the years with most seafood products originating from aquaculture-based systems (Issifu et al., 2022). Aquaculture remains an important food sector and is recognized as a pillar of economic growth (Silvester et al., 2022). For instance, the total aquaculture production reached 122.6 million tons in 2020 and provided approximately 58.5 million jobs worldwide (FAOSTAT, 2022).

Globally, aquaculture production has been associated with negative impacts such as the emergence of fish diseases and loss of aquatic life, compelling farmers to apply antibiotics in intensive culture systems (Nadella et al., 2021). The increasing demand for seafood products has driven farmers to use antimicrobials as growth enhancers. Several antimicrobials including tetracyclines, quinolones, and penicillin are critical in human medicine and have been approved by the World Health Organization for use in aquaculture (Marijani, 2022). In Japan, antibiotics such as tetracyclines, sulfonamides, macrolides, quinolones, and penicillin are used in seawater aquaculture (Ido, 2023). These antimicrobials have significant applications in the Asian aquaculture industry for the continuous production of seafood products (Shakerian et al., 2017). Excessive use of antibiotics and other chemotherapeutics in aquaculture has resulted in the emergence and dissemination of antimicrobial resistance across diverse bacterial species in aquatic environments (Nadella et al., 2021; Stratev et al., 2023). Compared to antimicrobial applications in terrestrial animal production, the use of antimicrobials in aquaculture seems to provide a wider exposure pathway for drug distribution within water, which facilitates the accumulation of antimicrobial residues with potential ecosystem health implications.

Furthermore, aquaculture environments that use antimicrobials may serve as genetic reservoirs for antimicrobial resistance, providing direct pathways for human exposure to antimicrobial-resistant bacteria through the consumption of contaminated seafood (Schar et al., 2020; Tate et al., 2022). In addition, there is indirect or horizontal gene transfer of mobile genetic elements (including plasmids, transposable elements, and superintegrons) from aquatic bacteria to human-related pathogens (Mancini et al., 2023; Shakerian et al., 2017). Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) among seafood-borne bacteria can potentially decrease the effectiveness of antimicrobial therapy in humans and lead to human death, financial burden, and a major reduction in aquaculture production. Estimates suggest that approximately 10 million lives and USD 100 trillion will be lost by 2050 because of AMR if existing control measures to prevent the spread of AMR are compromised (Agyarkwa et al., 2022; Xedzro et al., 2023).

A variety of fresh fish and seafood products are served raw in the Japanese cuisine. For instance, sashimi, thinly sliced seafood prepared from raw fish, is commonly used in Japanese cuisine (Hammad et al., 2014). Although processed under special and strict hygienic conditions, the possibility of human exposure to critical-priority bacteria exists. Considering that the use of antimicrobials is a common feature in the Japanese aquaculture industry (Matsuura et al., 2019), seafood surveillance for antimicrobial resistance is crucial for monitoring the occurrence and status of resistance traits in seafood.

In 2016, Japan implemented a National Action Plan (NAP) for AMR by outlining specific targets for antimicrobial usage, including those applied in aquaculture (The government of Japan, 2020). However, the prevalence of AMR in seafood following NAP implementation remains unknown. In addition, reportedly, there are no updated data on seafood surveillance for the future monitoring of AMR trends. Following the principles outlined in the NAP, strengthening the continuous approach for collecting and reporting AMR data is necessary. Such data evaluated at the local, regional, and national levels play a pivotal role in policymaking and justify the effectiveness of the AMR policy. As antimicrobial resistance surveillance is an important aspect of implementing effective control programs, the current study primarily assessed the prevalence of antimicrobial-resistant foodborne bacteria in retail seafood and examined the conjugal transfer mechanisms that might play a key role in the dissemination of AMR genes.

3. Materials and Methods

3.1 Sample collection and pre-processing

Fifty seafood samples were collected from 21 retail supermarkets in Hiroshima, Japan, between December 2022 and August 2023. Samples included fish (n = 15), shrimp (n = 13), oysters (n = 4), seaweed (n = 1), squid (n = 16), and clams (n = 1). All samples were transported in thermally insulated bags (at 4 °C) to the laboratory and processed within 24 h of collection. Equal portions from the head, abdominal, and tail regions of fish were pooled and mixed before taking the required portion for analysis. The clam samples were broken using a sterile hammer and scalpel, and meat was collected from two to three specimens.

3.2 Microbiological analyses and bacterial isolation

Bacterial isolation was performed as previously described (Xedzro et al., 2023). Briefly, a 25 g portion of each sample was weighed into a sterile stomacher bag and homogenized in 225 mL buffered peptone water (Nissui Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) containing 2% NaCl. The resulting homogenate was incubated at 37 °C for 6–8 h and plated on MacConkey agar containing ampicillin (100 µg/mL), meropenem (2 µg/mL), streptomycin (50 µg/mL), or colistin (2 µg/mL). Further, a 1000 µL of each suspension was transferred into 9 mL Luria-Bertani (LB) broth (Nacalai Tesque, Inc., Kyoto, Japan) with or without ampicillin and streptomycin. To detect β -lactamase producers, ampicillin broth cultures were plated on MacConkey agar containing ampicillin (100 µg/mL) or meropenem (2 µg/mL). In case of selecting aminoglycoside-resistant strains, streptomycin broth cultures were plated on MacConkey agar containing streptomycin (50 µg/mL). Colistin in broth culture was not performed, instead antibiotic free LB cultures were plated on MacConkey agar containing streptomycin (50 µg/mL). Colistin in broth culture was not performed, instead antibiotic free LB cultures were plated on MacConkey agar containing streptomycin (streptimental conditions. Subsequently, 3–5 morphological distinct colonies were selected and re-cultured on individual antibiotic-containing plates. Finally, 412 Gram-negative bacterial isolates were recovered and purified on LB agar without antibiotics.

3.3 Molecular screening to detect AMR determinants

Total genomic DNA was extracted from the boiled lysates. Molecular screening of the 412 isolates was performed to identify extended-spectrum β -lactamase (ESBL) -encoding genes (*bla*_{SHV} and *bla*_{CTX-M}), other β -lactamases (*bla*_{TEM}, *bla*_{OXA-1}, *bla*_{OXA-2}, *bla*_{OXA-5}, *bla*_{OXA-9}, AmpC), integrons (classes 1, 2, 3), and aminoglycoside acetyltransferase gene, *aac*(*6*)-*lb* as previously described (Soliman et al., 2023; Xedzro et al., 2023). PCR detection of mobile colistin-resistance genes (*mcr*-*1*-*10*) (Borowiak et al., 2020; Jousset et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2020) and acquired carbapenemases (KPC, NDM, OXA-48, VIM, and IMP) (Poirel et al., 2011) was performed. The variable regions of classes 1 and 2 integrons within the integron positive isolates were amplified using primers complementary to the 5' and 3' conserved segments of class 1 integrons (5' CS and 3' CS) and class 2 integrons (hep74 and hep51) (Table S1). PCR amplification conditions were as follows: initial denaturation at 98 °C for 1 min, 30 cycles of denaturation at 98 °C for 10 s, annealing at 50 °C for 15 s, extension at
68 °C for 2 min, and final extension at 68 °C for 15 s (Xedzro et al., 2023). PCR products were purified using ExoSAP-IT (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and processed for Sanger sequencing using Eurofins Genomics, Japan. Bacteria were identified by amplifying the full-length (1,500 bp) 16S rRNA fragment using 27F (AGAGTTTGATCMTGGCTCAG) and 1492R (CGGYTACCTTGTTACGACTT) primer sets.

3.4 Phenotypic antimicrobial susceptibility testing

The susceptibility to 15 antimicrobial agents (from 12 different classes) was investigated using the Kirby-Bauer disk diffusion assay method in compliance with the Clinical and Laboratory Standard Institute (CLSI, 2020) (Hiki et al., 2015). The antibiotic panel included ampicillin (10 µg), cefotaxime (30 µg), ceftazidime (30 µg), cefepime (30 µg), cefoxitin (30 µg), aztreonam (30 µg), meropenem (10 µg), amikacin (30 µg), kanamycin (30 μg), tetracycline (30 μg), chloramphenicol (30 μg), ciprofloxacin (5 μg), sulfamethoxazoletrimethoprim (23.75/1.25 μ g), and fosfomycin (50 μ g). Bacterial cultures (single colonies) from each isolate were suspended in sterile normal saline (0.85% NaCl, w/v) and the optical density was adjusted to 0.5 MacFarland standard. The resulting suspension was surfacespread on Muller-Hinton agar using a sterile cotton swab. Each antibiotic-treated disk was carefully placed on an inoculated agar plate. The plates were incubated at 37 °C for 16–18 h and the results were interpreted based on the interpretative chart supplied with the antimicrobial agent. The minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of colistin was determined using the broth microdilution method in cation-adjusted Mueller-Hinton broth, in accordance with the 2021 recommendations of the European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST, 2021). E. coli ATCC 25922 was used as the quality control strain. Isolates displaying intermediate resistance were considered resistant to antimicrobial agents. Multidrug resistance is defined as the resistance to three or more antimicrobial classes

(Magiorakos et al., 2012). The multiple-antibiotic resistance (MAR) index of the isolates was established as previously described (Titilawo et al., 2015a). MAR index is defined as the ratio of a and b, where "a" is the number of antibiotics to which an isolate was resistant, whereas "b" is the number of antibiotics to which the same isolate was exposed. An MAR index higher than 0.2 means that the tested isolates originated from a high-risk contamination source where antibiotics are frequently used.

3.5 Detection of E. coli phylogenetic group

Quadruplex PCR was performed to detect *E. coli* phylogroups as previously described (Clermont et al., 2013). PCR amplification targets and techniques for assigning phylogroups were as follows: *arpA*|*chuA*|*yjaA*|TspE4.C2. *E. coli* ATCC 25922 was used as a quality control strain for phylogroup B2, and nuclease-free water served as a negative control.

3.6 Conjugation assay

A conjugation experiment was conducted using a filter-mating conjugation assay as previously described (Sadek et al., 2021). Exponential-phase lysogeny broth cultures of donor bacteria (11 strains selected based on their genotype and phenotype) and azide-resistant *E. coli* J53 recipient strains were used. Both the donor and recipient strains were mixed in a ratio of 1:9 (100 μ L donor:900 μ L recipient) and centrifuged for 3 min at 6,000 rpm. The supernatant was removed, and the pellets were resuspended in 200 μ L LB broth. The resulting suspension was then plated on a conjugation filter (0.22 μ m pore size) on LB agar and incubated for 3–5 h at 37 °C. The filter was removed and placed in 3 mL fresh LB medium and incubated for 1 h at 37 °C. Transconjugants were selected on LB agar containing 100 μ g/mL sodium azide and 100 μ g/mL ampicillin. Transconjugants were confirmed using PCR targeting the resistance genes and antimicrobial susceptibility testing (ampicillin alone).

3.7 Plasmid isolation and PCR-based replicon typing (PBRT)

Plasmids were isolated from the 11 selected strains as well as the *E. coli* J53 transconjugants. The alkaline lysis method was used for plasmid preparation as described previously (Green and Sambrook, 2016) with slight modifications. Briefly, alkaline lysis (lysis buffers I, II, and III) was performed on overnight LB broth cultures for 3-5 min. Supernatants were obtained after centrifugation and mixed with an equal volume of isopropanol. The precipitated nucleic acids were collected and dissolved in 1 mL 70% ethanol. Plasmid DNA was recovered as pellets and finally dissolved in 50 µL of Tris-EDTA (pH 8.0) buffer containing 20 µg/mL DNase-free RNase A. PBRT was then performed to identify the plasmid incompatibility (Inc/rep) groups using 18 primer sets targeting HI1, HI2, I1, X, L/M, N, FIA, FIB, W, Y, P, FIC, A/C, T, FIIs, FrepB, K/B, and B/O, as previously described (Carattoli et al., 2005). The assay was conducted using five multiplex and three simplex PCR assays.

3.8 Blast search and statistical analyses

All sequenced data were subjected to a similarity search using the Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) available in the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) database. Phenotypic resistance data were recorded in Microsoft Excel 365, and the results are presented as percentages. Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS version 29.0 (SPSS Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Pearson's chi-square or Fisher's exact tests were used to analyze significant differences in the prevalence of AMR determinants among samples or antibiotic resistance among different bacterial species. The results were considered not statistically significant when p-values were >0.05.

4. Results

4.1 Isolation and identification of bacterial species

Among the 50 samples analyzed, 22 (44.0%) were contaminated with gram-negative bacteria carrying antimicrobial resistance determinants. The contaminated samples included 8/15 (53.3%) fish, 6/13 (46.2%) shrimp, 7/16 (43.8%) oysters, 1/4 (25.0%) oysters, and 0/1 (0.0%) seaweed and clams (Figure 9).



Contaminated Uncontaminated

Fig 9. Bar graph showing the percentage of seafood samples contaminated in each sample category

A total of 45 non duplicate Gram-negative bacteria carrying AMR genes were recovered from the contaminated seafood products. The most prevalent bacterial species isolated were Morganella morganii (28.0%), Proteus spp. (22.0%), Aeromonas spp. (14.0%), Citrobacter spp. (8.0%), and E. coli (8.0%) (Table 14). Other identified species were Enterobacter spp. (6.0%), Klebsiella pneumoniae (2.0%), and Pseudomonas putida (2.0%). Fish and squid samples were predominantly contaminated with Morganella, Proteus, and Aeromonas, although none of the squid samples tested positive for Aeromonas spp. (Table 14).

Four *E. coli* strains belonging to the pathogenic B2, commensal A, and B1 strains were isolated from a single sample of fish, shrimp, oysters, or squid. The results show that seafood is a potential carrier of diverse bacteria carrying AMR genes, which is a risk factor for consumer safety.

Bacterial species			P	revalence (%	ó)		
	Fish	Shrimp	Oyster	Seaweed	Squid	Clam	Total
	(n=15)	(n=13)	(n=4)	(n=1)	(n=16)	(n=1)	(N=50)
Morganella morganii	5 (33.3)	3 (23.1)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	6 (37.5)	0 (0.0)	14 (28.0)
Proteus spp.	4 (26.7)	2 (15.4)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	5 (31.3)	0 (0.0)	11 (22.0)
Aeromonas spp.	4 (26.7)	3 (23.1)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	7 (14.0)
Citrobacter spp.	1 (6.7)	2 (15.4)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (6.3)	0 (0.0)	4 (8.0)
Escherichia coli	1 (6.7)	1 (7.7)	1 (25.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (6.3)	0 (0.0)	4 (8.0)
Enterobacter spp.	1 (6.7)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (12.5)	0 (0.0)	3 (6.0)
Klebsiella spp.	0 (0.0)	1 (7.7)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (2.0)
Pseudomonas spp.	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (6.3)	0 (0.0)	1 (2.0)

Table 14. Occurrence of different Gram-negative bacteria isolated from retail seafood in Hiroshima

N: total number of samples, n= number of samples for each seafood category

4.2 Prevalence of β -lactamase-encoding genes and other AMR determinants from seafood samples

Of the 45 isolates identified as carrying AMR genes, 31.1 and 15.6% carried the bla_{CTX-M} and bla_{TEM} resistance genotypes, respectively (Table 15). These genes were predominantly found in squid isolates. The bla_{CTX-M} type was identified in 25.0% and 33.3% of the fish and shrimp isolates, respectively (p > 0.05). Only two isolates carrying bla_{SHV} or bla_{OXA} were found in fish, shrimp, or squid. The most prevalent AMR genes detected in this study were integrons (42.2%). They also confer resistance to trimethoprim, quaternary ammonium compounds, aminoglycosides, and chloramphenicol. The aminoglycoside acetyl transferase gene, aac(6)-*lb*, which also confers resistance to aminoglycosides was prevalent in 11 (24.4%) of the total isolates recovered from seafood. Although none of the isolates tested positive for carbapenemase-encoding genes, we found two (4.4%) that harbored mobile colistin resistance (*mcr*) gene (Table 15). Generally, no significant differences (*p* > 0.05) were observed in the occurrence rates of AMR determinants among the contaminated samples of different categories.

4.3 Antibiogram profiles of isolated Gram-negative bacteria

The isolates (n=45) were tested against 15 antimicrobial agents as illustrated in Figure 10. All isolates were resistant to at least one antimicrobial agent. Overall, the highest resistance rate was observed for ampicillin (93.3%), followed by colistin (62.2%), sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim (48.9%), tetracycline (40.0%), ciprofloxacin (35.6%), and cefoxitin (33.3%) (Figure 10). Meropenem resistance was observed in three (6.7%) isolates, while seven (15.6%) isolates also conferred resistance to cephalosporins. The percentage resistance of the most abundant species is listed in Table 16. Ampicillin resistance (100%) was observed in all isolates except *Proteus* spp. (72.7%), although the differences were not

statistically significant (p > 0.05). Cephalosporin (third and fourth generation)-resistant phenotypes were found in *M. morganii* 1/14 (7.1%), *P. mirabilis* 1/11 (9.1), *E. coli* 2/4 (50.0%), and *E. cloacae* 3/3 (100%) isolates. Notably, some of these isolates do not carry extended-spectrum β -lactamase-encoding genes responsible for hydrolyzing this drug class. Twenty-five isolates of *Morganella* and *Proteus*, which are known to have some intrinsic polymyxin resistance (Olaitan et al., 2014), were all resistant to colistin [minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC); 8 µg/mL to >128 µg/mL]. Colistin resistance was also identified in one strain of C. freundii and in 3/6 (42.9%) of the *Aeromonas* spp. It is worth mentioning that the *mcr-3.2* and *mcr-10.1* identified in *A. hydrophila* and *E. cloacae*, respectively, were susceptible to colistin (MIC; 1 µg/mL).

4.4 Multiple antibiotic resistance (MAR) indices among MDR isolates

Twenty-seven of the 45 (60.0%) strains exhibited an MDR phenotype (Table 17). MDR is defined as non-susceptibility to three or more antimicrobial classes (Magiorakos et al., 2012). MAR index ranged from 0.20–0.8 with the highest MAR index originating from *mcr-10.1*-carrying E. cloacae (Table 17). Of the 27 isolates that showed MDR phenotypes, 12 (44.4%) had MAR index of 0.2–0.27, 11 (40.7%) showed MAR index of 0.33–0.47, and the remaining isolates had MAR index of 0.53–0.8, suggesting that the isolates originate from a high-risk contaminated source.

Table 15. Distr	ibution of Al	MR genes amc	ing retail seaf	ood samples					
	No. of	*β-lactamas	se types (%)			*Others (%)			
Sample type	isolates	blasHv	blacTX-M	blatem	blaoxa	aac (6)-Ib	Integrons	mcr	Carbapenemase
Fish	16	1 (6.3)	4 (25.0)	1 (6.3)	1 (6.3)	5 (31.3)	7 (43.8)	1 (6.3)	0 (0.0)
Shrimp	12	1 (8.3)	4 (33.3)	2 (16.7)	0 (0.0)	1 (8.3)	4 (33.3)	1 (8.3)	0 (0.0)
Oyster	1	0(0.0)	1 (100)	(0.0)	0 (0.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	0 (0.0)
Seaweed	0	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	(0.0)	0 (0.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	0 (0.0)
Squid	16	0(0.0)	5 (31.3)	4 (25.0)	1 (6.3)	5(31.3)	8 (50.0)	0(0.0)	0 (0.0)
Clam	0	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	0 (0.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	0 (0.0)
Total (%)	45	2 (4.4)	14 (31.1)	7 (15.6)	2 (4.4)	11 (24.4)	19 (42.2)	2 (4.4)	0 (0.0)
4T 1'	7.F T 2				Ę	-			

*Indicates no significant difference (p>0.05) in the occurrence of AMR genes among samples.

104



Fig 10. Overall antimicrobial resistance profiles of Gram-negative bacteria isolated from retail seafood. AMP: ampicillin, CTX: cefotaxime, CAZ: ceftazidime, FEP: cefepime, FOX: cefoxitin, ATM: aztreonam, MEM: meropenem, KAN: kanamycin, AMK: amikacin, TET: tetracycline, CHL: chloramphenicol, CIP: ciprofloxacin, SXT: sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim, CST: colistin, FOF: fosfomycin

4.5 E. coli phylogroup, plasmid transferability, and PBRT

The four *E. coli* strains identified in our study were assigned to phylogroups based on the Clermont classification (Clermont et al., 2013) . Two strains carrying $bla_{CTX-M-65}$ were assigned to the pathogenic B2 phylogroup, whereas the other two strains carrying bla_{TEM-1} belonged to avirulent A or B1 phylogroups. To assess the involvement of some isolates in the spread of antimicrobial resistance, 11 ampicillin-resistant strains exhibiting MDR phenotypes were selected and used as donors in the conjugation experiments. Ampicillin-resistant *mcr-3*carrying *A. hydrophila* was also included, although conjugation was unsuccessful—possibly because *mcr-3* is located on the chromosome. All other isolates successfully transferred their resistance plasmids and ampicillin resistance traits to *E. coli* J53 (conjugation efficiency: 2.8 × 10⁻⁷ to 8.6 × 10⁻⁶). Two or five transconjugants obtained from the two mating pairs were analyzed for resistance gene acquisition. All the selected transconjugants carried the resistance determinants identified in the original strains. Although the strains carried conjugable plasmids, PBRT revealed that most of them carried untypable plasmids. Nonetheless, we found that three *E. coli* isolates harbored the IncFIA, IncFIB, IncFIC, or IncFrepB plasmid replicon types. The same plasmids were identified in *E. coli* J53 transconjugants (Table 18).

IAUIC IO. I CICCII	I I CSISIAII	CONT MIC	UD ISUII	niinaiii	Main-	gauve	Darichte	a agaille	valluus	allullu	cipinni					
Certification of the second seco	No. of	070 *	ALC		сер	EOV	YULY*	*NTENT	IN V M	AIVA	101. *	1110*	Ę	T70*	Loc	EOE
species	isolates		CIV	CAL	101	LUA	MITY.		NAN	AIMIN	101.	TUD.	CIL	IVC	100	ror
Morganella morganii	14	100	7.1	7.1	7.1	21.4	7.1	0.0	21.4	0.0	42.9	14.3	21.4	50.0	100	35.7
Proteus spp.	11	72.7	9.1	9.1	9.1	0.0	9.1	9.1	18.2	9.1	45.5	18.2	36.4	36.4	100	0.0
Aeromonas spp.	L	100	0.0	0.0	0.0	57.1	0.0	0.0	14.3	14.3	14.3	0.0	0.0	28.6	42.9	0.0
Citrobacter spp.	4	100	0.0	0.0	0.0	100	0.0	0.0	25.0	0.0	50.0	25.0	50.0	100	25.0	0.0
Escherichia coli	4	100	50.0	50.0	50.0	0.0	25.0	0.0	75.0	50.0	50.0	25.0	75.0	25.0	0.0	0.0
Enterobacter spp.	Э	100	100	100	100	100	33.3	0.0	100	66.7	33.3	0.0	100	100	0.0	0.0
*Indicates no si	gnificant	differen	ce (p>0	.05) in	antibio	tic resi	stance	among 1	bacteria	specie	s. AMF	: ampi	cillin,	CTX: c	efotaxin	le, CAZ:
ceftazidime, FEF	: cefepin	ne, FOX:	cefoxiti	n, ATM	: aztreoi	nam, M	EM: m	eropener	n, KAN	: kanam	ycin, A	MK: an	nikacin,	TET: to	etracycli	ne, CHL:

chloramphenicol, CIP: ciprofloxacin, SXT: sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim, CST: colistin, FOF: fosfomycin

107

	Sample	Identification	Genotypes	MDR profiles	MAR Index
D2-C042	Squid	Proteus mirabilis	blactx-m-9, blaoxa-2	CTX, CAZ, FEP, ATM, KAN, AMK, CIP, SXT, CST	0.60
B2-S021	Shrimp	Klebsiella pneumoniae	blashv-27	AMP, MEM, CIP, FOF	0.27
B2-S020	Shrimp	Citrobacter freundii	bla _{TEM-1B} , dfrA14	AMP, FOX, CIP, SXT	0.27
D2-S025	Squid	Proteus vulgaris	dfrA1-catB2-aadA1	AMP, MEM, TET, CIP, SXT, CST	0.40
A2-A044	Oyster	Escherichia coli	blactx-M-65	AMP, CTX, CAZ, FEP, ATM, KAN, CIP	0.47
A3-A049	Fish	Proteus mirabilis	<i>bla</i> CTX-M-like	AMP, TET, CST	0.20
A3-A053	Fish	Escherichia coli	blactx-M-65	AMP, CTX, CAZ, FEP, KAN, AMK, CIP	0.47
C3-A056	Shrimp	Escherichia coli	$bla_{\mathrm{TEM-1}}$	AMP, TET, CHL, CIP, SXT	0.33
B3-A054	Squid	Morganella morganii	Class 1 integron	AMP, FOX, CST, FOF	0.27
B3-M090	Squid	Pseudomonas putida	Class 1 integron	AMP, MEM, CHL, SXT, FOF	0.33
D6-A190	Shrimp	Aeromonas hydrophila	<i>bla</i> ctx-m-like	AMP, FOX, CST	0.20
C6-S206	Fish	Citrobacter freundii	<i>bla</i> oxa-10, <i>aadA1-bla</i> cARB-2	AMP, FOX TET, CHL, CIP, SXT, CST	0.47
C6-S212	Fish	Morganella morganii	aac (6')-Ib3, aadA-aadB, bla _{DHA}	AMP, FOX, TET, CIP, SXT, CST	0.40
C6-A180	Fish	Proteus cibarius	$bla_{ m CARB-2}$	AMP, TET, CHL, CIP, SXT, CST	0.40
B7-S201	Fish	Aeromonas allosaccharophila	$aadA2$, bla_{FOX}	AMP, FOX, SXT	0.20
B7-S203	Fish	Aeromonas sobria	aadA1-catB8	AMP, FOX, SXT, CST	0.27
A9-A238	Squid	Enterobacter cloacae	bla _{TEM-1} , dfrAl 7-aadA5	AMP, CTX, CAZ, FEP, FOX, KAN, AMK, CIP, SXT	0.60
B14-A346	Squid	Citrobacter braakii	bla _{TEM-1}	AMP, FOX, KAN, TET, SXT	0.33
B12-S377	Fish	Enterobacter cloacae	blaTEM-1, blasHV-12, mcr-10.1	AMP, CTX, CAZ, FEP, FOX, ATM, KAN, AMK, TET, CIP, SXT, FOF	0.80
D7-C395	Squid	Escherichia coli	$bla_{\mathrm{TEM-1}}$	AMP, KAN, AMK, TET	0.27
B14-C405	Squid	Proteus alimentorum	$bla_{ m CTX-M-like}$	AMP, KAN, CST	0.20
B10-C300	Squid	Morganella morganii	aacA4	AMP, CIP, CST	0.20
A8-C303	Fish	Morganella morganii	aacA4	AMP, CST, FOF	0.20
A10-C310	Fish	Morganella morganii	aacA4	AMP, CST, FOF	0.20
C10-C315	Squid	Morganella morganii	aacA4	AMP, CTX, CAZ, FEP, FOX, ATM, SXT, CST	0.53
B14-S360	Squid	Morganella morganii	aacA4, dfrA12-aadA2	AMP, KAN, TET, CIP, SXT CST	0.40
B13-M388	Shrimp	Morganella morganii	aadA1-aadB-1a-cmlA6	AMP, TET, CHL, SXT, CST, FOF	0.40

Table 18. F	tesults of conju	gation and plasmid replicon	n typing of selected	d MDR bacteria	isolated from retail	l seafood	
Isolate	Species	Resistance genes	Replicon type	Plasmid transfer	Replicon type (TC)	Resistance genes (TC)*	Ampicillin resistance (TC)
A2-A044	E. coli	blacTX-M-65	IncFIA, IncFIB	Transferred	IncFIA	blacTX-M	Resistant
() V (5)	2015 2017		IncFIB, IncFIC,	Transferred	IncFIB, IncFIC,	blactx-M	Resistant
CCUA-CA	Б. C011	DIACTX-M-65	IncFrepB		IncFrepB		
C3-A056	E. coli	blarem-1	IncFIA, IncFIB	Transferred	IncFIA, IncFIB	blatem	Resistant
C6206	C. freundii	blaoxa-10, aadA1-blacARB-2	Untypeable	Transferred	Untypeable	Class 1 integron, blaoxa-	Resistant
						5	
D6-A192	A. hydrophila	mcr-3.2	ND	Not transferred	ND	ND	Resistant
C6-A180	P. cibarius	blacarb-2	Untypeable	Transferred	Untypeable	Class 1 integron	Resistant
B13-M388	M. morganii	aadA1-aadB-1a-cm146	Untypeable	Transferred	Untypeable	ND	Resistant
C6-S212	M. morganii	aac (6')-Ib3, aadA-aadB,	Untypeable	Transferred	Untypeable	aac(6')-Ib	Resistant
	0	bladha					
B12-S377	E. cloacae	<i>bla</i> TEM-1, <i>bla</i> SHV-12, <i>mcr-10.1</i>	Untypeable	Transferred	Untypeable	blactx-m, blashv	Resistant
C10-C315	M. morganii	aacA4	Untypeable	Transferred	Untypeable	aac(6')-Ib	Resistant
A9-A238	E. cloacae	blaTEM-1, aadA5-dfrA17	Untypeable	Transferred	Untypeable	рІатем	Resistant
TC. Tenne	anin cont						

IC: Iransconjugant.

ND: Not determined.

*Resistance genes in the transconjugants were not sequenced for the specific alleles.

Note: bla_{CARB-2} is a β -lactamase gene which was part of integron cassette

5. Discussions

Thus, the food chain may be a direct source of antimicrobial-resistant bacteria that affect humans. Various bacterial pathogens have been isolated from seafood (Abdulhakeem et al., 2023; Castello et al., 2022), ready-to-eat (RTE) raw seafood (Hammad et al., 2014, 2012; Harada et al., 2018), and seafood processing water (Agyarkwa et al., 2022). In Japan, the Ministry of Health, Labor, and Welfare has issued and strengthened hygiene management criteria, including proper refrigeration storage temperature (10 °C or lower) and disinfection procedures for proper sanitary processing of seafood or RTE raw seafood and pickled vegetables (Harada et al., 2018; Taguchi et al., 2017). However, to the best of my knowledge, data on the incidence of antimicrobial-resistant pathogens in seafood and the potential health risks that might arise from foodborne pathogens are scarce. Therefore, studying the antimicrobial resistance of bacteria isolated from seafood is essential.

In the present study, 45 bacterial species isolated from various seafood products were characterized along with their resistance attributes. More than 40% of the seafood products were contaminated with different resistant bacteria belonging to eight genera: *Morganella*, *Proteus, Aeromonas, Citrobacter, Escherichia, Enterobacter, Klebsiella*, and *Pseudomonas*. These bacterial species have been frequently identified in fish, shrimp, and squid samples and have also been detected in seafood samples in other studies in Japan and France (Delannoy et al., 2022; Harada et al., 2018). Additionally, several other studies have reported the presence of *Aeromonas, Proteus, Enterobacter, E. coli, Vibrio, Yersinia*, and *Acinetobacter* in the internal organs and muscles of fish (Novoslavskij et al., 2016; Raharjo et al., 2023). Given that these seafood products are widely consumed in Japan, it would certainly be of high priority to continuously examine them in surveillance programs. Furthermore, the presence of coliform bacteria such as *E. coli, Klebsiella, Citrobacter*, and *Enterobacter* is an indication of fecal or environmental contamination, although some coliforms can also be found in aquatic

environments (Chitanand et al., 2010). The contamination rates of samples differ depending on the geographical location, seasonal factors, method of investigation, and sample size. In view of our small sample size, we are unable to comment on this further, although the contamination rate (44%) found in the current study was consistent with or lower than that reported in previous studies (45–96.7%) (Hammad et al., 2014; Harada et al., 2018; Marijani 2022). Periodic surveillance with small sample sizes may be effective for AMR surveillance because it provides fast and frequent data for monitoring AMR trends.

PCR and sequence analyses revealed the presence of various AMR genes in the recovered isolates. The commonly encountered AMR genes included class 1 integrons (aadA1, aadA2, aadA5, aadB-1a, dfrA14, dfrA12, or dfrA17) (42.2%), CTX-M (bla_{CTX-M-65}, blacTX-M-9 or blacTX-M-like) (31.1%), aac(6)-Ib genes (aacA4 or aac(6)-Ib3) (24.4%) as well as TEM genes ($bla_{\text{TEM-1}}$) (15.6%). The detection of these genes was not surprising, as they have been reported in seafood products in Japan (Ahmed et al., 2015) and other countries (Changsen et al., 2023; Kamala and Sivaperumal, 2023; Singh et al., 2020). Recently, the molecular characterization of ESBL-producing Enterobacterales with a wide range of drug resistance was retrieved from marine fish (Kamala and Sivaperumal, 2023), chicken, and chicken meat (Nakayama et al., 2022; Tran et al., 2021; Xedzro et al., 2023), suggesting a wide distribution of ESBLs. These genes were commonly identified, possibly because of plasmid transfer mechanisms, which play an important role in the rapid dissemination of mobile genetic elements, not only in humans and animals but also within the aquatic environment. Seaweed, oysters, and clams were not proportionally sampled, which reduced the probability of detecting AMR genes. We identified this as a limitation of our study that requires further consideration in future surveillance programs.

Several studies have reported antimicrobial use in aquaculture (Ido, 2023; Nadella et al., 2021; Tate et al., 2022; Troella et al., 2007). The irrational use of antimicrobials has

resulted in the emergence of resistant pathogens, including multidrug-resistant strains (Nadella et al., 2021). Similarly, antibiotic resistance was identified in the isolates recovered in this study. Most of the isolates were resistant to ampicillin and colistin, followed by sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim, tetracycline, and ciprofloxacin (Figure 10 and Table 16). Resistance to some of these antimicrobials has been reported in isolates isolated from seafood products in Japan (Ahmed et al., 2015; Harada et al., 2018). These antimicrobials, except colistin, have been frequently used in Japanese culture farms for several years (Ido, 2023). The common use of such antimicrobials may be a cause of the high resistance conferred by the foodborne bacteria isolated in this study. Colistin resistance was also high and was mainly mediated by Morganella and Proteus, which have been reported to have an intrinsic resistance to polymyxins, including colistin (Olaitan et al., 2014). I also found three isolates of Aeromonas that conferred colistin resistance, which was not surprising because some Aeromonas species tend to have inducible resistance to colistin (Gonzalez-Avila et al., 2021). Cephalosporins are currently among the recommended treatment options for patients with severe multidrug-drug resistant infections (Laird et al., 2021; Xedzro et al., 2023). In this context, it is important to mention the third and fourth generation cephalosporin resistance observed in this study. Seven (15.6%) isolates that conferred clinical resistance to cefotaxime and ceftazidime also hydrolyzed cefepime, a fourth generation cephalosporin drug with a wide spectrum of activity against many gram-negative bacterial pathogens (Chong et al., 2010) (Figure 10). Of the cephalosporin-resistant isolates, two E. coli, one E. cloacae, and one P. mirabilis strains carried bla_{CTX-M-65}, bla_{SHV-12}, and bla_{CTX-M-9}, respectively, whereas the remaining strains did not carry ESBL genes responsible for hydrolyzing cephalosporins. Surprisingly, the *P. mirabilis* strain harboring the $bla_{CTX-M-9}$ genotype was susceptible to ampicillin-suggesting an unknown phenotype. MDR was observed in 27 (60%) isolates (Table 17), which was alarming. Considering that the consumption of seafood is a part of Japanese culture, the prevalence of MDR constitutes a potential consumer health risk. Among the MDR isolates, the MAR index ranged from 0.2–0.8, with approximately 55% having a MAR index greater than 0.3, indicating that these isolates originated from high-risk contamination source (Titilawo et al., 2015a). The high incidence of MDR can be attributed to multiple resistance mechanisms, such as overexpression of multidrug efflux pumps and effective enzymatic hydrolysis of drugs (Titilawo et al., 2015b).

Specific plasmids associated with resistance gene dissemination have been identified in both clinical settings and food chains. The frequent detection of some plasmid types indicates their role in spreading drug resistance traits, especially among *Enterobacteriaceae*. In the present study, we investigated the transferability of plasmids associated with the spread of resistance traits. Even though seven out of the 11 selected strains with conjugable plasmids were negative (untypable) for all the target replicons, IncF replicons were detected in three E. coli strains. It is possible that the untypable plasmids were divergent or novel, and PBRT could not detect them because it targets classic incompatibility groups (Carattoli, 2009). The detection of IncF replicons in this study is consistent with a previous report that IncF plasmids are common in Enterobacteriaceae, especially E. coli (Carattoli, 2009). Evidence suggests that IncF is the most commonly described plasmid type identified in animals and humans, with the most frequently detected resistance genes being ESBLs (Rozwandowicz et al., 2018), suggesting that the plasmids identified in seafood may have originated from human or animal sources. IncFIA, IncFIB, IncFIC, and IncFrepB in ESBL-producing E. coli strains belonging to pathogenic B2 or commensal A phylogroups were also detected. Pathogenic B2 and commensal A phylogroups were recently reported in a collection of MDR ESBL-producing E. coli (Xedzro et al., 2023). In a recent report, IncF-positive commensal MDR E. coli strains were recovered from clams and sediments in Italy (Citterio et al., 2020). In Japan, clinical isolates of MDR E. coli were found to carry IncFrepB, IncFIA, and IncFIB

replicons (Yamochi et al., 2022), further suggesting that contamination of seafood products originated from human or animal sources. The presence of these conjugative plasmids contributes to the spread of MDR traits in seafood.

6. Conclusions

In summary, this study revealed the presence of AMR determinants and resistant bacteria in supermarket retail seafood samples collected from Hiroshima, Japan. The multiple antibiotic-resistant phenotypes and indices evaluated in this study suggest an alarming incidence of AMR in seafood, which could pose serious health risks to consumers. The findings also indicate, to some extent, a high propensity for horizontal gene transfer of mobile genetic elements in seafood and provide baseline information on AMR in the current study region. Therefore, continuous surveillance programs are needed to monitor resistance patterns in seafood. In future studies, I will consider larger sample sizes and/or samples from aquaculture farms to draw definitive conclusions on the status of AMR/MDR originating from seafood in Japan.

Bibliography

- Abdulhakeem, M.A., Alreshidi, M., Bardakci, F., Hamadou, W.S., De Feo, V., Noumi, E., Snoussi, M., 2023. Molecular identification of bacteria isolated from marketed *Sparus aurata* and *Penaeus indicus* sea products: Antibiotic resistance profiling and evaluation of biofilm formation. Life 13. https://doi.org/10.3390/life13020548
- Agyarkwa, M.A. koi, Azaglo, G.S.K., Kokofu, H.K., Appah-Sampong, E.K., Nerquaye-Tetteh, E.N., Appoh, E., Kudjawu, J., Worlanyo, E., Batong, M.F., Akumwena, A., Labi,

A.K., Osei, M.M., Satyanarayana, S., Terry, R.F., Manzi, M., Opintan, J.A., 2022. Surveillance of WHO priority gram-negative pathogenic bacteria in effluents from two seafood processing facilities in Tema, Ghana, 2021 and 2022: A descriptive study. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 19. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph191710823

- Ahmed, A.M., Maruyama, A., Khalifa, H.O., Shimamoto, Toshi, Shimamoto, Tadashi, 2015.
 Seafood as a reservoir of gram-negative bacteria carrying integrons and antimicrobial resistance genes in Japan. Biomed. Environ. Sci. 28, 924–926. https://doi.org/10.3967/bes2015.128
- Borowiak, M., Baumann, B., Fischer, J., Thomas, K., Deneke, C., Hammerl, J.A., Szabo, I., Malorny, B., 2020. Development of a novel *mcr-6* to *mcr-9* multiplex PCR and assessment of *mcr-1* to *mcr-9* occurrence in colistin-resistant *Salmonella enterica* isolates from environment, feed, animals and food (2011–2018) in Germany. Front. Microbiol. 11, 80. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.00080
- Carattoli, A., 2009. Resistance plasmid families in *Enterobacteriaceae*. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 53, 2227–2238. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.01707-08
- Carattoli, A., Bertini, A., Villa, L., Falbo, V., Hopkins, K.L., Threlfall, E.J., 2005. Identification of plasmids by PCR-based replicon typing. J. Microbiol. Methods 63, 219–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2005.03.018
- Castello, A., Alio, V., Sciortino, S., Oliveri, G., Cardamone, C., Butera, G., Costa, A., 2022.
 Occurrence and molecular characterization of potentially pathogenic *Vibrio* spp. in seafood collected in Sicily. Microorganisms 11, 53. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms11010053
- Changsen, C., Likhitrattanapisal, S., Lunha, K., Chumpol, W., Jiemsup, S., Prachumwat, A.,Kongkasuriyachai, D., Ingsriswang, S., Chaturongakul, S., Lamalee, A., Yongkiettrakul,S., Buates, S., 2023. Incidence, genetic diversity, and antimicrobial resistance profiles of

Vibrio parahaemolyticus in seafood in Bangkok and eastern Thailand. PeerJ 11, 1–25. https://doi.org/10.7717/PEERJ.15283

- Chitanand, M.P., Kadam, T.A., Gyananath, G., Totewad, N.D., Balhal, D.K., 2010. Multiple antibiotic resistance indexing of coliforms to identify high risk contamination sites in aquatic environment. Indian J. Microbiol. 50, 216–220. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12088-010-0042-9
- Chong, Y., Yakushiji, H., Ito, Y., Kamimura, T., 2010. Cefepime-resistant gram-negative bacteremia in febrile neutropenic patients with hematological malignancies. Int. J. Infect. Dis. 14, e171–e175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2010.01.004
- Citterio, B., Andreoni, F., Simoni, S., Carloni, E., Magnani, M., Mangiaterra, G., Cedraro, N., Biavasco, F., Vignaroli, C., 2020. Plasmid replicon typing of antibiotic-resistant *Escherichia coli* from clams and marine sediments. Front. Microbiol. 11, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.01101
- Clermont, O., Christenson, J.K., Gordon, D.M., 20213. The Clermont *Escherichia coli* phylotyping method revisited: improvement of specificity and detection of new phylo-groups. Environ. Microbiol. Rep. 5, 58–65. https://doi.org/10.1111/1758- 2229.12019.
- Delannoy, S., Hoffer, C., Youf, R., Dauvergne, E., Webb, H.E., Brauge, T., Tran, M.L., Midelet, G., Granier, S.A., Haenni, M., Fach, P., Brisabois, A., 2022. High throughput screening of antimicrobial resistance genes in gram-negative seafood bacteria. Microorganisms 10, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms10061225
- EUCAST European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST). 2021. Available at: <u>https://www.eucast.org/</u>.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. FAOSTAT 2022. The state of the world fisheries and aquaculture 2022. Accessed on October 10th, 2023.

https://www.fao.org/3/cc0461en/online/sofia/2022/fisheries-aquacultureemployment.html

- Gonzalez-Avila, L.U., Loyola-Cruz, M.A., Hernández-Cortez, C., Bello-López, J.M., Castro-Escarpulli, G., 2021. Colistin resistance in *Aeromonas* spp. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 22. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22115974
- Green, M.R., Sambrook, J., 2016. Preparation of plasmid DNA by alkaline lysis with sodium dodecyl sulfate: Minipreps. Cold Spring Harb. Protoc. 2016, 911–916. https://doi.org/10.1101/pdb.prot093344
- Hammad, A.M., Shimamoto, Toshi, Shimamoto, Tadashi, 2014. Genetic characterization of antibiotic resistance and virulence factors in *Enterococcus* spp. from Japanese retail ready-to-eat raw fish. Food Microbiol. 38, 62–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2013.08.010
- Hammad, A.M., Watanabe, W., Fujii, T., Shimamoto, T., 2012. Occurrence and characteristics of methicillin-resistant and -susceptible *Staphylococcus aureus* and methicillin-resistant coagulase-negative *Staphylococci* from Japanese retail ready-to-eat raw fish. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 156, 286–289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2012.03.022
- Harada, T., Taguchi, M., Kawahara, R., Kanki, M., Kawatsu, K., 2018. Prevalence and antimicrobial susceptibility of bacterial pathogens in ready-to-eat foods retailed in Osaka prefecture, Japan. J. Food Prot. 81, 1450–1458. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-18-035
- Hiki, M., Kawanishi, M., Abo, H., Kojima, A., Koike, R., Hamamoto, S., Asai, T., 2015.Decreased resistance to broad-spectrum cephalosporin in *Escherichia coli* from healthy broilers at farms in Japan after voluntary withdrawal of ceftiofur. Foodborne Pathog. Dis.

12, 639-643. https://doi.org/10.1089/fpd.2015.1960

- Ido, A., 2023. Antimicrobial use in ecolabel certified and non-certified yellowtail (Seriola quinqueradiata) aquaculture in Japan. Aquac. Reports 31, 101647. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aqrep.2023.101647
- Issifu, I., Deffor, E.W., Deyshappriya, N.P.R., Dahmouni, I., Sumaila, U.R., 2022. Drivers of seafood consumption at different geographical scales. J. Sustain. Res. 4, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.20900/jsr20220012
- Jousset, A.B., Bernabeu, S., Bonnin, R.A., Creton, E., Cotellon, G., Sauvadet, A., Naas, T., Dortet, L., 2019. Development and validation of a multiplex polymerase chain reaction assay for detection of the five families of plasmid-encoded colistin resistance. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 53, 302–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2018.10.022
- Kamala, K., Sivaperumal, P., 2023. Predominance of multi-drug resistant extended spectrum β-lactamase producing bacteria from marine fishes. Environ. Pollut. 323, 121314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2023.121314
- Laird, T.J., Abraham, S., Jordan, D., Pluske, J.R., Hampson, D.J., Trott, D.J., O'Dea, M., 2021. Porcine enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*: Antimicrobial resistance and development of microbial-based alternative control strategies. Vet. Microbiol. 258, 109117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2021.109117
- Magiorakos, A.P., Srinivasan, A., Carey, R.B., Carmeli, Y., Falagas, M.E., Giske, C.G., Harbarth, S., Hindler, J.F., Kahlmeter, G., Olsson-Liljequist, B., Paterson, D.L., Rice, L.B., Stelling, J., Struelens, M.J., Vatopoulos, A., Weber, J.T., Monnet, D.L., 2012.
 Multidrug-resistant, extensively drug-resistant and pandrug-resistant bacteria: An international expert proposal for interim standard definitions for acquired resistance. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 18, 268–281. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2011.03570.x

- Mancini, M.E., Alessiani, A., Donatiello, A., Didonna, A., D'Attoli, L., Faleo, S., Occhiochiuso, G., Carella, F., Di Taranto, P., Pace, L., Rondinone, V., Damato, A.M., Coppola, R., Pedarra, C., Goffredo, E., 2023. Systematic survey of *Vibrio* spp. and *Salmonella* spp. in bivalve shellfish in Apulia region (Italy): Prevalence and antimicrobial resistance. Microorganisms 11, 450. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms11020450
- Marijani, E., 2022. Prevalence and antimicrobial resistance of bacteria isolated from marine and freshwater fish in Tanzania. Int. J. Microbiol. 2022, 4652326. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/4652326
- Matsuura, Y., Terashima, S., Takano, T., Matsuyama, T., 2019. Current status of fish vaccines in Japan. Fish and Shellfish Immunol. 95, 236–247.
- Nadella, R.K., Panda, S.K., Madhusudana Rao, B., Pani Prasad, K., Raman, R.P., Mothadaka, M.P., 2021. Antibiotic resistance of culturable heterotrophic bacteria isolated from shrimp (*Penaeus vannamei*) aquaculture ponds. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 172, 112887. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.112887
- Nakayama, T., Le Thi, H., Thanh, P.N., Minh, D.T.N., Hoang, O.N., Hoai, P.H., Yamaguchi, T., Jinnai, M., Do, P.N., Van, C.D., Kumeda, Y., Hase, A., 2022. Abundance of colistin-resistant *Escherichia coli* harbouring *mcr-1* and extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing *E. coli* co-harbouring *bla*_{CTX-M-55} or ₋₆₅ with *bla*_{TEM} isolates from chicken meat in Vietnam. Arch. Microbiol. 204, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-021-02746-0
- Novoslavskij, A., Terentjeva, M., Eizenberga, I., Valciņa, O., Bartkevičs, V., Bērziņš, A., 2016. Major foodborne pathogens in fish and fish products: a review. Ann. Microbiol. 66, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13213-015-1102-5
- Olaitan, A.O., Morand, S., Rolain, J.M., 2014. Mechanisms of polymyxin resistance:

Acquired and intrinsic resistance in bacteria. Front. Microbiol. 5, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00643

- Poirel, L., Walsh, T.R., Cuvillier, V., Nordmann, P., 2011. Multiplex PCR for detection of acquired carbapenemase genes. Diagnostic Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 70, 119–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2010.12.002
- Raharjo, H.M., Budiyansah, H., Mursalim, M.F., Chokmangmeepisarn, P., Sakulworakan, R., Debnath, P.P., Sivaramasamy, E., Intan, S.T., Chuanchuen, R., Dong, H.T., Mabrok, M., Rodkhum, C., 2023. The first evidence of *bla*_{CTX-M-55}, *QnrVC5*, and novel insight into the genome of MDR *Vibrio vulnificus* isolated from Asian sea bass (*Lates calcarifer*) identified by resistome analysis. Aquaculture 571, 739500. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2023.739500
- Rozwandowicz, M., Brouwer, M.S.M., Fischer, J., Wagenaar, J.A., Gonzalez-Zorn, B., Guerra, B., Mevius, D.J., Hordijk, J., 2018. Plasmids carrying antimicrobial resistance genes in *Enterobacteriaceae*. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 73, 1121–1137. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkx488
- Sadek, M., Soliman, A.M., Nariya, H., Shimamoto, Toshi, Shimamoto, Tadashi, 2021. Genetic characterization of carbapenemase-producing *Enterobacter cloacae* complex and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* of food of animal origin from Egypt. Microb. Drug Resist. 27, 196–203. https://doi.org/10.1089/mdr.2019.0405
- Schar, D., Klein, E.Y., Laxminarayan, R., Gilbert, M., Van Boeckel, T.P., 2020. Global trends in antimicrobial use in aquaculture. Sci. Rep. 10, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-78849-3
- Shakerian, A., Barton, M.D., Akinbowale, O.L., Khamesipour, F., 2017. Antimicrobial resistance profile and resistance genes of *Vibrio* species isolated from giant freshwater prawn (*Macrobrachium rosenbergii*) raised in Iran. J. Hell. Vet. Med. Soc. 68, 79–88.

https://doi.org/10.12681/jhvms.15566

- Silvester, R., Saji, A., Divakaran, A.R., Dilshana, P.M., Nair, R., Hatha, M., Harikrishnan, M., 2022. Increased incidence and antimicrobial resistance among *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* in shellfishes from major fish markets in Cochin, South India: Seafood risk assessment. Ann. Anim. Sci. 22, 1105–1114. https://doi.org/10.2478/aoas-2021-0077
- Singh, A.S., Nayak, B.B., Kumar, S.H., 2020. High prevalence of multiple antibioticresistant, *Escherichia coli* in fresh seafood sold in retail markets of Mumbai, India. Vet. Sci. 7, 46. doi:10.3390/vetsci7020046
- Soliman, A.M., Nariya, H., Tanaka, D., Shimamoto, Toshi, Shimamoto, Tadashi, 2023. A novel single-tube eicosaplex/octaplex PCR system for the detection of extended-spectrum β-lactamases, plasmid-mediated AmpC β-lactamases, and integrons in gram-negative bacteria. Antibiotics 12, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics12010090
- Stratev, D., Fasulkova, R., Krumova-Valcheva, G., 2023. Incidence, virulence genes, and antimicrobial resistance of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* isolated from seafood. Microb. Pathog. 177, 106050. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2023.106050
- Taguchi, M., Kanki, M., Yamaguchi, Y., Inamura, H., Koganei, Y., Sano, T., Nakamura, H., Asakura, H., 2017. Prevalence of *Listeria monocytogenes* in retail lightly pickled vegetables and its successful control at processing plants. J. Food Prot. 80, 467–475. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-16-062
- Tate, H., Ayers, S., Nyirabahizi, E., Li, C., Borenstein, S., Young, S., Rice-Trujillo, C., Saint Fleurant, S., Bodeis-Jones, S., Li, X., Tobin-D'Angelo, M., Volkova, V., Hardy, R., Mingle, L., M'ikanatha, N.M., Ruesch, L., Whitehouse, C.A., Tyson, G.H., Strain, E., McDermott, P.F., 2022. Prevalence of antimicrobial resistance in select bacteria from retail seafood—United States, 2019. Front. Microbiol. 13, 928509.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.928509

- Thilsted, S.H., Thorne-Lyman, A., Webb, P., Bogard, J.R., Subasinghe, R., Phillips, M.J., Allison, E.H., 2016. Sustaining healthy diets: The role of capture fisheries and aquaculture for improving nutrition in the post-2015 era. Food Policy 61, 126–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2016.02.005
- Titilawo, Y., Sibanda, T., Obi, L., Okoh, A., 2015a. Multiple antibiotic resistance indexing of *Escherichia coli* to identify high-risk sources of faecal contamination of water. Environ.
 Sci. Pollut. Res. 22, 10969–10980. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-3887-3
- Titilawo, Y., Sibanda, T., Obi, L., Okoh, A., 2015b. Multiple antibiotic resistance indexing of *Escherichia coli* to identify high-risk sources of faecal contamination of water. Environ.
 Sci. Pollut. Res. 22, 10969–10980. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-3887-3
- Tran, T., Checkley, S., Caffrey, N., Mainali, C., Gow, S., Agunos, A., Liljebjelke, K., 2021.
 Genetic characterization of AmpC and extended-spectrum beta-lactamase phenotypes in *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella* from Alberta broiler chickens. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 11, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2021.622195
- Troella, M., Henrikssona, P., Jørgensenb, P., 2007. Antibiotics in Aquaculture. Glob. Aquac. 36–38.
- Wang, C., Feng, Y., Liu, L., Wei, L., Kang, M., Zong, Z., 2020. Identification of novel mobile colistin resistance gene *mcr-10*. Emerg. Microbes Infect. 9, 508–516. https://doi.org/10.1080/22221751.2020.1732231
- Xedzro, C., Kimura, T., Shimamoto, T., Ahmed, A.M., Shimamoto, T., 2023. Comparative molecular profiling of antimicrobial resistance and phylogenetic characterization of multidrug-resistant *Escherichia coli* isolated from meat sources in 2009 and 2021 in Japan. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 391–393, 110146.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2023.110146

Yamochi, Tadanori, Yoshida, K., Ohira, Y., Ota, H., Yamochi, Toshiko, Takimoto, M., Tokimatsu, I., 2022. Genotypic characterization *Escherichia coli* strains from Japan producing AmpC beta-lactamase. Showa Univ. J. Med. Sci. 34, 183–190. https://doi.org/10.15369/sujms.34.183

Chapter 5

Antimicrobial susceptibility and genetic profiles of foodborne bacteria carrying mobile colistin resistance (*mcr*) genes

1. Summary

Colistin is a last-resort antimicrobial agent recommended for the treatment of severe multidrug-resistant infections. However, bacterial resistance to colistin has raised major public health concerns due to the widespread of plasmid-mediated mobile colistin resistance (*mcr*) genes. Here, the impact of *mcr* genes on colistin resistance and the genetic attributes of *mcr*-carrying isolates were evaluated.

Eight *mcr*-carrying isolates were obtained from meat and seafood samples. Antimicrobial susceptibility was performed using the broth microdilution method. Six strains were selected for whole genome sequencing to further understand the mechanism of colistin resistance. The results show that *Acinetobacter baumannii* (*mcr-4*), *Escherichia coli* (*mcr-5*), *Enterobacter kobei* (*mcr-9*), *Aeromonas hydrophila* (*mcr-3*), and two *Serratia liquefaciens* (*mcr-9*) were resistant to colistin at minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of 8 to >64 μ g/mL. Whole genome sequencing revealed that some *mcr* genes were encoded on the plasmid, suggesting high chance of horizontal gene transfer. It was found that all the meat isolates conferred resistance to colistin. However, the *A. hydrophila* (*mcr-3*), and *E. cloacae* (*mcr-10*) isolated from seafood samples were susceptible at MIC <1 μ g/mL.

These *mcr*-producing strains from food origin may pose a huge food safety threat and highlight the importance of colistin resistance surveillance to ensure food safety and safeguard the public.

Keywords: Colistin, mcr, meat, seafood.

2. Introduction

Colistin (also called polymyxin E) is a cationic antimicrobial compound discovered in Japan in 1947 (Gogry et al., 2021). The compound was commercialized in the 1950s, and has been considered as a miracle antibiotic because of its bactericidal efficacy against Gramnegative bacteria, including carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales (Baron et al., 2016; Hamel et al., 2021). However, the use of colistin was reconsidered owing to the fact that intravenous administration has been coupled with side effects such as renal and neurological disorders (Falagas and Kasiakou, 2006). As a result, colistin was replaced by antimicrobials with lower toxicity such as quinolones and β -lactams. Due to the lack of new antimicrobial agents, colistin was reintroduced in the 2000s as a frontline antimicrobial agent to fight the increasing incidence of carbapenem-resistance among Enterobacterales (Hamel et al., 2021; Olaitan et al., 2014). Since then, colistin has often been administered as a last-resort antimicrobial treatment option against severe infections caused by multidrug-resistant (MDR) and extensively drug-resistant Gram-negative bacteria (Anyanwu et al., 2020; Borowiak et al., 2020; Gogry et al., 2021; Luo et al., 2017). In veterinary medicine, colistin is frequently used for the following reasons; (1) as a growth enhancer, (2) to treat infections caused by Gramnegative bacteria, and (3) as prophylaxis to prevent the occurrence of enteric diseases (Borowiak et al., 2020; Valiakos and Kapna, 2021).

Bacterial resistance to colistin is due to chromosomal point mutations within twocomponent systems (TCSs), mainly PhoP/Q and PmrA/B, which are non-transferable through horizontal gene transfer (Aghapour et al., 2019; Borowiak et al., 2017). However, the emergence of plasmid-mediated mobile colistin resistance (*mcr*) genes has prompted the significance of routine surveillance, especially among Enterobacterales. To date, ten *mcr* genes—*mcr-1* (Liu et al., 2016), *mcr-2* (Xavier et al., 2016), *mcr-3* (Yin et al., 2017), *mcr-4* (Carattoli et al., 2017), *mcr-5* (Borowiak et al., 2017), *mcr-6* (AbuOun et al., 2017), *mcr-7* (Yang et al., 2018), *mcr-8* (Wang et al., 2018), *mcr-9* (Carroll et al., 2019), and *mcr-10* (Wang et al., 2020) have been identified. Globally, *mcr-1* is the most commonly detected gene, followed by *mcr-3* and *mcr-5* (Fukuda et al., 2022; Valiakos and Kapna, 2021) and such trend has also been observed in Japan (Fukuda et al., 2022; 2018). This suggests that horizontal gene transfer of specific mobile genetic elements, including plasmids, are associated with the rapid dissemination of such *mcr* homologs. *mcr* encodes phosphoethanolamine transferase, which mediates colistin resistance by modifying the lipid A moiety of lipopolysaccharide, resulting in the reduction of negative charges across bacterial membrane (Baron et al., 2016; Sun et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2020).

MCR has been frequently identified in *Enterobacteriaceae* isolated from pigs (Fukuda et al., 2018), chicken meat (Schrauwen et al., 2017), and vegetables (Liu et al., 2019; Liu and Song, 2019; Oh et al., 2020; Xedzro et al., 2023). Moreover the prevalence of *mcr* genes among Gram-negative bacteria isolated from retail meat (including pork, chicken, beef), and diseased pigs was evaluated in Japan (Fukuda et al., 2022; Nishino et al., 2017; Odoi et al., 2021).

The Food Safety Commission of Japan (FSCJ) recommended that information on *mcr* genes be regularly reported to provide updated information for infection control strategies (FSCJ, 2017). Although the use of colistin as feed additive in livestock production has been abolished in Japan, its therapeutic administration to cattle has been allowed and is typically used to treat porcine diarrhoea in pigs (Fukuda et al., 2018; Odoi et al., 2021; Xedzro et al., 2023), which may trigger the evolution and persistence *mcr* genes as well as its resistance to colistin. Given the importance of *mcr* genes, and the uncertainties regarding their expression in different bacteria, it is of outmost importance to study *mcr*-carrying bacteria as well as plasmids harboring *mcr* to control the dissemination of antimicrobial resistance. This study aimed at investigating the genetic characteristics of *mcr*-carrying isolates isolated from meat

and seafood products.

3. Materials and methods

3.1 Bacterial strains and culture conditions

A total of eight *mcr*-carrying strains were obtained from the previous studies (Chapter 2, 3, and 4). These isolates were recovered from meat and seafood samples originating from different geographical regions. The isolates included *A. baumannii* (*mcr-4*), *E. coli* (*mcr-5*), *S. liquefaciens* (*mcr-9*) (two isolates), *E. kobei* (*mcr-9*), *A. hydrophila* (*mcr-3*) (two isolates), and *E. cloacae* (*mcr-10*). The isolates were initially identified by 16S rRNA gene sequencing and later confirmed by whole genome sequencing (WGS). Prior to susceptibility testing and molecular analyses, isolates were retrieved from the -80°C glycerol stock and cultured on LB agar without antibiotics. Subsequently, a single isolated colony from each strain was used for further analyses.

3.2 Antimicrobial susceptibility testing

The minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs) of twelve antimicrobial agents were determined by using the standardized broth microdilution method according to the interpretative criteria described by the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI, 2020). The breakpoint for colistin was determined according to the European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST, 2021). Antimicrobial agents included ampicillin, cefotaxime, ceftazidime, cefoxitin, meropenem, kanamycin, gentamicin, chloramphenicol, ciprofloxacin, tetracycline, colistin, and fosfomycin. A stock solution of each antimicrobial agent was prepared and diluted according to the CLSI recommendations. Quality control for MIC analysis was performed using *E. coli* ATCC 25922 (American Type Culture Collection).

3.3 Plasmid isolation and PCR-based replicon typing (PBRT)

Plasmids were isolated from the *mcr*-carrying strains. The alkaline lysis method was used for plasmid preparation as described previously (Green and Sambrook, 2016). Briefly, 1.5 mL of overnight LB broth culture was centrifuged and resuspended in alkaline lysis buffers I, II, and III. The solution was vortexed and allowed to stand for 3–5 min after the addition of each buffer. Supernatants were obtained after centrifugation and mixed with an equal volume of isopropanol. The precipitated nucleic acids were collected and dissolved in 1 mL 70% ethanol. Plasmid DNA was recovered as pellets and finally dissolved in 50 μ L of Tris-EDTA (pH 8.0) buffer containing 20 μ g/mL DNase-free RNase A. PBRT was then performed to identify the plasmid incompatibility (Inc/rep) groups using 18 primer sets targeting HI1, HI2, I1, X, L/M, N, FIA, FIB, W, Y, P, FIC, A/C, T, FIIs, FrepB, K/B, and B/O, as previously described (Carattoli et al., 2005). The assay was conducted using five multiplex and three simplex PCR assays.

3.4 Whole genome sequencing, bioinformatic analysis, and conjugation experiments

The whole genome of the six *mcr*-carrying isolates recovered from meat was sequenced as previously described (Xedzro et al., 2023). A hybrid assembly of both the short Unicycler reads and long reads was performed using software v0.4.8 (https://github.com/rrwick/Unicycler). Genome annotation was performed using RAST (*Tk*) (Bretin et al., 2015) and the whole genome sequences were analyzed at the center for genomic epidemiology (http://www.genomicepidemiology.org/services/). Bacterial species were predicted using the kmerFinder algorithm v3.2 (https://cge.food.dtu.dk/services/KmerFinder/). Acquired antimicrobial resistance genes were identified using ResFinder v4.1 (https://cge.food.dtu.dk/services/ResFinder/). The multilocus locus sequence determined using **MLST** type was v2.0 (https://cge.food.dtu.dk/services/MLST/) and the plasmid repilicon types were predicted using the PlasmidFinder v2.1 (https://cge.food.dtu.dk/services/PlasmidFinder/). A filtermating conjugation experiment was conducted in an attempt to evaluate the transfer of *mcr-5* and -4 harboring plasmids using *E. coli* J53 as a recipient. Transconjugants were selected on LB agar containing 100/150 µg/mL sodium azide and 2/4 µg/mL colistin. Suspected positive transconjugants were confirmed by PCR targeting the *mcr-5* and -4 gene.

4. Results

4.1 Origin of mcr-carrying strains

A total of eight *mcr*-positive strains were characterized in this study (Table 19). The isolates included *A. baumannii* (*mcr-4.3*), *E. coli* (*mcr-5.1*), *S. liquefaciens* (*mcr-9.1*), *E. kobei* (*mcr-9*), *A. hydrophila* (*mcr-3.25/9*), *S. liquefaciens* (*mcr-9*), *A. hydrophila* (*mcr-3.2*), and *E. cloacae* (*mcr-10.1*). These strains were isolated from meat and seafood products from different geographical regions. Four strains were isolated from chicken, beef, or pork in 2009, two from chicken in 2021, and the remaining two isolates were recovered from seafood products in 2023. Of all *mcr*-positive strains, three were isolated from meat products imported to Japan.

Isolate	Identification	Genotype	Source	Origin	Isolation year
266-34J1	A. baumannii	<i>mcr-4.3</i> , <i>bla</i> _{ADC-25} , <i>bla</i> _{OXA-67}	Chicken	Brazil	2009
160-11H1	E. coli	mcr-5.1, blashv-12, sul2, sitABCD	Chicken	Japan	2009
35E-19E1	S. liquefaciens	mcr-9.1, lsa(A), ClpL	Beef	Australia	2009
292-28A1	E. kobei	mcr-9, bla _{ACT-9} , fosA	pork	Denmark	2009
CST-042	A. hydrophila	mcr-3.25, mcr-3.9, ampH, cphA1,	Chicken	Japan	2021
		aph(3")-Ib, aph(6')-Id			
CST-066	S. liquefaciens	mcr-9	Chicken	Japan	2021
D6-A192	A. hydrophila	mcr-3.2	Seafood	Japan	2023
B12-S377	E. cloacae	bla _{TEM-1} , bla _{SHV-12} , mcr-10.1	Seafood	Japan	2023

Table 19. Origin and genetic features and mcr-carrying Gram-negative bacteria

4.2 Antimicrobial susceptibility testing

To clarify whether the *mcr*-carrying strains might mediate colistin resistance or resistance to other antimicrobials, the activity of twelve antimicrobial agents against the isolates was evaluated. The MICs of the agents for the 2009 strains are shown in Table 20. Six isolates were found to show high colistin resistance (MIC 8 to >64 μ g/mL). *A. baumannii* harboring the *mcr-4.3* was additionally resistant to ampicillin, cefotaxime, ceftazidime, cefoxitin, chloramphenicol, and fosfomycin. Whole genome sequencing revealed that this strain carried a chromosomal AmpC gene, *bla*_{ADC-25}, and a β-lactamase gene, *bla*_{OXA-67}. The *mcr-5*-carrying *E. coli* also harbored sulfonamide resistance determinant, *sul2* (two copies), metal ion transporter, *sitABCD*, and an extended-spectrum β-lactamase, *bla*_{SHV-12} genotype. Susceptibility testing showed that it was additionally resistant to ampicillin, cefotaxime, and ceftazidime but remained susceptible to the remaining antibiotics tested. *S. liquefaciens* and *E. kobei* carry *mcr-9*, but they differ in their respective capacities in conferring resistance to the antimicrobial agents. Cefoxitin and fosfomycin resistance were identified in both isolates. Nonetheless, ampicillin, ceftazidime, or chloramphenicol resistance varied between the two

strains. Analyzing the genome data showed that *S. liquefaciens* does not carry a β -lactamase gene—this may explain why it was susceptible to ampicillin and cefotaxime. However, the isolate did confer high resistance to ceftazidime. On the other hand, *E. kobei* was found to carry *bla*_{ACT-9} and *fosA* gene, and showed resistance to ampicillin and fosfomycin. Notably, all the isolates were susceptible to meropenem, kanamycin, gentamicin, ciprofloxacin, and tetracycline (Table 20).

The sensitivity and resistance profiles of 2021 and 2023 *mcr*-carrying isolates are presented in Table 21. While *mcr-3* and *mcr-9* isolates from meat sources conferred colistin resistance, the *mcr*-positive strains recovered from seafood samples were susceptible to colistin at MIC of <1 µg/mL when EUCAST breakpoint was taken into consideration. It was found that *A. hydrophila* isolated from seafood was resistant to only two antimicrobials (ampicillin and tetracycline). The *mcr-10*-carrying *E. cloacae* was highly resistant to antimicrobials and exhibited multiple drug resistance phenotypes. MIC values of antimicrobials for this strain were generally high (>32 µg/mL) except for intermediate resistance it displayed against ciprofloxacin (1 µg/mL). Generally, cefoxitin resistance was prevalent, occurring among 6 isolates with MIC ranging from 16–128 µg/mL. It was noted that *mcr-9*-carrying *S. liquefaciens* isolates demonstrated susceptibility to ampicillin and cefotaxime but were resistant to ceftazidime—an unknown phenotype which requires major investigation.

Agent	266-34J1 (mcr-4.3) A. baumannii	160-11H1 (mcr-5.1) E. coli	35E-19E1 (mcr-9.1) S. liquefaciens	292-28A1 (mcr-9) E. kobei	<i>E. coli</i> ATCC 29522
Ampicillin	16	512	8	64	1
Cefotaxime	4	>32	1	1	0.25
Ceftazidime	8	>128	128	0.25	0.25
Cefoxitin	128	8	16	128	4
Meropenem	0.25	< 0.0625	1	0.125	< 0.0625
Kanamycin	4	16	8	8	8
Gentamicin	8	4	1	4	4
Chloramphenicol	32	4	16	8	4
Ciprofloxacin	< 0.125	< 0.125	< 0.125	< 0.125	< 0.125
Tetracycline	4	4	8	4	2
Fosfomycin	128	4	128	128	8
Colistin	16	8	>64	>64	0.5

Table 20. MIC of various antimicrobials for mcr-positive isolates obtained in 2009

Shaded regions indicate resistance.

		-			
	CST-042	CST-066	D6-A192	B12-S377	E. coli
Agent	(<i>mcr</i> -3.2)	(<i>mcr-9.3</i>)	(<i>mcr-3.2</i>)	(<i>mcr-10.1</i>)	ATCC
	A. hydrophila	S. liquefaciens	A. hydrophila	E. cloacae	- 29522
Ampicillin	64	8	>512	>512	1–2
Cefotaxime	0.5	1	0.5	>32	0.25
Ceftazidime	2	>128	0.25–0.5	128	0.25-1
Cefoxitin	16–32	16	8	128	4
Meropenem	1	< 0.0625	0.125	< 0.0625	< 0.0625
Kanamycin	4	8	< 0.125	0.25	4
Gentamicin	1	1	0.25	0.5	4
Chloramphenicol	2	8	0.5–1	8	2–4
Ciprofloxacin	< 0.125	< 0.125	< 0.125	2	< 0.125
Tetracycline	0.5	4	32	64	2
Fosfomycin	64	128	8-16	>1024	8
Colistin	64	>64	0.5-1	0.5-1	0.5

Table 21. MIC of various antimicrobials for mcr-positive isolates obtained in 2021 and 2023

Shaded regions indicate resistance.
4.3 Antimicrobial resistance profiles and PBRT

All the isolates were resistant to at least one antimicrobial agent and conferred resistance to at least three antimicrobial classes except the *mcr-3*-carrying *A. hydrophila* isolated from seafood. Cephalosporin resistance was observed in *A. baumannii* (*mcr-4*), *E. coli* (*mcr-5*), and *E. cloacae* (*mcr-10*). These isolates carry extended-spectrum β -lactamase or cephalosporinase encoding gene responsible for hydrolyzing cephalosporins. Three isolates were resistant to six antimicrobial classes and two showed resistance to four antimicrobial classes. All the isolates exhibited multidrug resistance phenotypes except *mcr-3*-carrying *A. hydrophila* isolated from seafood product (Table 22). PCR-based replicon typing identified different incompatibility (Inc) groups among the strains, although some contradict the results of the predicted replicon types when the WGS data was used. The most identified Inc group (based on PBRT) was the IncFrepB replicon and was found in five isolates. Interestingly, three replicon types; IncI1, IncFIB, and IncFrepB were identified in *mcr-5*-carrying *E. coli*. Although the *mcr-10*-carrying *E. cloacae* strain carried conjugable plasmids, PBRT revealed that the plasmid was untypable.

Isolate	Species	Resistance genes	Replicon type	Resistance profiles
266-34J1	A. baumannii	<i>mcr-4.3, bla</i> _{ADC-25} , <i>bla</i> _{OXA-67}	IncFrepB	AMP, CTX, CAZ, FOX, CHL, FOF, CST
160-11H1	E. coli	mcr-5.1, blasHv-12, sul2 (2 copies), sitABCD	IncI1, IncFIB, IncFrepB	AMP, CTX, CAZ, CST
35E-19E1	S. liquefaciens	mcr-9.1, $lsa(A)$, $clpL$	IncFIA, IncFIB, IncFrepB	CAZ, FOX, CHL, TET, FOF, CST
292-28A1	E. kobei	mcr-9, bla _{ACT-9} , fosA	Inc1I, IncFIB, IncFrepB	AMP, FOX, FOF, CST
CST-042	A. hydrophila	mcr-3 (two copies), ampH, cphAI, aph(3")-Ib, aph(6')-Id	IncFrepB, IncK/B	AMP, FOX, CST
CST-066	S. liquefaciens	mcr-9.3	I	CAZ, FOX, FOF, CST
D6-A192	A. hydrophila	mcr-3.2	I	AMP, TET
B12-S377	E. cloacae	<i>bla</i> TEM-1, <i>bla</i> SHV-12, <i>mcr-10.1</i>	Untypable	AMP, CTX, CAZ, FOX, CIP, TET, FOF
NIR. Tha	madiated realian	trinae mar hered on DBDT AMD. aminillin	CTV. refutavime CA7.	raftoridima EOV. raftoritin TET.

Table 22. Antimicrobial resistance profiles and replicon types (PBRT) of mcr-carrying isolates from different origin

NB: The predicted replicon types were based on PBKI. AMP: ampicillin, CTX: cetotaxime, CAZ: cettazidime, FUX: cetoxitin, TET: tetracycline, CHL: chloramphenicol, CIP: ciprofloxacin, CST: colistin, FOF: fosfomycin

134

4.4 Genomic features of chromosomes and AMR/mcr- carrying plasmids

The genomic features of chromosome and plasmids (carrying AMR gene) identified in each strain along side their sizes and average guanine-cytosine (GC) content are presented in Table 23. Species identification using the k-mer algorithm identified the strains as *A. hydrophila*, *A. baumanii*, *E. coli*, *S. liquefaciens* (CST-066), *S. liquefaciens* (35E-19E1), and *E. kobei*, as they shared significant template identity coverage (~80%) with the reference strain for *A. hydrophila* NUITM-VA1 (accession number NZ_AP025277.1), *A. baumannii* EC (NZ_CP038262.1), *E. coli* CFS3292 (NZ_CP026935.2), *S. liquefaciens* FG3 (NZ_CP033893.1), *S. liquefaciens* FDAARGOS_125 (NZ_CP014017.2), and *E. kobei* C16 (NZ_CP042578.1), respectively. The identified strains have variable chromosomal sizes with average GC content of >50%.

Figure 11 describes the genetic context of chromosomally encoded *mcr-3* (two copies adjacent to each other) located within the physical boundaries of multicopy transposons identified in *A. hydrophila* CST-042. One copy of *mcr-3* (most likely a new variant) shares ~85% sequence identity with original *mcr-3* identified in *E. coli* in China (Yin et al., 2017). Further *in silico* analysis revealed that the strain carried additional 1,626 bp *mcr-3*-like (lipid A phosphoethanolamine transferase) protein which was in an operon with uncharacterized MFS-type transporter upstream of an integrase gene.

mcr-4 in *A. baumannii* 266-34J1 was located on a 26, 838 bp plasmid (GC, 41%) of unknown identity (Fig 12A) and was bracketed by ParE and ParA like toxin proteins (Fig 12B). *mcr-4* was additionally flanked by a transposase gene which was located at its upstream boundary (Fig 12 and 13). Full sequence query against NCBI database showed that the plasmid was similar to a portion (99.99% sequence identity) of a non-transferable novel plasmid pAB18PR065 (accession number: MK360916) identified in China (Ma et al., 2019). A conjugation experiment showed that the *mcr-4* carrying plasmid was non-transferable to *E*.

coli J53 recipient. *In silico* analysis showed that the plasmid had no origin of transfer (oriT) and does not carry conjugation related proteins.

E. coli 160-11H1 harbored *mcr-5* on a 66,887 bp IncFII plasmid backbone (53% GC) content (Fig 13A), which was homologous to a plasmid pCoo (96.91 % sequence similarity) (Froehlich et al., 2005). The gene was found in the upstream vicinity of a Tn*3*-type family transposase (Fig 13B). Analyzing the genetic background of *mcr-5* revealed that it was encoded in an operon with ChrB domain protein and uncharacterized MFS-type transporter. WGS analysis further showed that strain harbored bla_{SHV-12} on a 147,929 bp plasmid of IncFIA:FIB:FIC backbone (contig 2). Both *mcr-5* and *bla*_{SHV-12}-carrying plasmids were transferred to *E. coli* J53 recipient in a conjugation experiment.

Figure 14 describes the genetic context of chromosomally encoded *mcr-9* identified in *S. liquefaciens* and *E. kobei*. The genetic environments were characterized by the presence of a functional two component system, *qseB/C* responsible for inducing *mcr-9* expression among Enterobacterales. Furthermore, the *mcr-9* genes were enclosed by two intact insertion sequences which can facilitate direct mobilization and transposition events leading to insertion of these genes into bacterial genomes.

Strain	Chromosome	Length (bp)	GC (%)	MLST/pMLST	Replicon type	
	or plasmid					
	Chromosome	5,541,409	60	ST1142	I	mcr-3 (two copies),
A. hydrophila CST-042						ampH, cphAI
	pCST-042_2	153,005	55	Unknown	ND	aph(3")-Ib, aph(6')-Id,
1116 220	Chromosome	3,842,281	39	ST747	1	bla _{ADC-25} , bla _{OXA-67}
A. Daumanni 200-5411	p266-34J1_5	26,838	41	Unknown	ND	mcr-4.3
	Chromosome	5,031,330	51	ST10	1	sul2, sul2
E. coli 160-11H1	p160-11H1_2	147,292	51	F18:A-:B8	IncFIA:FIB:FIC	$bla_{ m SHV-12}, sitABCD$
	p160-11H1_4	66,887	53	F14:A-:B-	IncFII (pCoo)	mcr-5.1
	Chromosome	5,261,506	55	ND	T	mcr-9
S. liquefaciens 35E-19E1	p35E-19E1_4	748,497	38	Unknown	ND	lsa(A)
	p35E-19E1_7	10,555	35	Unknown	ND	clpL
E. kobei 292-28A1	Chromosome	4,849,160	55	ST32	I	mcr-9, bla _{ACT-9} , fosA
S. liquefaciens CST-066	Chromosome	5,529,704	55	ND		mcr-9
NB: Only plasmids carrying	g AMR determinan	ts were included in the	Table were n	amed according to	the contig number	

Table 23. Features of chromosomes and plasmids harboring AMR determinants identified in *mcr*-carrying isolates

137

ND: not detected







Figure 12. Structure of an unknown *mcr-4-carrying* plasmid (A) and the genetic context of *mcr-4* (B) identified in *A. baumannii*





Figure 13. Structure of *mcr-5*-carrying IncFII plasmid backbone (A) and the corresponding genetic features of *mcr-5* (B) identified in *E coli*







Fig 14. Genetic environment of chromosomally encoded *mcr-9* identified in *S. liquefaciens* (A and B) and *E. kobei* (C)

5. Discussion

Since the first report of mobilized colistin resistance (*mcr*) gene, several *mcr* homologs have been reported in clinical and food isolates from different regions. Among the *mcr* genes, *mcr-1*, *mcr-3*, and *mcr-5* have been frequently detected (Fukuda et al., 2022). *mcr-9* is also widely distributed and has been identified in Enterobacterales in over 40 countries across six continents (Ling et al., 2020). The mechanism by which *mcr* genes confer colistin resistance is variable and greatly depends on the *mcr* variant or bacterial species. Therefore, it is important to study the characteristics of *mcr*-harboring bacteria.

In this study, *mcr*-positive gram-negative bacteria isolated from different food sources were characterized. The current reports of mcr genes in Japan are mostly linked to E. coli and Salmonella isolated from livestock (Odoi et al., 2021). Although few isolates were characterized in this study, mcr was found in different bacteria species including E. coli. The mcr-4 was detected in a multidrug-resistant A. baumannii isolate recovered from chicken imported to Japan. The epidemiology of mcr-4 is currently unknown in Japan, and it is tempting to speculate that no study has reported such gene in Japan. The current information suggest that mcr-4 has been only detected in South America, Europe, and China (Ling et al., 2020). Given that the identified strain was isolated from meat imported from one of these regions, international imports of meat can provide wide distribution pathways for mcr genes. WGS analyses revealed that the strain harbored plasmids of unknown identity which can facilitate horizontal gene transfer of AMR determinants including mcr variants. Although mcr-4 was located on unidentified plasmid without a replication origin, WGS analysis revealed that it was in an operon with Tn3 family transposase and two copies of resolvase (site-specific recombinase) which can aid mobilization events leading to the spread of this gene. Unhygienic practices in the meat processing or slaughterhouses could also result in cross contamination and silent dissemination of mcr-4. Additionally, mcr-9 was identified in *E. kobei* and two *S. liquefaciens* isolated from beef or pork imported to Japan which is also a grave concern to the public health since the mechanism of antibiotic resistance related to this gene is still unclear (Xedzro et al., 2023). The remaining isolates were recovered from meat and seafood samples in Japan. It should be noted that the presence of *mcr*-harboring bacteria can be attributed to contamination of meat and seafood products which may have arised from different factors, including poor meat hygiene, unstrict stainless cleaning conditions, intestinal flora of animals, and processing methods in slaughterhouses or processing centers.

MCR has been detected in *Enterobacteriaceae* isolated from food origin (Borowiak et al., 2017; Carattoli et al., 2017; Xedzro et al., 2023.) and clinical specimen (Kieffer et al., 2019; Umeda et al., 2021). The contamination of meat and continuous detection of such genes from food sources is a public health risk since critical priority bacteria can be transmitted to humans through the consumption of contaminated meat products. Furthermore, the identified species are some of the important pathogens that cause gastroenteritis and wound infections in humans. The identification of *mcr-5*-carrying *E. coli* and *mcr-3* carrying *A. hydrophila* in this study is in accordance with the food poisoning cases associated with *E. coli* and *Aeromonas* previously reported in Japan (Tanaka et al., 1992).

To ascertain the clinical relevance of the *mcr* harboring isolates, the strains were tested for resistance to various antimicrobial agents, and their molecular attributes such as potential plasmids that might carry the *mcr* alleles were also evaluated. Noteworthy, all the meat isolates showed resistance to colistin with MICs ranging from 8 to >64 μ g/mL which were relatively higher compared to the MICs of antimicrobials observed for seafood isolates. Such high colistin resistance conferred by meat isolates seems very alarming and may be attributed to the worldwide use of colistin as veterinary drugs in animal production, which results in a selective pressure in veterinary practice (Carattoli et al., 2017; Sun et al., 2018; Valiakos and Kapna, 2021). Furthermore, overexpression of some *mcr* genes can actually

confer colistin resistance as previously reported (Fukuda et al., 2022). To comment on this further, expression of some *mcr* variants is governed by a two-component regulatory system. For instance, the presence of chromosomal or plasmid *qseC/qseB* genes have been reported to induce *mcr-9* expression leading to colistin resistance in many enterobacterial species (Kieffer et al., 2019). It is important to mention that the strains not only displayed colistin resistance but were also phenotypically resistant to ampicillin, cefotaxime, ceftazidime, cefoxitin, chloramphenicol, or fosfomycin depending on the bacterial species.

Specific plasmids have been described to play a key role in the rapid spread of *mcr* genes. For instance, mcr-9 has been mainly detected on IncHI2 plasmids (Li et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2022), while mcr-10 was frequently found on IncFIA/FIB/FII plasmid backbone (Liao et al., 2022; Wang et al., 2020). In this context, the presence of a single plasmid was investigated in an attempt to assess the possibility of horizontal gene transfer of mobile genetic elements. It was found that some strains harbor plasmids mainly IncFrepB, along with IncFIA, IncFIB, or IncI1 replicon. Reports suggest that IncF is the most commonly described plasmid type in humans and animals (Rozwandowicz et al., 2018), suggesting a common route since those IncF positive isolates were retrieved from animal sources. Some studies have also reported the identification of such IncF replicons among mcr-carrying strains (Carattoli et al., 2017; Liao et al., 2022). Although WGS revealed different contigs (other than chromosomes) within the mcr-harboring isolates, further analyses showed that most of these contigs are of unknown identity as detected by PlasmidFinder. It is likely that novel plasmids are emerging due to insertion of DNA fragments possibly by transposons into core bacterial genomes. Broad epidemiological surveillance would be necessary to evaluate the impact and extent of dissemination AMR plasmids including mcr-harboring plasmids among animal specimens.

6. Conclusions

In this chapter, the genetic features of *mcr*-carrying isolates from different geographical regions were investigated. The isolates showed high colistin resistance although those recovered from seafood products were susceptible to colistin. This study also provided new information regarding the detection of some *mcr* variants in certain bacterial species in Japan. The distribution of *mcr* genes has been reported in different environments and requires further evaluation in terms of resistance mechanisms and transmission routes. Continuous monitoring is required to assess the status and impact of *mcr* genes on human health.

Bibliography

- AbuOun, M., Stubberfield, E.J., Duggett, N.A., Kirchner, M., Dormer, L., Nunez-Garcia, J., Randall, L.P., Lemma, F., Crook, D.W., Teale, C., Smith, R.P., Anjum, M.F., 2017. *mcr-1* and *mcr-2* variant genes identified in *Moraxella* species isolated from pigs in Great Britain from 2014 to 2015. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 72, 2745–2749. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkx286
- Aghapour, Z., Gholizadeh, P., Ganbarov, K., Bialvaei, A.Z., Mahmood, S.S., Tanomand, A., Yousefi, M., Asgharzadeh, M., Yousefi, B., Kafil, H.S., 2019. Molecular mechanisms related to colistin resistance in *Enterobacteriaceae*. Infect. Drug Resist. 12, 965–975. https://doi.org/10.2147/IDR.S199844
- Anyanwu, M.U., Jaja, I.F., Nwobi, O.C., 2020. Occurrence and characteristics of mobile colistin resistance (*mcr*) gene-containing isolates from the environment: A review. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 17, 1–38. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17031028
- Baron, S., Hadjadj, L., Rolain, J.M., Olaitan, A.O., 2016. Molecular mechanisms of polymyxin resistance: knowns and unknowns. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 48, 583–591. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2016.06.023

- Borowiak, M., Baumann, B., Fischer, J., Thomas, K., Deneke, C., Hammerl, J.A., Szabo, I., Malorny, B., 2020. Development of a novel *mcr-6* to *mcr-9* multiplex PCR and assessment of *mcr-1* to *mcr-9* occurrence in colistin-resistant *Salmonella enterica* isolates from environment, feed, animals and food (2011–2018) in Germany. Front. Microbiol. 11, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.00080
- Borowiak, M., Fischer, J., Hammerl, J.A., Hendriksen, R.S., Szabo, I., Malorny, B., 2017.
 Identification of a novel transposon-associated phosphoethanolamine transferase gene, *mcr-5*, conferring colistin resistance in d-tartrate fermenting *Salmonella enterica* subsp. *enterica* serovar Paratyphi B. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 72, 3317–3324.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkx327
- Brettin, T., Davis, J.J., Disz, T., Edwards, R.A., Gerdes, S., Olsen, G.J., Olson, R., Overbeek,
 R., Parrello, B., Pusch, G.D., Shukla, M., Thomason III, J.A., Stevens, R., Vonstein, V.,
 Watta, A.R., Xia, F., 20215. RASTtk: A modular and extensible implementation of the
 RAST algorithm for building custom annotation pipelines and annotating batches of
 genomes. Sci. Rep. 5, 8365.doi:10.1038/srep08365.
- Carattoli, A., Bertini, A., Villa, L., Falbo, V., Hopkins, K.L., Threlfall, E.J., 2005. Identification of plasmids by PCR-based replicon typing. J. Microbiol. Methods 63, 219–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2005.03.018
- Carattoli, A., Villa, L., Feudi, C., Curcio, L., Orsini, S., Luppi, A., Pezzotti, G., Magistrali,
 C.F., 2017. Novel plasmid-mediated colistin resistance *mcr-4* gene in *Salmonella* and *Escherichia coli*, Italy 2013, Spain and Belgium, 2015 to 2016. Eurosurveillance 22, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.31.30589
- Carroll, L.M., Gaballa, A., Guldimann, C., Sullivan, G., Henderson, L.O., Wiedmann, M., Turner, M.S., Siragusa, G., White, D., 2019. Identification of novel mobilized colistin resistance gene *mcr-9* in a multidrug-resistant, colistin-susceptible *Salmonella enterica*

serotype Typhimurium isolate. mBio 10:e00853-19. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00853-19

- EUCAST, 2021. European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST). Available at: http://www.eucast.org.
- Falagas, M.E., Kasiakou, S.K., 2006. Toxicity of polymyxins: A systematic review of the evidence from old and recent studies. Crit. Care 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/cc3995
- Food Safety Commission of Japan. 2017. Antimicrobial-resistant bacteria arising from the use of colistin sulfate in the livestock (antimicrobial-resistant bacteria). Food Saf. 5, 24– 28. https://doi.org/10.14252/foodsafetyfscj.2016033s

Froehlich, B., Parkhill, J., Sanders, M., Quail, M. A., Scott, J. R., 2005. The pCoo plasmid of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia* coli is a mosaic cointegrate. J. Bacteriol. 187, 6509–6516.

https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.187.18.6509-6516.2005

- Fukuda, A., Nakano, H., Suzuki, Y., Nakajima, C., Usui, M., 2022. Conjugative IncHI2/HI2A plasmids harbouring *mcr-9* in colistin-susceptible *Escherichia coli* isolated from diseased pigs in Japan. Access Microbiol. 4, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1099/acmi.0.000454
- Fukuda, A., Sato, T., Shinagawa, M., Takahashi, S., Asai, T., Yokota, S. ichi, Usui, M., Tamura, Y., 2018. High prevalence of *mcr-1*, *mcr-3* and *mcr-5* in *Escherichia coli* derived from diseased pigs in Japan. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 51, 163–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2017.11.010
- Gogry, F.A., Siddiqui, M.T., Sultan, I., Haq, Q.M.R., 2021. Current update on intrinsic and acquired colistin resistance mechanisms in Bacteria. Front. Med. 8, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2021.677720
- Green, M.R., Sambrook, J., 2016. Preparation of plasmid DNA by alkaline lysis with sodium dodecyl sulfate: Minipreps. Cold Spring Harb. Protoc. 2016, 911–916.

https://doi.org/10.1101/pdb.prot093344

- Hamel, M., Rolain, J.M., Baron, S.A., 2021. The history of colistin resistance mechanisms in bacteria: Progress and challenges. Microorganisms 9, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9020442
- Kieffer, N., Royer, G., Decousser, J-W., Bourrel, A-S., Palmieri, M., Ortiz De La Rosa, J-M., Jacquier, H., Denamur, E., Nordmann, P., Poirel, L., 2019. *mcr-9*, an inducible gene encoding an acquired phosphoethanolamine transferase in *Escherichia coli*, and its origin. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 63:e00965-19. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00965-19
- Li, Y., Dai, X., Zeng, J., Gao, Y., Zhang, Z., Zhang, L., 2020. Characterization of the global distribution and diversified plasmid reservoirs of the colistin resistance gene *mcr-9*. Sci. Rep. 10, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-65106-w
- Liao, W., Cui, Y., Quan, J., Zhao, D., Han, X., Shi, Q., Wang, Q., Jiang, Y., Du, X., Li, X., Yu, Y., 2022. High prevalence of colistin resistance and *mcr-9/10* genes in *Enterobacter* spp. in a tertiary hospital over a decade. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2022.106573
- Ling, Z., Yin, W., Shen, Z., Wang, Y., Shen, J., Walsh, T.R., 2020. Epidemiology of mobile colistin resistance genes *mcr-1* to *mcr-9*. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 75, 3087–3095. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkaa205
- Liu, B.T., Li, X., Zhang, Q., Shan, H., Zou, M., Song, F.J., 2019. Colistin-resistant *mcr*-positive *Enterobacteriaceae* in fresh vegetables, an increasing infectious threat in China. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 54, 89–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2019.04.013
- Liu, B.T., Song, F.J., 2019. Emergence of two *Escherichia coli* strains co-harboring *mcr-1* and *bla*_{NDM} in fresh vegetables from China. Infect. Drug Resist. 12, 2627–2635. https://doi.org/10.2147/IDR.S211746
- Liu, Y.Y., Wang, Y., Walsh, T.R., Yi, L.X., Zhang, R., Spencer, J., Doi, Y., Tian, G., Dong,

B., Huang, X., Yu, L.F., Gu, D., Ren, H., Chen, X., Lv, L., He, D., Zhou, H., Liang, Z., Liu, J.H., Shen, J., 2016. Emergence of plasmid-mediated colistin resistance mechanism MCR-1 in animals and human beings in China: A microbiological and molecular biological study. Lancet Infect. Dis. 16, 161–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00424-7

- Luo, J., Yao, X., Lv, L., Doi, Y., Huang, X., Huang, S., 2017. Emergence of *mcr-1* in *Raoultella ornithinolytica* and *Escherichia coli* isolates from retail vegetables in China. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 61:e01139-17. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.01139-17
- Ma, F., Shen, C., Zheng, X., Liu, Y., Chen, H., Zhong, L., Liang, Y., Liao, K., Xia, Y., Tian, G-B., Yang, Y., 2019. Identification of a novel plasmid carrying *mcr-4.3* in an *Acinetobacter baumannii* strain in China. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 63:e00133-19. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00133-19.
- Nishino, K., Shimojima, k., Suzuki, Y., Ida, M., Fukui, R., Kuroda, S., Hirai, A., Sadamasu,
 K., 2017. Detection of the *mcr-1* gene in colistin-resistant *Escherichia coli* from retail
 meat in Japan. Microbiol. Immunol. 61, 554-557. doi: 10.1111/1348-0421.12549
- Odoi, J.O., Takayanagi, S., Sugiyama, M., Usui, M., Tamura, Y., Asai, T., 2021. Prevalence of colistin-resistant bacteria among retail meats in Japan. Food Saf. 9, 48–56. https://doi.org/10.14252/foodsafetyfscj.d-21-00002
- Oh, S.S., Song, J., Kim, J., Shin, J., 2020. Increasing prevalence of multidrug-resistant *mcr-1*positive *Escherichia coli* isolates from fresh vegetables and healthy food animals in South Korea. Int. J. Infect. Dis. 92, 53–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2019.12.025
- Olaitan, A.O., Morand, S., Rolain, J.M., 2014. Mechanisms of polymyxin resistance: Acquired and intrinsic resistance in bacteria. Front. Microbiol. 5, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00643
- Rozwandowicz, M., Brouwer, M.S.M., Fischer, J., Wagenaar, J.A., Gonzalez-Zorn, B.,

Guerra, B., Mevius, D.J., Hordijk, J., 2018. Plasmids carrying antimicrobial resistance genes in *Enterobacteriaceae*. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 73, 1121–1137. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkx488

- Schrauwen, E.J.A., Huizinga, P., van Spreuwel, N., Verhulst, C., Kluytmans-van den Bergh, M.F.Q., Kluytmans, J.A.J.W., 2017. High prevalence of the *mcr-1* gene in retail chicken meat in the Netherlands in 2015. Antimicrob. Resist. Infect. Control 6, 4–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13756-017-0242-8
- Sun, J., Zhang, H., Liu, Y.H., Feng, Y., 2018. Towards understanding MCR-like colistin resistance. Trends Microbiol. 26, 794–808. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2018.02.006
- Tanaka, K., Yamamoto, M., Matsumoto, M., Saito, M., Funabashi, M., Yoshimatsu, S., 192. An outbreak of food poisoning suspected due to *Aeromonas* and characteristics of the isolated strains [in Japanese]. Nihon Koshu Eisei Zasshi. 39 (9): 707–713.
- Umeda, K., Nakamura, H., Fukuda, A., Matsumoto, Y., Motooka, D., Nakamura, S., Yasui,
 Y., Yoshida, H., Kawahara, R., 2021. Genomic characterization of clinical *Enterobacter roggenkampii* co-harbouring *bla*_{IMP-1} and *bla*_{GES-5}-encoding IncP6 and *mcr-9*-encoding
 IncHI2 plasmids isolated in Japan. J. Glob. Antimicrob. Resist. 24, 220–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jgar.2020.11.028
- Valiakos, G., Kapna, I., 2021. Colistin resistant *mcr* genes prevalence in livestock animals (Swine, bovine, poultry) from a multinational perspective. a systematic review. Vet. Sci. 8. https://doi.org/10.3390/vetsci8110265
- Wang, C., Feng, Y., Liu, L., Wei, L., Kang, M., Zong, Z., 2020. Identification of novel mobile colistin resistance gene *mcr-10*. Emerg. Microbes Infect. 9, 508–516. https://doi.org/10.1080/22221751.2020.1732231
- Wang, X., Wang, Yao, Zhou, Y., Li, J., Yin, W., Wang, S., Zhang, S., Shen, J., Shen, Z.,Wang, Yang, 2018. Emergence of a novel mobile colistin resistance gene, *mcr-8*, in

NDM-producing *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. Emerg. Microbes Infect. 7, 122. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41426-018-0124-z

- Xavier, B.B., Lammens, C., Ruhal, R., Malhotra-Kumar, Surbhi, Butaye, P., Goossens, H., Malhotra-Kumar, S., 2016. Identification of a novel plasmid-mediated colistin resistance gene, *mcr-2*, in *Escherichia coli*, Belgium, June 2016. Eurosurveillance 21, 6–11. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2016.21.27.30280
- Xedzro, C., Shimamoto, T., Yu, L., Zuo, H., Sugawara, Y., Sugai, M., Shimamoto, T., 2023. Emergence of colistin-resistant *Enterobacter cloacae* and *Raoultella ornithinolytica* carrying the phosphoethanolamine transferase gene, *mcr-9*, derived from vegetables in Japan. Microbiol. Spect. 1-17 https://doi.org/10.1128/spectrum.01063-23
- Xu, T., Xue, C.X., Chen, Y., Huang, J., Wu, W., Lu, Y., Huang, Q., Chen, D., Zhou, K., 2022.
 Frequent convergence of *mcr-9* and carbapenemase genes in *Enterobacter cloacae* complex driven by epidemic plasmids and host incompatibility. Emerg. Microbes Infect. 11, 1959–1972. https://doi.org/10.1080/22221751.2022.2103456
- Yin, W., Li, H., Shen, Y., Liu, Z., Wang, S., Shen, Z., Zhang, R., Walsh, TR., Shen, J., Wang,
 Y., Bush, K., 2017. Novel plasmid-mediated colistin resistance gene *mcr-3* in *Escherichia coli*. mBio 8:e00543-17. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00543-17
- Yang, Y.Q., Li, Y.X., Lei, C.W., Zhang, A.Y., Wang, H.N., 2018. Novel plasmid-mediated colistin resistance gene *mcr-7.1* in *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 73, 1791–1795. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dky111

Chapter 6

1. General summary, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is a major public health challenge in many countries including Japan. Estimates suggest that approximately 10 million lives and USD 100 trillion will be lost by 2050 because of AMR if existing control measures to prevent the spread of AMR are compromised. Literature claims suggest that, if left unattended, AMR will continue to increase beyond imagination and could facilitate the evolution of new resistance mechanisms in bacterial pathogens which may be much more fatal in the future than the existing superbugs.

Although several efforts to implement AMR surveillance programs along the food supply chain have experienced overall increase over decades, resistance rates vary between geographical regions and among different species. Also concerning, are human activities and urbanization, as well as acquisition of genetic elements by the so-called superbugs which are key players in the increasing rates of AMR around the globe. In this study, the genetic attributes associated with antimicrobial resistance in foodborne bacteria was investigated.

Chapter 2 compared antimicrobial resistance among several *Escherichia coli* isolates obtained from meat samples in 2009 and 2021. The occurrence of antimicrobial resistance determinants especially cephalosporinases (AmpC) or extended-spectrum β -lactamases (ESBL) was significantly higher (*p*-value = 0.037) among *E. coli* isolates obtained in 2009 than in 2021. The results of this study showed a 22% decrease in meat contamination by AmpC/ESBL-carriers over the two years of study. Interestingly, susceptibility testing revealed a decreased rate of resistance to critical antimicrobials including cefotaxime, ceftazidime, and cefepime between 2009 and 2021. Additionally, it was observed that more than 75% of the *E. coli* isolates obtained from the two years of study exhibited multidrug resistance (MDR) phenotypes, although the differences were not statistically significant for comparisons. The *E. coli* isolates were also assigned to various phylogroups in order to determine their pathogenic potential. The determination of *E. coli* phylogenetic groups revealed that the majority are commensal strains belong to A, B1, and F phylogroups. Phylogroup A strains occurred more frequently in 2009, whereas the B1 phylogroup was prevalent in 2021. Some strains from both isolation years were also found to belong to pathogenic B2 phylogroup.

In chapter 3, the overall rate of antimicrobial resistance occurring among Gramnegative bacteria isolated from meat products was evaluated. Different Gram-negative bacteria were isolated and grouped into Enterobacterales and non-Enterobacterales. Members within the Enterobacterales group were more prevalent than the non-Enterobacterales isolated in both 2009 and 2021. Overall, the most common clinical resistance was observed against ampicillin, cefotaxime, cefoxitin, aztreonam, kanamycin, tetracycline, sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim, chloramphenicol, and fosfomycin. Seventeen E. coli isolates characterized in chapter 2 were also included in this study. Specifically, these E. coli isolates were evaluated for the presence of a single plasmid that might carry extended-spectrum βlactamases identified within these strains. Different plasmid incompatibility groups were found within these isolates. The commonly detected plasmid replicon types were the IncFIB, IncI1, and IncFrepB, suggesting that these plasmids might be the potential carriers of antimicrobial resistance genes, including extended-spectrum β-lactamases. The molecular identification of AmpC β-lactamases were also studied. These β-lactam resistance genes were dominantly found in Gram-negative bacteria recovered in 2009 than in 2021. They conferred clinical resistances mostly to penicillin and cephalosporin. In summary, this study showed that different resistant Gram-negative bacteria exist in meat products and calls for the routine

implementation of surveillance programs to track the spread of AMR in meat products.

In chapter 4, I performed epidemiological study to investigate the occurrence of antimicrobial resistance in supermarket retail seafood samples. Different seafood-borne bacteria carrying antimicrobial resistance determinants were recovered mostly from the fish, squid, and shrimp samples investigated. The isolates were found to show high ampicillin resistance, and some also conferred clinical resistances to cephalosporins, which are currently among the recommended treatment of choice against many severe infections. It was alarming to observed high colistin resistance, considering that colistin is a last-resort antimicrobial against MDR infections. This study also evaluated the possibility of plasmid transfer that might play a role in the dissemination of antimicrobial resistance especially within aquatic environments. Most of the selected MDR strains were found to transfer their resistance plasmid to a plasmid free E. coli J53 strain. Even though seven out of the 11 selected MDR strains have conjugable plasmids, they were negative (untypable) for all the target replicons, as investigated using PCR-based replicon typing (PBRT). It is possible that the untypable plasmids were divergent or novel, and PBRT could not detect them because it targets classic incompatibility groups. In summary, this study demonstrated that seafoods are potential carriers of antimicrobial-resistant bacteria which can be transferred to humans through the consumption of contaminated products. Continuous monitoring is required to assess the prevalence and distribution of AMR in the seafood supply chain.

Chapter 5 discussed the genetic and phenotypic characteristics of foodborne bacteria carrying mobile colistin resistance (*mcr*) genes. Colistin is a last-resort antimicrobial agent recommended for the treatment of MDR infections including carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales. Thus, the identification of even a single strain carrying such resistance genotype from food is of grave concern and signifies potential health risk to consumers. In this study, eight *mcr*-carrying isolates retrieved from meat and seafood products in the above

chapters were characterized. Six isolates were highly resistant to colistin and showed additional resistance to other antimicrobial agents. It was observed that only the meat-derived isolates conferred clinical resistance to colistin. The other two *mcr*-carrying isolates recovered from seafood were susceptible to colistin although they did confer resistance to other antimicrobial agents. Whole genome sequencing (WGS) of six isolates revealed that some *mcr*-genes are encoded on the plasmid, which can be transferred to other bacterial species via horizontal gene transfer. Furthermore, WGS showed that some isolates harbored other antimicrobial resistance genes encoded on the plasmid or the chromosome. In summary, this study provided some genetic insights into *mcr*-carry isolates and highlights the importance of colistin resistance surveillance along the meat and seafood production chain.

Finally, to prevent the persistence of antimicrobial resistance, possible strategies such as limiting the use of antibiotics in farming practices can help reduce the selective pressure on resistant microorganisms. Additionally, proper sanitation processes in food production can prevent the risk of cross-contamination and the spread of AMR along the food supply chain. Continuous surveillance programs would be necessary to provide updated information on the status of antimicrobial resistance and evaluate the extent of dissemination at the local, regional, and national level.

APPENDICES

Primer	Primer sequence (5'-3')	Target	Size	Reference	
515F	GTGCCAGCMGCCGCGGTAA	16S rRNA	1001	(Soliman	et
1492R	CGGYTACCTTGTTACGACTT			al., 2023)	
β-lactamases					
OXA-1-F	ATGAAAAACAATACATATCAACTTC	1.1	0.01	(Soliman e	t
OXA-1-R	TTATAAATTTAGTGTGTTTAGAATGGTG	bla _{OXA-1}	831	al., 2023)	
SHV-FW	GTGTATTATCTCCCTGTTAGCC	bla _{SHV}	722	(Soliman	et
SHV-RV	GGCCAAGCAGGGCGACAAT			al., 2023)	
TEM-FW	TGAGAGTTTTCGCCCCGAA	bla _{TEM}	602	(Soliman	et
TEM-RV	ACGGGAGGGCTTACCATCTG			al., 2023)	
CTXM-FW	TGCAGYACCAGTAARGTKATGGC	bla _{CTX-M}	509	(Soliman	et
CTXM-RV	CCGCTGCCGGTYTTATC			al., 2023)	
OXA2-FW	ATAGTTGTGGCAGACGAACG	bla _{OXA-2}	452	(Soliman	et
OXA2-RV	TTGACCAAGCGCTGATGTTC			al., 2023)	
OXA5-FW	GTATTTCAACAAATYGCCAGAGA	bla _{OXA-5}	312	(Soliman	et
OXA5-RV	CCACCAWGCGACACCAGGA			al., 2023)	
OXA9-FW	CAGTTCCGTGGCTTCTGATG	bla _{OXA-9}	211	(Soliman	et
OXA9-RV	GTTGTATTCCGGCTTCAATTCC			al., 2023)	
Aminoglycoside ace	etyltransferase				
AAC6-FW	TTGCGATGCTCTATGAGTGGCTA	aac(6')-Ib	274	(Soliman	et
AAC6-RV	AGTTGTGATGCATTCGCCAG			al., 2023)	
AmpC β-lactamases					
DHA-SPF	ACCGCTGATGGCACAGCAG	bla _{DHA}	648	(Soliman	et
DHA-SPR	CAGCGCAGCATATCTTTTGAG			al., 2023)	
CMY/LAT-SPF	AAAACAGAACAACARATTGCCGATA	<i>bla</i> _{CMY}	529	(Soliman	et
CMY/LAT-SPR	GGACGCGTCTGGTCATTGCC			al., 2023)	
ACT/MIR-SPF	CTGGGYTCTATAAGTAAAACCTTCACCG	bla _{ACT}	428	(Soliman	et
ACT/MIR-SPR	CGGTATCCCCAGGCGTAATG			al., 2023)	

Table S1 Oligonucleotides used in this study

Table S1 continued

MOX-SPF	GCCCCGTGGTGGATGCCAG	<i>bla</i> _{MOX}	392	(Soliman et
MOX-SPR	GYCCACTGGCGGTAGTAGGC			al., 2023)
FOX-SPF	TGGTCACCGGTTTATCCGGC	bla _{FOX}	323	(Soliman et
FOX-SPR	GCATCTCCCTGATACCCCATGTT			al., 2023)
PDC-SPF	GACCTGCTGCGCTTCGTC	bla _{PDC}	263	(Soliman et
PDC-SPR	GGTCTTGTTCAGCAGGCGCT			al., 2023)
ADC-SPF	CTTTTTATTTTAGTACCTCAATTTATG	bla _{ADC}	202	(Soliman et
ADC-SPR	TGCTATTTACGGCTTTTTTATCTTGAAC			al., 2023)
ACC-SPF	GATGAGAGCAAAATTAAAGACACCG	bla _{ACC}	141	(Soliman et
ACC-SPR	AGGCTGTTTTGCCGCTAACC			al., 2023)
Integrons				
IntI1-FW	AGCTTGGCACCCAGCCTG	intIl	192	(Soliman et
IntI1-RV	GACACCGCTCCGTGGATC			al., 2023)
IntI2-FW	AAGGTTATGCGCTGAAAACTGAA	intI2	159	(Soliman et
IntI2-RW	TCTGCGTGTTTATGGCTACATG			al., 2023)
IntI3-FW	CACCGAGAAGCAAGTGG	intI3	133	(Soliman et
IntI3-RV	AATCCGCTTGCGTTCTG			al., 2023)
5' CS	GGCATCCAAGCAGCAAG	Class 1	-	Ahmed et al.,
3' CS	AAGCAGACTTGACCTGA	integron		2007
hep74	CGGGATCCCGGACGGCATGCACGATTTGTA	Class 2	-	Ahmed et al.,
hep51	GATGCCATCGCAAGTACGAG	integron		2007
Carbapenemase- encoding genes				
KPC-Fw	CGTCTAGTTCTGCTGTCTTG	<i>bla</i> _{KPC}	798	Poirel et al.,
KPC-Rv	CTTGTCATCCTTGTTAGGCG			2011
NDM-Fw	GGTTTGGCGATCTGGTTTTC	<i>bla</i> _{NDM}	621	Poirel et al.,
NDM-Rv	CGGAATGGCTCATCACGATC			2011
OXA48-Fw	GCGTGGTTAAGGATGAACAC	bla _{OXA-48}	438	Poirel et al.,
OXA48-Rv	CATCAAGTTCAACCCAACCG			2011
VIM-Fw	GATGGTGTTTGGTCGCATA	bla _{VIM}	390	Poirel et al.,
VIM-Rv	CGAATGCGCAGCACCAG			2011

IMP-Fw	GGAATAGAGTGGCTTAAYTCTC	$bla_{\rm IMP}$	232	Poirel et al.	,
IMP-Rv	GGTTTAAYAAAACAACCACC			2011	
Plasmid-mediated col	istin resistance				
Multi mcr-1-/2-Fw	TATCGCTATGTGCTAAAGCCTG	mcr-1	1139	Jousset et al.	,
Multi mcr-1-Rv	CGTCTGCAGCCACTGG			2019	
Multi mcr-1-/2-Fw	TATCGCTATGTGCTAAAGCCTG	mcr-2	816	Jousset et al.	,
Multi mcr-2-Rv	AAAATACTGCGTGGCAGGTAGC			2019	
Multi mcr-3-Fw	CAATCGTTAGTTACACAATGATGAAG	mcr-3	676	Jousset et al.	,
Multi mcr-3-Rv	AACACATCTAGCAGGCCCTC			2019	
Multi mcr-4-Fw	ATCCTGCTGAAGCATTGATG	mcr-4	405	Jousset et al.	,
Multi mcr-4-Rv	GCGCGCAGTTTCACC			2019	
Multi mcr-5-Fw	GGTTGAGCGGCTATGAAC	mcr-5	207	Jousset et al.	,
Multi mcr-5-RV	GAATGTTGACGTCACTACGG			2019	
MCR-6-mp Fw	AGCTATGTCAATCCCGTGAT	mcr-6	252	Borowiak et	t
MCR-6-mp Rv	ATTGGCTAGGTTGTCAATC			al., 2020	
MCR-7-Fw	GCCCTTCTTTTCGTTGTT	mcr-7	551	Borowiak et	t
MCR-7-Rv	GGTTGGTCTCTTTCTCGT			al., 2020	
MCR-8Fw	TCAACAATTCTACAAAGCGTG	mcr-8	856	Borowiak et	t
MCR-8RV	AATGCTGCGCGAATGAAG			al., 2020	
MCR-9F	TTCCCTTTGTTCTGGTTG	mcr-9	1011	Borowiak et	t
MCR-9R	GCAGGTAATAAGTCGGTC			al., 2020	
MCR-10F	TGTTTGATCAGTCCATGATC	mcr-10	439	-	
MCR-10R	CGTGCCGTTTCGCCAATTA				
Phylogenetic group					
chuA.1b	ATGGTACCGGACGAACCAAC	chuA	288	Clermont et	t
chuA.2	TGCCGCCAGTACCAAAGACA			al., 2013	
yjaA.1b	CAAACGTGAAGTGTCAGGAG	yjaA	211	Clermont et	t
yjaA.2b	AATGCGTTCCTCAACCTGTG			al., 2013	
TspE4C2.1b	CACTATTCGTAAGGTCATCC	TspE4.C2	152	Clermont et	t
TspE4C2.2b	AGTTTATCGCTGCGGGTCGC			al., 2013	

Table S1 continued

Table S1 continued

AceK.f	AACGCTATTCGCCAGCTTGC	arpA	400	Clermont	et
ArpA1.r	TCTCCCCATACCGTACGCTA			al., 2013	
ArpAgpE.f	GATTCCATCTTGTCAAAATATGCC	arpA	301	Clermont	et
ArpAgpE.r	GAAAAGAAAAAGAATTCCCAAGAG	(Group C)		al., 2013	
trpAgpC.1	AGTTTTATGCCCAGTGCGAG	trpA	219	Clermont	et
trpAgpC.2	TCTGCGCCGGTCACGCCC	(Group E)		al., 2013	